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Preface

This cultural history of Narberth was written by Victoria Donohoe, a lifelong resident of
Narberth. It was written over a forty-year period from about 1980 until her death in 2018. Victoria did
not complete the book but left it in manuscript form in her house. Neighbor and friend Nancy Greene,
who had helped type chapters for Victoria in the last years of her life, was able to secure Victoria's
writings (and supporting documentation) when Victoria was moved into a retirement home. Victoria
died before the book could be completed but Nancy has typed and organized the material as closely as
possible to the way she believes Victoria would have wanted it.

This is a first unabridged version of Victoria’s history. It is comprised of an introduction and ten
chapters in roughly chronological order from earliest precolonial times to Narberth’s establishment as a
borough in 1995. Before going to press, this history will be circulated among friends in Narberth for
comment. It is hoped some may be able to fill in missing material, supply names and, where needed,
make corrections.

Following the last chapter are a biography of Victoria, a description of the work that went into

putting this book together and acknowledgements.



Cultural History of Narberth — Unabridged
A Cultural History of Narberth

By Victoria Donohoe?

Introduction

Narberth’s roots as an independent community go surprisingly deep. Not only today is it the only
independently governed town in Philadelphia’s Main Line suburbs, but independence seems to have
been associated with this locality from earliest times — when Swedish settlers were at last free to trade as
individuals with the Indians after the overthrow of their crown colony; also when the Merion Quakers
sought to establish a barony with their meetinghouse as both its religious and governmental center; again
when a Liberty pole was erected here during the quasi-war with France (1798) and the area became
known and imprinted on major maps as Libertyville.

Narberth is now a trendy address, though it has never been a fashionable address in a High
Society sense, in the way many other Main Line addresses such as Haverford and Bryn Mawr have been
for over a century. Narberth still looks like an old-fashioned home town. And thankfully, it never has
been gussied up to appear otherwise. Trendiness has lent an aura of glamour to a locality that is cozy
rather than spacious. A streak of independence has defined the place from earliest times.

The wonder is that Narberth’s separate existence appears to be the end result of repeated
attempts since the late seventeenth century by Merion Welsh Quakers to assert their independence and
defensively prevent not only their own community’s absorption by the city of Philadelphia, but also later
to prevent the imminent takeover of their meetinghouse neighborhood by commercial interests.

Thus Narberth, that tiny enclave begun as a Quaker suburb near the city’s edge in 1881, is today
the only self-governed town along a twenty-five mile stretch of Philadelphia’s rail-linked Main Line
suburbs that straddle three counties. Narberth is studied here as a useful model of long-established

suburban community development because of its survivability as a thriving independent town close to a
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major American city at a time when other old inner-rim suburbs are dying.

Almost hidden around a bend two miles from the western edge of the city — Narberth was never
engulfed by Philadelphia’s vast city/country consolidation of 1854 because of far-seeing action taken in
1784. This late-Victorian town was built at an ancient crossroads to shield the grounds of a very old
Quaker meetinghouse from disorderly intrusion - a very real problem during America’s first great
international world’s fair. Parts of the town pre-date the nineteenth century, with remnants of a pair of
old villages located on Narberth’s “front road” [Montgomery Avenue] providing clues of how
Narberth’s stand-alone character quietly evolved. One of these, which gave the area its first name,
Libertyville, is the remains of a tiny primitive trade-route hamlet believed to be Swedish, that was a
spearhead of settlement before Philadelphia existed, and vestiges of the other one still feature an ancient
inn at the meetinghouse entrance.

That “front road” soon became a key transportation hub of the region with a stage coach stop at
the inn. By 1832, a regional rail line from Philadelphia began passing through this locale along that
same main artery to upstate Lancaster, one of America’s earliest inland cities. Within a generation, what
turned out to be transcontinental train service was established along its present route (through Narberth’s
midsection), giving a string of small station-stops in hamlets and villages in Philadelphia’s western
suburbs its catchy name of “the Main Line,” a now-famous moniker which has endured and been
understood to connote a comfortable and prosperous lifestyle.

The community we call Narberth evolved because a conservative Quaker farmer [Edward
R. Price] founded a town on his ancestral farm and made plain that the acreage be extended further
after his death. The locality became essentially suburban in character in 1881 when that farmer’s
plot-plan for the nucleus of a town was published. Soon a few rather lavish houses were built with the
farmer’s help, eventually medium-size ones, and the effort later broadened in scope as anticipated, with
Narberth’s becoming a self-governed town in 1895.

One rock-solid reason for Narberth’s survival is its extremely close proximity to the city, with
only slim buffer of township land separating it from the city’s edge. Consequently, with the heart of the
city’s downtown district just a little farther away, Narberth borough always was and still is strongly
identified with residents who commute there by train to white-collar jobs - so much so that Narberth
seems to be rediscovered anew as a destination by each successive generation of house-hunting
newcomers. This is most notably the case now for young professional couples who both work and have

small children. And when new residents realize this community is governed independently, many view



that as a double bonus.

Still, why has this self-governed town not been swallowed up since it went independent? The
obvious answer is that Narberth is of manageable size, and people like governing themselves. Also it is a
fact that independent boroughs tend to stay that way. And, as Narberthians seldom have given serious
thought to surrendering their borough incorporation, consolidation with the surrounding township now
seems remote from the minds of both the local elected officials and the townspeople. Narberth is the
hole in the donut, and likely to remain so. All the while helping to maintain Narberth’s separation is its
tucked-away location, making the town hard to find except by rail.

Most obviously, this “donut hole” [aspect of Narberth relates to its] physical position relative to
the much larger township. But it also applies equally to Narberth’s existence as a populist town
surrounded by a township long regarded as affluent, sophisticated and upscale. In any event, being that
hole in the donut sets Narberth apart. A healthy rivalry with neighboring civic associations and other
voluntary groups gave Narberth an early competitive edge with such organizations and towns even
before this community earned its populist stripes. Certainly the fact that Lower Merion Township still is
an upscale place has helped Narberth survive, avoid decline, and become the very trendy place to live
that it now is.

Of course Narberth’s “mass-audience tilt” was foreshadowed when farmer Price tried to establish
a Victorian era “Godey’s Lady’s Book village” here, a concept then known popularly nationwide. Later
leanings of that sort were a re-casting of this tendency in forms more appropriate to a new age and new
needs. And although the potential for [a down-to-earth], everyman’s town had existed here from the
outset, it being adjacent to that most egalitarian of institutions, a Quaker meetinghouse (not to mention a
harness race track), Narberth’s populist leanings did not become clear-cut until the near-takeover of the
town just after the turn of the nineteenth century by an aggressive land developer who blanketed the
borough with tracts of tiny houses. [While this caused] a sharp rise in population, [it also created] a
rallying point for the town fathers whose [response] was to launch - under organized volunteer
sponsorship [and], as an apparent diversionary tactic, a “Garden City” improvement project that featured
a quite advanced type of open-space conservation and architect-designed houses before World War 1.

No question but that an active civic life flourished here throughout the town'’s first half-century,
reflecting quite a few concerns of the Progressive Era. People who dominated Narberth's civic life
during that period were expeditors who made things happen. Their passion for community building as a
great and difficult enterprise had extraordinary vitality, so that it is sometimes regarded with awe, in



retrospect.

True, the most memorable civic leaders over time in this community have tended to be fairly
prosperous people frequently with business or professional ties in the city, although some have been
heads of their own local firms. But people of more modest means, even ones barely making ends meet
yet active in volunteer organizations, work-related unions or otherwise well motivated, have often
provided the glue that keeps civic life together. Inquiry into the first half-century of independent rule
reveals a period of civic ferment and audacious intervention, one which now appears far removed from
our present more sober and at times maddeningly cautious attitudes toward both innovative exploration
and long-range planning for the town's future.

Likewise, a strong sense of the past has served to anchor the town, but it took a high- profile
community-wide Narberth historical pageant (1914) to make all the citizens aware of this initially. The
all-volunteer Lower Merion Historical Society was founded in 1949 and still has a high percentage of
volunteers with Narberth roots, including some of its officers. The Lower Merion Conservancy,
involved with protecting both the natural landscape and historic architecture, came along later, as did the
Narberth Historical Society. Houses of worship, numerous here, have also been an unusually strong and
stabilizing influence from the very beginning up to today. And an active civic life has been a benchmark
as well in a town so often said to harbor an uncommonly large number of community groups - including
a huge network of sports activity for children and young people centered at the oft-described “busiest
playground on the Main Line.”

That populist tilt carries over to a number of prominent persons who have lived in Narberth
including Albert Hay Malotte who set the Lord’s prayer to music, the Shakespearian acting team of
Sothern and Marlowe who had a habit of staying here during their appearances on the Philadelphia
stage, and Ashley Montague the quotable anthropologist who expounded both on the air and in print the
“natural superiority of the female of the species.”

But it was two other nationally-known figures in particular who were drawn to the town above
all by its solid populist reputation - the great art collector Dr. Albert C. Barnes of Merion and the
National Football league commissioner Bert Bell who reportedly, while in office, was the best-known
man in America. Both men were attracted (as was Bell’s actress wife) by what they perceived as the
zesty hell-on-wheels assault on pomposity that they each saw as the town’s hallmark of authenticity.

Narberth is an unbuttoned society. It has its pockets of scrappy wage-earners. But what it has had

even more of is the feeling of human bonds in a guileless community made up, since the late-1880s



before it became a borough, of a saucy mix of people from old established upstate towns and rural areas
along with an occasional aristocrat and people who had been settled home-owners in Philadelphia’s
various districts, each locality with its distinctive fabric of neighborhood life that has earned
Philadelphia its nickname “a city of neighborhoods.” So, by the turn of the twentieth century, Narberth -
with its own cast of characters: a surprisingly comfortable fit of artisans and ex-farmers, storekeepers,
people in service jobs and in business and management as well as teachers and professionals - became
an especially vivid approximation of the typical American small town.

Another strong thread woven into the fabric of the town and one that has regularly manifested
itself without letup for more than a century is Narberth’s dedication to patriotic observances of various
kinds, something doubtless instilled early. Washington’s Army camped here during the Revolution on
one of the Price family farms, its location partly in the present Narberth borough. And remnants of the
two primitive villages here also have prompted other patriotic remembrances of our past having to do
with liberty, notably our vast historical pageant early in the twentieth century when such observances
were plentiful during the Progressive Era nationally.

And speaking of “patriotism,” to view the period after World War II in all its complexity
requires mentioning the fact that Narberth was not just one of five local places Ku Klux Klan
processions and cross-burnings occurred on Fourth of July eve, 1924. But it is also the place where
people who were to clash with and strive to counteract that KKK movement at its height, learned their
first lessons and took their first steps. The “high” purpose of their “Narberth Movement” that became a
nationwide effort to educate a broad public about hate tactics of the Klan existed here side-by-side with
the low purposes of the Klan, even if separately and without much awareness of neighbors’ involvement
in either group. In the end the people launching that protest triumphed while the numerous Klan
members here in the town, like those across America, soon saw their crusade dwindle.

Hearing about those cross-burnings, one of which in a nearby town that same night resulted in
the shooting of two policemen, one fatally, it may seem contradictory to suggest that a benchmark of
Narberth's comfortable hometown feel is the undeniable friendliness here. Perhaps the main reason the
town acquired that enviable trait - and did so quite early - is the remarkable number of family networks
of grown and already married siblings who settled here between 1890 and 1925 - mostly middle-class
people and some working-class folks as well. A few of these “clans” are still represented in the town.

Still another reason for the cohesive small-town feel of Narberth was that, for some sixty years

starting in the second decade of the twentieth century, Narberth was regarded for miles around as a



“railroad town” due to the heavy concentration of rail employees of all kinds living here, especially
white-collar Pennsylvania Railroad workers who used their free passes to commute by train to their jobs
in Philadelphia. At the time, our station stop serviced about two thousand passengers each weekday.

As for who Narberth’s leaders were over time, the town-builders at the outset were a team
assembled under farmer Price’s directives. Their accomplishment attracted other leaders who had
something of the explorers’ spirit, and who learned a lot from Price’s town plan before realizing that it
was not a path but a door. Their first really creative project, once through that door was the “Garden
City” initiative immediately followed by another conspicuously positive effort, the major community
playground replacing an indoor recreational facility that had outlived its usefulness. Taking over the
reins of leadership in the mid-1920s to post World War Il was the next generation, its impact crucial in
keeping alive the Progressive Era incentives that had already done so much for the town.

After World War 11, changes in Philadelphia began to have very noticeable effects on this settled,
inner-ring suburb two miles from the edge of the city. In the immediate postwar period, Narberth and
Lower Merion Township surrounding it became a destination for West Philadelphia residents engaged in
so-called “white flight,” although other municipalities in neighboring Delaware County bore the brunt of
these massive relocations. At the same time the new suburban shopping malls, increasing use of
automobiles, and arrival of television entertainment (it put an end to attendance at the town team's semi-
pro baseball games) began drawing people away from the resources of a town intensely proud that all its
neighborhoods are reachable from the village center on foot. New civic initiatives, save for demolition
projects and rebuilding (for apartments, offices), mostly entered a postwar quiet time. Only patriotic
activity on certain holidays and organized sports for youths and children seemed immune from
fluctuations in the public's attention during the decades immediately after World War II.

A generation passed before changing demographics caused by that influx of West Philadelphians
was reflected in persons elected to town council. When such changes were acknowledged, friction was
minimized as the candidates belonged to the same political party in charge since the borough was
founded. Only during the century's final quarter when fresh demographic changes heralded a new
generation of families choosing Narberth as the place they want to raise their young children did voter
registration rolls of the two major political parties start to equalize for the first time ever. This caused
mild panic for the party in power and heated things up all around. No longer content to be run by one
party, Narberth had entered the last stage of one-party rule. How long until a competitive two-party
system would evolve leading our self-governed town to become a true democracy? It could take another
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five or ten years in order to have a two-party system, with back-and-forth control.

Meanwhile, Narberth Civic Association and almost every other community group also played a
much more active role during this final quarter of the 20th century than in the post-World War 11 period.
One very positive recent occurrence was that, by the late-1990s, both the Lower Merion Historical
Society, and Lower Merion Conservancy? assumed strong advocacy roles to help protect endangered
historic buildings in Narberth Borough and the surrounding township. They also took their first steps in
leading our community toward the pursuit of public education about our local history, natural habitat
and our built environment and urged the celebration of these cultural resources along with their
protection as we moved into the twenty-first century. Narberth Historical Society, begun in 1995, took
its own modest steps, meanwhile, toward realizing the same goals.

And the town's close link with sports activity has continued. Narberth's benchmark today in that
regard nationally is its long-established tradition of half-court-only basketball, our friendly playground
surroundings attracting a startling diversity of players of all ages and backgrounds for the hard-edge
outdoor game of pickup basketball, played here without letup - or referees - day and night every day.

For a long time, Narberth seemed a terribly underrated place - a place real estate agents
promoted to customers looking for “starter homes” they could expect to (and often did) move out of
later, presumably to new tract-house developments in fast-growing exurban locations. That this
perception lately has changed was reflected by the late-1980s in the sharply rising Narberth real estate
values and also by changes in the incoming population - a number of arrivals in the smaller houses being
professionals such as lawyers or physicians who teach in the city’s medical schools or do medical
research. And a strikingly large number of architects which is a vote of confidence for the existing
solidly-built housing stock in this town. Making a difference now among people moving here to settle
down is their realization that Narberth is a place with genuine community spirit - a true neighborhood in
the old-fashioned sense. The town still has its core assets for it is a stable community with access to
good schools and excellent transportation links. Consequently home sales often are to existing residents
for once people arrive here, they tend to stay and move from house to house. There is nothing new about
this, except that younger people are doing it. And when some residents do move away, they often move
back.

2 Editor’s note: The Lower Merion Conservancy was formed in September 1995, when the Lower Merion-Narberth
Watershed Association (founded in 1974) merged into the Lower Merion Preservation Trust (formed in 1991), and
organizations joined forces as the new Lower Merion Conservancy. Information from Lower Merion Conservancy website.
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True, a section of Narberth's upper perimeter, with its popular ethnic eateries, block of “Brick
Row” houses, and a commercial strip growing along Montgomery Avenue, hides from casual observers
the town's quiet residential areas: the upscale “gold coast” which has seen the inroads of various housing
subdivisions, the rows of tree-lined straight streets, tucked away Narbrook Park with its grassy common
and stream, and the solidly residential southside which so far has had no commercial development at all.
But people have found this community anyway and mostly they have found it to their liking.

Narberth is now a very popular address. Surprisingly, monthly rents for its apartments are higher
than in other nearby communities, and its houses sell fast - some districts even having an informal
waiting list. Why this trendiness? By the mid-1900s in America, and as a result of television's influence,
ours became an entertainment-centered society. And with this very strong shift away from serious
concerns, popular culture zoomed up in importance. That celebrity-centeredness could partly explain
why populist Narberth was “discovered” and proclaimed a trendy place during the past fifteen years.

Part of [my] interest in Narberth as a locale to be studied is that, although feisty and
unpretentious, Narberth may be one of the most culturally diverse places throughout the region from the
standpoint of the number of settlements here over a long period. Moreover, for the close observer,
Narberth has, even to this day, visible remnants of nearly all the ethnic tides that have swept across the
old Upper Great Trading Path of the Minquas.

Beyond telling the story of Narberth's past to those who are to live its future, a study like this
portraying some of the more basic characteristics of a middle-class/working-class, independent, flag-
waving town and its people located little more than a sixteen-minute commuter train ride from the heart
of a major American city, can serve as a point of departure for future work by persons further afield.
[This could be especially true for] those who seek to unravel the complexities of what has made certain
middle-class communities viable at the inner rim of America's cities and what keeps such places that
way, even in some cases a region's most densely populated and long-established towns that, like
Narberth, are as much as ever a sought-after destination for house-hunters, most especially but not
exclusively those with children. And this [could be true], at a time when our nation's embattled cities
inevitably must start to take their first steps toward regionalism, enabling them, like city-states, to
establish closer ties and a working relationship with entire networks of these surrounding small
boroughs and townships.

In this connection, | mention a former Narberth youth, Steven Conn, a graduate of Lower Merion
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High School, Yale and Penn and now an Ohio University history professor. One of his books? is about
what it was like for several years while living in West Philadelphia to have “a mixed neighborhood
experience” that was the nearest thing he’s ever known to a “peaceable kingdom.”

Likewise, [it is hoped that] this telling of the success story of Narberth's past [reaches many] who
will either live the future of the Philadelphia region or study it, [or other] places like it, throughout
America. For what this story shows, after all, is that the “hole in the donut” (independent Narberth
surrounded by Lower Merion Township) did not just happen by chance. Indeed, it came about through
the arduous far-seeing efforts of one man, Edward R. Price, because he was trying to develop his own
strategy for fighting invasive crime, indifference and what must have seemed to be chaos all around him.
Price's solution was to take steps to organize a town, a Quaker town, with its first few streets laid out on
an atlas map in 1881 marking the Bicentennial of the Merion Welsh colony's plan to come to America.
They had been careful organizers, so he would be too. Much of the story of how Price's town of
Narberth evolved, therefore, is about the organized effort that goes on here.

This study focuses particular attention on those individuals, groups and activities that have built
up civility and contributed to the civic sense which has distinguished Narberth throughout its most
vigorous periods. For these are the very qualities that are regarded as a missing ingredient from so much

of American life today, and which can be replenished by the telling of these tales....

3 Metropolitan Philadelphia: living with the Presence of the Past, by Steven Conn. University of Penn Press, 2008.
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Prehistory - Lenni Lenape

Peaceful, nomadic Lenape Indians of very ancient lineage, probably a band no bigger than 25 or
30 persons, are believed to have summered in Narberth for an extended period sometime between 1600
and the 1650s. Lenapes were a hunting and gathering people of very individualistic temperament who
lived in numerous small bands instead of large groups and also grew summertime crops. Only a faint
echo of their occupation of this land remains. But we know that when it came to farming, fresh water
supplies and prospects of hunting small game, area Indians and colonists (Swedes, Welsh) preferred the
same sites. So much so that these colonists often settled on land the local Indians had previously cleared
for themselves.

Quaker meeting houses of early vintage usually occupied such sites in the Philadelphia
metropolitan area, and William Penn also chose similar sites for his various tracts called “manors.”
Clearings where Indian villages formerly stood were in demand for these purposes because tree-cutting
was such an arduous task for new European settlers. Conveniently for Quakers, the Indians lived in their
villages for only 30 to 40 years before leaving them vacant. Thus far, short of an archaeological dig to
settle the matter (and there have been very few of those at probably Lenape sites in Southeastern
Pennsylvania), the fact that Merion Friends’ Meeting was built at such an early date (1695) is the
strongest evidence we have that the customary practice prevailed, and that an Indian village existed at
Narberth - either a prehistoric one before the year 1500, or one in the historic period within about 150
years after that date.

The Lenape got their nickname “River Indians” because they liked to settle on riverbanks
particularly at the mouth of streams. So, why Narberth, which is not on a river? Indians made their trails
on ridges. Narberth is located upon an ancient curving ridgeway. And trails in some cases may have
represented the boundaries marking off the range of a Lenape band. Trails offer a ready-made type of
boundary because ridges so often contain springs which are the source of creeks flowing off both sides
of the ridge in opposite directions. Indian lore is filled with references to Indian tracts that extended
from such a place “to the ends of”” (meaning to the feeder springs of) such-and-such a creek or “to the
ends of” such-and-such a waterfall. So a Lenape band living at the mouth of Cobbs Creek, for instance,
very likely might regard its territory as extending upland to a major source of that creek, namely a
couple of its major feeder springs along Narberth’s ridge.

Narberth’s Lenapes might have been a Cobbs Creek band displaced when Governor Printz built
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his celebrated grist mill near the mouth of Cobbs Creek in 1643. Or, they might be from either of two
Schuylkill River bands — Nepopcon on the west bank on the present site of the Presidential Apartments*
where there was both a village and an Indian fishery at the major waterfall formerly there, and which
had direct access to Narberth via an ancient trail today called Ford Road. Another known Lenape
village, Nittabakonk, was located on the east bank at Miquon. And Lenape bands are known to have
liked their villages to be four or five miles apart in clusters, which is about right for all three of these
locations.

There is another reason the Lenape might have pulled back even earlier from the mouth of Cobbs
Creek to Narberth. Despite their particularly early lineage in Southeastern Pennsylvania and Southern
New Jersey, these Algonquin-speaking Lenape had to contend by c. 1600 with both the raids and
otherwise menacing presence of a warlike tribe of breakaway Iroquois Indians known as the
Susquehannock. A large centralized group based in Pennsylvania’s Lancaster County and the upper
reaches of the Susquehanna River, these exceptionally tall Indians with sonorous voices whom the
Lenape referred to as Minguas (meaning treacherous) and who also were called Conestoga by others,
had migrated from lower New York State. They were trying desperately to get a piece of the action in
fur trade. Blocked both by the League of the Iroquois on the north and by Chesapeake area Indians on
the south, the Susquehannock determined to come east and to drive the defenseless Lenape from their
native lands on the Delaware River’s west bank. By 1630, they largely succeeded.

The Lenape, whose territory included all of the state of Delaware and reached inland up to
Pennsylvania’s Lehigh River, if not beyond, and east and north into New Jersey as far as the Raritan
River, pulled back from the Delaware River’s western edge. Other factors may have been involved such
as a shortage of edible vegetation. It is believed the Lenape hunted and foraged inland during the winter,
or at the very least they thinned out in the local landscape in the cold months of the year when green
plants were in short supply. But in the summer, to protect themselves from the Susquehannock, they
began choosing their local village sites along streams further and further from riverbanks.

Since it took the Lenape 30 to 40 years to “use up” the resources of a new site and move on,
Narberth could have had particular appeal for them at this time. Set back from the water’s edge, but very
well connected by trails, Narberth would have provided a safe haven for quite some time for our tri-state

region’s fur trade started, to be sure, on the Delaware River - but far to the south of here, at Fortress

4 Editor’s note: 3900 City Avenue, Philadelphia, PA 19131
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Christina where the city of Wilmington, Delaware is today.

The Lenape are linked in other ways with the Narberth locality. They had standing orders to
supply venison to the first Welsh Quaker settlers here. Indian children received instructions sitting
alongside Quaker children on benches upstairs in the Merion meetinghouse. Also, a few Indian burials
took place in the meetinghouse graveyard, suggesting that those Indians had lived nearby, since the early
Merion Welsh Quakers, by custom, buried non-Quakers if they lived in the neighborhood. Very likely
those Indians were stragglers who lived on the fringes of colonial life after their tribal groups
permanently left the area in a westerly direction by 1740. The very large quantity of Indian arrowheads
found early in the 20th century around Narberth’s “Ancient Indian spring,” source of the East Branch of
Indian Creek,®> may date back before the “contact period with colonists to prehistoric times before 1500
A.D. But at least it testifies to the wealth of hunting activity along what was, after all, the Lenape’s
major hunting trail leading from the junction of the Schuylkill and Delaware Rivers servicing Indians in
the Philadelphia metropolitan area since ancient times.

Other local Indian signifiers are the names of the two streams that originate here, flowing
through Narberth. One, a feeder of West Philadelphia’s Mill Creek, was called Nanganesy by the
Lenape.® The other, the East Branch of Indian Creek, is identified as such on early maps, which suggests
that oral tradition had closely linked this stream with Native Americans for a once perfectly obvious, but
now unknown reason. Settlers may have been referring to the Lenape settlement, if it were recent
enough for any European to remember. But very likely they would associate the stream more strongly
with the Susquehannock Indians coming down the same trail, renamed the big Trading Path in 1643,

with beaver skins, and with their sometime stopovers in Narberth around 1654 and ’55 and later.

Indians, Swedes and Dutch- Highways, Byways and Traders

Trade routes were destiny in the earliest colonial times when Narberth, a Swedish/Native

American trading post site, is believed to have existed at a break point on a principal trading path to the

5 Editor’s note: As indicated later in this chapter, this ancient Indian spring, the source of the East Branch of Indian Creek
which surfaces in Narbrook Park, was located immediately behind an early nineteenth-century house at 1256 Montgomery
Avenue, Narberth. It was “capped” in 1980.

6 Editor’s added note: In the author’s notes it states w/re “naming of creeks” — All were given their names by Peter
Lindestrom Geographic Americae, 1654-56. — a military engineer and the earliest cartographer of the Delaware Valley. He
drew the first map of the Delaware Bay and River, 1654-55. He traveled up the west bank of the Delaware River to the Falls
at Trenton and down the east bank, charting many of the creeks along the way. He gave all of these creeks their Indian and/or
Swedish names and noted some of their features. From: Before Penn: Swedish Colonists in the Land of the Lenape. Phila:
American Swedish Historical Museum, 1988, p. 35.
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nearby unloading zone for European supply ships in the mid-seventeenth century. Decades later new
colonists came to settle Narberth’s land granted to them by Pennsylvania’s founding father William
Penn. These first-generation Welsh Quakers built their meeting house as the prominent centerpiece of
their community, known as Merion in the Welsh tract. It was to be both their religious and governmental
center when they attained complete autonomy as a self-governing township in a Welsh-speaking barony’
- a status eventually denied them. With such status, the Welsh tract would have become part of a 45,000
or 50,000-acre Welsh-speaking barony, to be settled with six other land companies by William Penn
himself.

Welsh memories are long, however. Nearly two centuries later and in an altered form, the idea
of independent rule was revived, updated and scaled way down in size when the autonomous Borough
of Narberth was created in 1895 on a portion of that same original Welsh settlement, on what was to
have become “barony” land in Penn’s colony.

Significantly the borough’s corporate boundary fronts on the meetinghouse grounds along that
property’s full length, as if in protection of it. Such protection indeed had been the intention of the
town’s Quaker founder from the outset. The Quakers had never wanted this zone around their
meetinghouse to be undifferentiated, as suburbs have tended to be for centuries. So, belatedly their
stubborn determination to preserve local autonomy was rewarded, if in scope modestly, as benefits
Quaker sensibilities.

This chapter takes a look at the period of earliest European settlement here, after which gradually
the Welsh farms became some of the largest and most prosperous in Philadelphia’s western suburbs, and
the area found the strength to nip in the bud what otherwise might have been, under some circumstances,
virtually certain eventual annexation by the city. Next it will examine a span from the Federalist era
through the booming fringe economy phase as it was lived here on the city’s edge, on up to the 1860
appearance of residential suburbs for commuters.

This community did not start life as an inner rim suburb of a major American city. But over time
it became one. Something about the distinctive geography of the site and that attracted functions to be

served here during the earliest colonial period when Europeans were having contact with Native

" The Welsh Barony idea, its governance to have been conducted in the Welsh language, was for any and all seekers a dead
issue by around the year 1700, no later. Wales of course has never lost its sense of independence. That little country had been
unjustly robbed of it by the killing of the Welsh Prince Llywelyn by English soldiers who sent his head on a pike to London
as a trophy in 1282; Wales thus became subject to the British Crown.
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Americans at this location made certain indelible impressions that have left their mark on the landscape.
The rivalry of Dutch and Swedish commercial interests in the region first put this locality on the map
when it led the Swedish governor to reroute his major trading path from the interior through Narberth
vicinity.

For the English explorer Henry Hudson's services on behalf of the Dutch had given them their
foothold on the eastern seaboard of North America. So, the Dutch Republic, surrounded by European
monarchies, staked its claim to the territory Hudson explored in his three-masted wooden ship that
navigated the Hudson, Delaware and Connecticut rivers more than a decade before the Pilgrims landed
in New England. While setting up their system of trade with the Indians for beaver skins, the New
Amsterdam Dutch built their first local fort, Fort Nassau, across from the junction of the Schuylkill and
Delaware rivers, on the Delaware River’s east bank at Gloucester, New Jersey.

Originally, the Dutch built Fort Nassau in 1624 while they were expecting to locate the capital®
of their New Netherlands colony on an island, most likely Tinicum, Pennsylvania on the Delaware
River, which they called the South River, mistakenly believing that locale had Florida climate and palm
trees. But by 1626, they were officially centered at Manhattan Island, on account of its fine harbor.

And, of course, the strategy of trading networks such as that of the Dutch West India Company
was to set up military trading posts like Fort Nassau at key locations and have traders bring beaver skins
to them for the Dutch were not trappers and depended on the Indians. Initially Fort Nassau traded with
the Lenni Lenape Indians until the Susquehannock very soon permanently squeezed those long-
established local Indians out of that arrangement.

Certainly the Susquehannocks had been swift at seizing new opportunities. By 1626, just as Fort
Nassau was up and running, a Susquehannock Indian delegation traveled to Manhattan to establish trade
relations® with the Dutch. That meant delivering their cargoes to Fort Nassau by way of the Schuylkill.
For this, the Susquehannocks used Conestoga Portage, an ancient beaver trade route linking the

Susquehanna and Delaware rivers. This passageway gained prominence in the 1620’s as the beaver trade

8 Shorto, Russell, The Island at the Center of the World, Random House, 2005, p. 44, (original hardcover by Doubleday).
Helping the Dutch reject Tinicum as their capital was the fact that, while Delaware Bay did freeze over, Manhattan’s harbor
seemed almost immune from that kind of seasonal setback.

%Isaack de Rasiere immediately reported this outreach by the Susquehannock Indians to the West India Company in 1626.
Narratives of Early Pennsylvania, West New Jersey and Delaware 1620-1707, Albert C. Myers, editor, 1912, p. 24-38;
reprinted 1953, Barnes & Noble, Inc. N.Y. Rasiere was secretary to the commander of the province, Peter Minuit, at the time.
10 Weslager, C.A. and A.R. Dunlap. Dutch Explorers, Traders and Settlers in the Delaware Valley, 1609-1644. University of
Pennsylvania Press, 1961, p. 58-59. It refers specifically to the Susquehannocks as coming down the Schuylkill with their
furs to Fort Nassau.
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flourished and foreign nations were competing to participate in it.

Meanwhile, many useful contemporary accounts that Jesuits provided about Eastern
Pennsylvania in the seventeenth century have been cited by archaeologists and historians, including
highlighting of St. Isaac Jogues, S.J. For example, this particular Jesuit account about Susquehannocks
in 1647 helps pinpoint where their main village was located in Lancaster County near the Susquehanna
River (if not closer), from which those Indians traveled through Lower Merion/Narberth with beaver
skins to the Swedish docking area near Tinicum.** Moreover, a secondhand account of a 1663 major
attack on this same inland Susquehannock town by the Seneca Indians is given likewise.*

It is interesting too to discover a Dutch traveler, Jaspar Dankers, looking closely at life along our
Delaware River some 40 years later or possibly even just 20 years after the Seneca attack mentioned
above, and remarking:

It is said there is not an Indian fort between Canada and Maryland where there is not a

Jesuit who teaches and advises the Indians, who begins to listen to them...%

This Dutchman hated the drafty clapboard houses the English built here, but loved the
tighter, well-made square wooden block-houses of the Swedes, with their low doors. Dankers
also saw Quaker villages mainly on the river’s east side, Indians and scattered Dutch and Swedes
on the west side, with a Swedish village at Chester. Occasionally Dankers criticized the shallow
attitudes of people he met on his 1679-80 East Coast journey. After attending an English Quaker
meeting service in Burlington, New Jersey on the Delaware River’s east bank, he targeted a
pretentious and worldly man who left a book of Virgil and a medical book on a windowsill to
impress people. He also seemed only mildly interested in other Burlington Quakers he met there.

Dankers himself belonged to a small Protestant sect, Labadict.

Already by the 1620s, the Dutch had been actively trading with the Susquehannocks in what’s
now the state of Delaware, supplied with pelts by overland routes from the Susquehannock region. And
while the Dutch gradually built additional forts on the Delaware River for themselves, they kept a low-

key presence nonetheless, even when angered by the eventual formation of a Swedish colony on the

1 Reuben G. Thwaites, ed., Jesuit Relations and Allied Documents & Travels and Explorations of the Jesuit Missionaries in
New France, 1610-1791, Pageant Book Company, New York, 1959 XXXIII, p.1291.

12 Jerome Lalemont in Jesuit Relations. ..for 1662-63 (Thwaites 1959 XL VIII, p. 77).

13 Jaspar Dankers, Journal of a Voyage to New York and a Tour of Several of the American Colonies in 1679-80, Long
Island Historical Society, Brooklyn, 1867, p. 221.
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Delaware River led by one of their own former officials** with plenty of frontier spirit, Peter Minuit.

Formerly Director-General of New Netherland for the Dutch West India Company, Minuit was
the son of a Belgian father and grew up in Germany’s Rhineland among people struggling after the
Thirty Year’s War. Realizing Sweden was eager to expand its empire, Minuit offered his services. Soon
he began investing in the project with some acquaintances. But when he realized those Dutchman were
mainly interested in profit, he finally went it alone.

And in fact, New Amsterdam took no immediate action against the arrival here of Minuit’s two-
vessel invasion fleet flying the blue and yellow Swedish flag on behalf of a nation they considered
friendly. But the Swedish buildup presented a military and diplomatic challenge, as the Dutch
considered the Delaware River a vital part of their North American holdings - and something to be kept
away from the English.®s

Swedish royal documents attest to the March 28, 1638 purchase of New Sweden’s land in the
new world by Peter Minuit®® from its traditional and rightful owners, “the wild inhabitants,” namely the
peaceful Algonquin-speaking Lenni-Lenape Indians and their temporary overlords, the Susquehannock
Indians sometimes called a breakaway tribe of the Iroquois.t” Tribal chiefs representing both groups
were invited aboard Minuit’s flagship “Kalmar Nychel” (“Key of Kalmar”) and the other vessel “Vogel
Grip” (“Bird Griffin”) and they made their marks upon a deed claiming land for Queen Christina, age
twelve. Those ships had docked on the Delaware River at Wilmington, Delaware, where Minuit soon
built Fort Christina.

Steeped in practical understanding of the many requirements of such a major undertaking as the
establishment of a New Sweden colony, Minuit was also able seize the moment to launch it. Considering

that he himself had been the current New Amsterdam governor’s immediate predecessor, Minuit wasn’t

14 The overlap of officials of various nationalities connected sometimes with one or more competing colonies is fully
discussed by Russell Shorto in The Island at the Center of the World, as are conflicting claims to ownership based on
commissioned explorations.

15 1bid. Shorto.

16 Peter Minuit is often said to have purchased Manhattan Island in 1626 from a group of local Indians (believed to be
northerly Lenni Lenape Indians) for sixty gilders worth of goods, sometimes mentioned misleadingly as $24. However, a
provincial governor, Willem van der Hulet, may have bought Manhattan before Minuit. However, Minuit definitely did buy
Staten Island.

17 Especially valuable and convincing in his book about Dutch Manhattan, Russell Shorto lambasts the Wild West era cartoon
images we have of American Indians — about their being “primitive” and moreover that they were “[nJoble and [d]efenseless”
The reality was quite different. In what became the Eastern United States, the many various Indian tribes were biologically,
genetically, and intellectually virtually identical to the seventeenth-century European settlers who came in contact with them.
And they dealt with one another “as equal participants, as allies, competitors and partners,” as plenty of Shorto’s evidence
shows - each side with different ideas of what it meant to purchase land.
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upset by the menacing arrival of a Dutch ship bearing a blistering letter criticizing his actions on the
South River. Minuit simply ignored the letter from New Amsterdam’s current governor, as it did not
threaten an armed attack. Certainly, Peter Minuit got that Swedish colony off to a strong start before his
life was cut short by a storm at sea. And he had a worthy successor in Governor Johan Printz.

Straightaway, Swedish settlers in sizable numbers had become the first European inhabitants of
the Delaware River’s west bank on the Philadelphia side of the river, as well as into much of its
immediate Pennsylvania suburbs to the south, north and west.*® Yet this was never a really large colony,
and its settlers preferred living at scattered locations rather than in close communities. Swedes were after
all seemingly “happy campers” at home compared with William Penn’s Quakers who were mostly
fleeing persecution in England. Swedes by contrast were being coaxed and cajoled to come to the
Delaware River. And to boost their numbers, some Swedes were sent here by government order,
including military personnel to clear their record of small crimes, or deserters. Also people from
neighboring Finland. And there’s a rare account of a group of Swedish soldiers traveling along the
Delaware River® and into Maryland and Virginia after being in the service of the Dutch West India
Company, then traveling to Sweden to drum up enthusiastic interest for would-be settlers in America.

One of Printz’s first official acts was to move New Sweden’s seat of colonial government further
upstream from its original site, Fort Christina,® at the present city of Wilmington, Delaware, to Tinicum
Island at Essington on the suburban Delaware County waterfront in Pennsylvania. The location is
immediately southwest of Philadelphia International Airport and just outside the current city limits.
“Printzhof” at Tinicum became this Commonwealth’s first State House, and the place where most of
New Sweden’s courts sat in session (1644-53) after Printz systematized the administration of justice.
This governor lost no time in establishing commercial and political relations with the Indians and with
the English in Virginia.

Governor Printz soon took control of the South River rendering some Dutch forts useless,
welcoming supply ships (twelve expeditions in all) and persuading the Susquehannocks to trade with

them instead of with the Dutch. The Swedish colony flourished seventeen years as the Swedish Crown’s

18 The Swedish domain fronted 160 miles along its major Delaware River waterway, starting at the Atlantic Ocean at
Delaware Bay’s Cape Henlopen, northward up Delaware River’s west side. The colony included all of the present State of
Delaware, slicing across and encompassing much of what is now Southeastern Pennsylvania as far north as Trenton, N.J. By
contrast, the Dutch bought no land on the Pennsylvania side of the Delaware River, keeping to the east side only.

19 Dankers. Ibid., p. 240-241, Swedish soldiers on the march.

20 For some years, this fort had been garrisoned by 25 men, on call to protect both the settlers and the Indians locally.
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first permanent settlement in the New World. This happened during Sweden’s one epic period as a great
power among European nations under Queen Christina.?

Inevitably the ablest of the Dutch governors of New Amsterdam, Peter Stuyvesant, would turn
his attention to this feverish activity to the south of him. And during that late phase of both the Swedish
and Dutch colonies (before the arrival of the English and Welsh), the stage was set for some “free-
world” activity at what came to be known in early twentieth-century accounts as the Narberth trading

post site.
Narberth Trading Post

Narberth acquired its so-called Swedish trading post as a spin-off of a lively chain of events set
in motion by the arrival of a new Swedish colonial governor, Johan Printz in 1643. Formidable in every
respect, the 400-pound Printz weighed in with a legal document specifying how the first permanent
settlers in what is now the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania were to be governed. The instruction
covered such points as the governor’s duties and the rights of the governed.

Sent were agents to New Amsterdam in New York to trade with the Dutch, New Amsterdam
having become the free-trade hub of the Atlantic in 1640.%

Upon Printz’s arrival here, the territory of the colony had assumed a new status, being regarded
as Swedish soil directly under jurisdiction of the Swedish government. Also at Tinicum, Printz created
Pennsylvania’s first house of worship? (Lutheran) in 1646.

The next year, a ten-man beaver trade delegation from the New Sweden colony set out from
Tinicum in October bound for the Pittsburgh locality and bearing gifts for the warlike Black Minquas?

Indian chiefs there. Led by Henrik Huygan and his head guard who knew the Indian language well,

21 Elevated to the throne at age 6 by the death of her father, the warrior king Gustavus Adolphus, Queen Christina (1626-
1689) had a mind of her own. By nature, she was footloose and a mischief-maker, yet cared about the classics and high
achievement in the arts. And while action and adventure never lost their appeal for Christina, her extravagance almost
wrecked the Swedish economy. Upon joining the Roman Catholic Church, she was, at age 27, obliged to give up the throne
and leave the country. She headed for warmer climate, Rome, her character continuing to manifest a combination of
maddening and endearing traits some see as a far-away glimpse of a modern spirit. See Veronica Buckley’s Christina, Queen
of Sweden, The Restless Life of a European Eccentric. Fourth Estate/Harper Collins Publishers, 2004.

22 In 1640, the West India Company gave up its monopoly of trade in the region, which had kept the place from developing in
any areas except piracy and smuggling, and declared New Netherland a free-trading zone. In that free market territory, New
Amsterdam would be the hub through which traders’ and merchants’ ships would pass (pay duties, then be cleared for travel).
The effect was swift. An intensely active merchant class was one result. “Everyone here is a trader” was the mantra by 1650.
And the effects were strongly felt in the Swedish colony.

23 One of its Lutheran ministers focused on learning a local Indian language here, then composed for those Indians a book
about Christianity.

24 The Black Minquas acquired their name from the “black badge” they wore.

Chapter 1 Page 10



namely Sergeant Gregorius Van Dyke (two Dutchman in the service of Sweden), the mission included a
detail of eight Swedish soldiers and an Indian guide. Huygan had earned his stripes. For he had been
aboard the Swedish ship that first landed on the Delaware River in 1638 under the command of his late
brother-in-law Peter Minuit at what became the location of Fort Christina. And the timing was right for
this October 1647 journey inland.

For the seventh expedition by sea to the Swedish colony had just arrived at Tinicum - namely the
ship “Gullene Haj” (“Golden Shark™) amid general rejoicing of the Swedish colonists. Among its
plentiful articles for the beaver trade were items such as kettles, duffels, mirrors, hardware, hose, knives,
axes, trinkets and more valuable items. Local Indian chiefs soon received gifts also and the members of
that trade delegation to the Pittsburgh area then quietly set out for the interior to renew New Sweden’s
old friendship with the Minquas tribes and re-establish the beaver trade. Full of hope, they marched over
Indian trails, then probably boated up the Schuylkill. Where they were heading, the great French and
Indian war was fought a century later — a conflict Winston Churchill once referred to as the “first world
war.”’?

Of course the Dutch had come to our region primarily as traders, but the Swedes came mainly as
homesteaders. Governor Printz meant to emphasize this when he built for himself an elegant two-story
manor house where he lived with his wife Maria, five daughters and one son at Tinicum — that dwelling
said to be one of the finest houses between Virginia and New Amsterdam, and the largest one, with its
fireplaces and glass-paned windows.?® Narberth’s own Swedish saga mingles the trading and
homesteader?” aspects - traders tending to be what we hear about, however, when folklorists talk of
Narberth and the Swedes.

Governor Printz was a master strategist at attempting to smooth the way for re-routing the Indian
trading path from the interior away from Fort Christina, to his preferred new trading post site further
upstream. That way it was safely out of the clutches of Dutch traders arriving by ship from New
Amsterdam. He threw in some Cecil B. de Mille special effects for good measure. For, besides

defensible block houses at the new site, Printz built a gristmill?® in 1643 that was the first public industry

% Editor’s Note: The section that follows in Vicky Donohoe’s chapter has been relocated to a section below entitled “The
French and Indian War.”

2% Before Penn: Swedish Colonists in the Land of the Lenape. Philadelphia: American Swedish Historical Museum, 1988.

27 |bid. Jaspar Dankers. By 1680, that Dutch traveler visited Tinicum, while the sale of that island property was in the courts.
Among buildings he saw [were] Governor Printz’s Manor House, about 4 Swedish houses, other buildings and its Lutheran
church of logs, p. 178-181.

28 An illustration: Swedish gristmill, 1643 - scale model at Hagley Museum.
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on Philadelphia’s soil, and everyone was permitted to grind grain for a toll there. Governor Printz’s mill
had a prime location on Cobbs Creek, where it crosses present-day Woodland Avenue, beside the new
“Big Trading Path” and near its destination, where the Swedish supply ships docked.

The Indians were in awe of this mill and scores of them are said to have sat for days at a time
watching its operation. Also, the Lenape hunters from nearby Moyamensing and Passyunk in present
day South Philadelphia had to pass by the mill whenever they went hunting because Governor Printz’s
new trading path utilized their well-trafficked old hunting trail,? the only path entering into the forest in
that vicinity. That trail led direct lead to Montgomery Avenue in Narberth’s vicinity, where it joined the
Allegheny path® going westward.

The Lenape women for many miles around brought their corn to be ground at the Swedish mill.
Any Lenape Indians living near Narberth would have had an easy commute to the gristmill on foot in
less than a day - making this a convenient place to live and to farm in Narberth’s marshy areas (those
being the conditions Indians are said to have preferred for growing crops at that time). One way or
another, there is every reason to believe that Indians in the Narberth vicinity were customers of that mill.

Two things Governor Printz clearly emphasized by replacing the site at present day Wilmington
with Tinicum as New Sweden’s official Indian traders’ destination on the Delaware River. First, he was
clearly defining a new overland route (we still know it as “Conestoga Road”) that completely avoided
the lower Delaware River banks where the northbound Indian suppliers might too easily be spotted by
the Dutch. Only when it reached Narberth did his new path swing sharply toward Tinicum, going
eastward from present-day Montgomery Avenue, then heading south down Merion Road. We are
familiar with Conestoga Road, but surprisingly few people associate it with the beaver trade thinking
rather of Conestoga wagons.

While studying eighteenth century Lower Merion deeds, | made the surprising discovery that
Conestoga Road in its approach from a westerly direction did not just “disappear” in Ardmore and
Narberth. Nor did it merge with old Lancaster Road as is sometimes said by local historians. Instead a
deed John Dickinson obtained when he bought back half of his grandfather Dr. Edward Jones’ 1682

property that had been sold out of the family, reveals the hill-climbing east side of that farm is the

29 The very ancient Lenni-Lenape “hunting trail” (from Passyunk) is believed to be North Narberth Avenue. Somehow that
trail retains some of its ancient feeling for me best of all as it crosses Montgomery Avenue and continues its course into
quirky Old Gulph Road. Might this also have been the path of the old buffalos?

30 Wallace, Paul A. W. Indian Paths of Pennsylvania. Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission, 1993,
“Allegheny Path, From Philadelphia to Pittsburgh and Kittanning,” p.19.
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Conestoga Road. (Today it is called Merion Road where it climbs out of Montgomery Avenue and
crosses City Avenue at Overbrook rail station.)

Astonishingly, it is again picked up and continues on roadmaps into Southwest Philadelphia as
the long, straight and narrow “Conestoga Street.” It’s located just east of South 55th Street, extending all
the way to Bartram’s Garden on the Schuylkill River. And that’s near its juncture with the Delaware
River where Fort Nassau formerly stood - built when the Dutch thought they might establish their
colony there instead of New York.

For a while the maintenance crew at the old Dutch fort had been enduring minor but deliberate
provocations from Governor Printz. Added to that, the Indians hauling beaver skins would be expected
to cross the Delaware River to reach the fort, and thus they increasingly tended to avoid it. Dutch
fortifications on the Delaware thus gradually fell into disuse during the seventeen-year period of
Swedish rule, yet didn’t cease entirely. Indeed the Dutch were able to come up the bay to their Fort
Casimir near present-day Newcastle, making contact with Indians in Delaware.

Secondly, by establishing this alternate trade route, Governor Printz inadvertently called
attention to Narberth’s strategic location that made it an essential staging area along “Conestoga
Portage,”** one of the oldest known beaver trade routes in Eastern Pennsylvania. Since the 1620s, when
the Dutch at Fort Nassau began using it, it was the main canoe route between the Susquehanna and
Delaware Rivers, arriving here by way of the Schuylkill. In drawing attention to it, Governor Printz
seemed to be reactivating it for full use by Swedish traders, although beaver skins had become far less
plentiful by then.

Conestoga Portage began at the headwaters of Conestoga Creek (its name considerably older
than the Susquehannock Conestoga Indian settlements around it), then sped overland a short distance to
the headwaters of French Creek. From there it navigated downstream into the Schuylkill at Phoenixville,
on down to Beaver Island (just above Philadelphia’s City Avenue). Conestoga Portage traders avoided
the then Falls of Schuylkill by leaving their canoe at river’s edge and hauling the beaver skins on their
backs inland going west a short distance over the Allegheny Path at its Schuylkill crossing. Upon
reaching Narberth’s headwaters of Cobbs Creek, it is assumed they canoed some of the way down the
East Branch of Indian Creek which flows into Cobb’s Creek, thus arriving at the junction of the

Schuylkill and Delaware Rivers directly opposite the by-then empty Fort Nassau.

31 Wallace, Paul A.W. Ibid., p. 138, 135.
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Various portage paths from upstate involved traveling a combination of canoeing and walking.
The common practice by Indians on such trips was to place one’s canoe under a bush and use another
canoe further on, even sometimes stopping to make one.

The initial mention in a document®? of the place we now call Narberth may be the request a
Susquehanna chief made (1655) that the Swedes set up a gun-repair facility and cargo depot for Indian
use at a location he chose on account of its mutual advantage to both parties. Several factors point to
Narberth’s being an especially suitable location for such a resource. But first, some history.

This was an unusually strategic place at a break point on Governor Printz’s Big Minquas Trading
Path just as it departs the Allegheny Path to go southeast to the Schuylkill River at Kingsessing Creek
toward the unloading dock for supply ships on the Delaware River. (This way, gun repair would be done
at a discreet distance from incoming ships.)

Also, Governor Printz had already set up two major enhancements on that favorite trading path
of his - the gristmill at Woodland Avenue and the watermill located a mile-and-a-half further along that
path, and closer to Narberth. So it would seem natural that the best location for the gun repair depot the
Indians requested would also be on that same active trading path, but still further up it. Such a request
would also show the Indians’ desire to rely on the Swedes, who knew the Indians were then getting a
plentiful supply of weapons from the Dutch. That request for a repair facility made sense because the
Swedes had sent soldiers to the Susquehannocks in the 1640s to teach them “use of our arms and
fights.”* At the time, the Swedes on the Delaware River were growing stronger, and trying both to build
up their fur trade with those Indians as well as to strengthen their military alliance with them — two
things the Susquehannocks never forgot, as we shall see.

And Narberth’s land wasn’t just conveniently close to - but actually on - one of the oldest beaver
skin delivery routes that came eastward in this region via the Schuylkill River to old Beaver Island (just
above City Avenue). It avoided the Falls of Schuylkill by coming overland and crossing the Allegheny
Path at Narberth, to join the ancient hunting path of the Lenape as it traveled close to the juncture of the

Schuylkill and Delaware rivers.

32 Additional very early mention of Narberth’s location in a document possibly might be found in an as-yet unlocated
Swedish land deed, one of many still in private hands or in archives, and that date from the third quarter of the seventeenth
century. Swedes especially during that period were snapping up parcels of land hereabouts.

33 Beauchamp Plantegenet’s 1648 observation reprinted in Peter Force’s Tracts and Other Papers 1836, also in 1947 by Peter
Smith in New York; and in John E. Pomfret’s Province of West New Jersey, 1609-1703, Princeton University Press, p. 33,
37. Beauchamp Plantegenet is a pseudonym of Sir Edmund Plowden.
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Certainly the Susquehannocks are known to have had a special affinity for inland locations with
plentiful springs (a defining Narberth trait well-known to area plumbers). And the principal spring that is
the source of the East Branch of Indian Creek in Narberth has a number of small feeder springs along its
waterway leading to the river. Susquehannocks gravitated toward headwaters where major springs are
found, while Lenni Lenape, by contrast, became known as “river Indians” because they liked to locate at
ariver’s edge where streams empty into it.

Especially farseeing, the Indian proposal of a cargo depot on the Allegheny Path in Narberth
would surely have bolstered the very keen Swedish ambition to settle spacious virgin land in Upper
Merion Township, which they later did. At the time, Narberth, with its rickety road to Valley Forge,
represented a virtual gateway to what is now called Swedeland further up the Schuylkill River between
Gulph Mills and Norristown.

Very likely the Swedes did comply, and hastily built that depot and stocked it, even if it meant
buying provisions from other colonies, because Governor Printz had already won Susquehannock
loyalty by then and his successor would not have hesitated. If so, that Narberth depot surely became a
site “of interest” during the Dutch takeover of the Swedish colony later that year. Such a location also
might readily explain why the two Dutch traders from New Amsterdam were so willing to come up from
Printz’s Great Trading Path or even from Passyunk to Narberth. For the opportunity to see for
themselves an existing Swedish cargo depot newly built at the Susquehannocks’ request (and possibly
still stocked) would have been very compelling - far more so than their own dull assignment. And that
cargo depot almost certainly was the large roadside Swedish log cabin we know existed in 1682 at 1226
Montgomery Avenue and that survived intact until modern times, about which more later.

Meanwhile, Governor Stuyvesant, increasingly concerned about beaver trade on the South River,
is on record* as having angrily accused the Susquehannocks of cheating Dutch traders at Fort Nassau.
All measurement of incoming textile trade goods such as plain and fancy cloths and velvets was done by
the length of a man’s arm, he explained. And the Susquehannock, a tall tribe, the rich sound of their
voices echoing as if in a deep cavern, were sending their braves with the longest arms to do the trading.

But finally it was his outrage at the years of Swedish monopoly of the South River beaver trade under

3 In the early 1980s, examining a set of official early New York Records in the “stacks” at Historical Society of
Pennsylvania, I read Governor Stuyvesant’s angry accusations that the Susquehannocks were “cheating us” by sending their
braves with the “longest arms” to participate in the measuring of the length of textile yard-goods arriving on the incoming
Dutch ships on the South River.
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Governor Printz that forced Stuyvesant’s hand.

Ever a commanding presence with his direct and forceful manner, and this time more so clad in a
gleaming suit of armor, a peg-leg Governor Stuyvesant arrived with armed soldiers in three vessels on
the Delaware River on September 15, 1655 to take over the Swedish colony. Dutch victory was achieved
without firing a shot. But the Native American response to the takeover, however, was fast and furious,
the Indians’ tribal intelligence network having informed them of Stuyvesant’s intended move. Directed
by a Susquehannock chief from this locality, those Indians mounted a major raid on New Amsterdam
simultaneously, causing much bloodshed over the entire colony. The Dutch thought the timing of that
raid a coincidence.

Only recently have historians understood that the bloody Indian raid occurring at the same time
as Governor Stuyvesant’s takeover of New Sweden was meant to show Susquehannock solidarity® with
their friends, the Swedes, and to “protect” them. After all, Indians thought of themselves as a majority,
and thus felt compelled to defend the Swedish colony, a minority.

Interestingly, both governors, Stuyvesant and Printz, were sons of Protestant ministers. And each
thought about becoming a man of the cloth before choosing a military career. Both governors also
preferred colonists who were conformists. Stuyvesant loathed having to cope with the great mix of
people and nationalities of his wide-open New Amsterdam settlement. A visiting Jesuit priest® counted
eighteen languages being spoken after this colony became a free-trade zone and was becoming one of
the earth’s fastest-growing multicultural sites. But Stuyvesant still preferred the New England model of
colonists all from a single culture. Printz too liked all his colonists to be Swedes and Finns; thus other
small groups trying to move into New Sweden were shooed away.

Not so William Penn as proprietor. He recognized he was not the first to colonize this area. And
he had suitably generous words®’” for Swedish colonists’ respect for authority and kind behavior to the
English, their strength of body, their families with many children, and their young men virtually
unsurpassed in their work ethic and sober attitude. Even so, when the British under William Penn later
controlled New Sweden areas within Penn’s charter, it was a different matter. Swedes who remained

were compensated erratically.®® One of Printz’s daughters dutifully stayed in the area to try to set things

3 Russell Shorto. lbid., pp. 279-283.

% |bid. p. 107.

37 From William Penn in The Present State of His Majesty’s Isles and Territories in America, London, 1687.

38 Before Penn: Swedish Colonists in the Land of the Lenape. Philadelphia: American Swedish Historical Museum, 1988. P.
17.
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right with Swedish land deeds.

Clearly motivating both the Swedes and Dutch to continue South River trading was a threat® the
Susquehanna Indians made at the time of the Dutch takeover of the Swedish colony - to wipe out the
Swedish settlement and strike a blow at Dutch dominance in the area if either group ceased trading. No
wonder the peaceful, and by then non-trading Lenni Lenape Indians with deep roots in our area had a
name for those other Indians, their sometime overlords, calling them treacherous or “minqua.” Yet
because Governor Printz had repeatedly tried to turn the Susquehannocks against the Dutch, those
Indians weren’t mincing words to persuade both the Dutch and Swedes that the important thing was that
trading must continue, not who the traders might be. Ah, but they were perhaps unaware of Governor
Stuyvesant’s strict rules preventing certain persons from trading.

Business had boomed since New Amsterdam became America’s free-trade port in 1640. Gone
was the old requirement that the Dutch West India Company must be middle man for any transaction
taking place. New Amsterdam citizens were enjoying exceptional rights and freedoms in an
“opportunity society.” After Swedish colonists, aware of this disparity, complained bitterly to Governor
Printz in a petition (1653) about not being allowed to trade as individuals either with the Indians or with
free Dutchman under a penalty of death, they got a shock. The man who led that petition drive was
executed - to set an example. Governor Printz never forgot that his post at the New Sweden colony was
that of a military commander.#

While the Welsh Quakers are well remembered locally, their predecessors, the Swedes and the
Dutch, tend to be overlooked. More’s the pity too, considering how practical Governor Printz was in re-
routing the beaver-skin delivery route of the Indians away from its former destination at Wilmington and
closer to Philadelphia. For, by doing so, he was able to link (at Narberth) his new overland Conestoga
Road route with a Schuylkill waterway route some Indians had been using for decades. And best of all:
they were out of Dutch clutches either way, although Printz never gave up his strict rules.

Perhaps it’s surprising therefore that historians since then have mentioned at most only the bare
fact that the Swedes and the New Amsterdamers traded side-by-side with the Indians at Narberth -

something that only happened after the overthrow of the Swedish colony by the Dutch. Liberty, so

39 Revealed in a July 30, 1656 letter by Johan Papegoja, Governor Printz’s son-in-law, in Amandus Johnson, Swedes on the
Delaware, 1914, p. 364-5.

40 Anthropologist Marshall Becker mentioned to this writer his discovery that quite a few Swedes moved just outside
Governor Printz’s colony rather than obey its strict rules.
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elusive, had come to Pennsylvania’s frontier at last. And that circumstance was anything but routine for
the liberated Swedes.

This long-awaited free-lance trade opportunity available to individual Swedes is a very plausible
reason the locality received its earliest known name Libertyville - and it has weight as an explanation.

Most often suggested as the so-called trading post site is the environs of Narberth Borough’s
“ancient Indian spring” immediately behind an early-nineteenth-century house at 1256 Montgomery
Avenue and also the former ancient log cabin at 1226 Montgomery. Until the “Indian spring” was
capped in 1980 for the Hansen tract housing development, the grounds surrounding that spring, a major
feeder of the East Branch of Indian Creek, were thickly scattered with Indian arrowheads collected by
children into the 1950s. The nearby 1226 dwelling, moreover, is the probable site the Susquehannocks
suggested as suitable for a gun-repair depot that they asked the Swedes to establish and operate for their

tribal use. No archaeological “dig” has ever been conducted at either location.
Early Jewish Traders

So how did Governor Stuyvesant impose his own set of harsh rules in his wide-open free-trade
colony? He did it by constantly preventing Spanish/Portuguese Jewish people whose families had fled
the Inquisition of 1492 from settling permanently in New Amsterdam. Also he prevented them from
buying a house there, or trading with the Indians in the former Swedish colony he had just captured.
These were brazen acts, especially as the granting of such “privilege” for Sephardic Jews had been
approved repeatedly at the Dutch West India Company headquarters in Holland.

Clearly such obstinacy from an official here who consistently restricted people’s lives and
activities, even at the frontier where vim and vigor are such valuable assets, just didn’t make sense.

On one occasion, however, while denying three Jews permission to trade on the Delaware River
in 1655, Stuyvesant made a concession. He allowed them to send two men to dispose of trade goods
already shipped there, stipulating that the two men then return to New Amsterdam. Sent were a dynamic
individual, Isaac Israel, and Benjamin Cardoso* who are known to have arrived on the South river
(Delaware River) by December 29, 1655 at Fort Casimir in Delaware. At the time a treaty was being
made there between the Indians and that community. All agreed to the subsidy except Israel and

41 Publications of the American Jewish Historical Society in vol. 5, 1897, p. 194 names Isaac Israel’s companion on his first
authorized trip to the South River as Isaac Cardoso; Publications of the A. J. H. S. gives that companion’s name as Benjamin
Cardoso, vol 18, , p. 28- from “The Early History of Jews in New York” by Oppenheim.
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Cardoso who refused, since they were there for a different purpose. Interestingly, Isaac Israel was back
at Fort Casimir in June 1656, heatedly in a dispute about some brandy, beaver skins and cheese — about
what he paid to ship’s Captain Jan Flamman for transporting both him and these goods to the South
River.

So either January or June of 1656 are the earliest times Isaac Israel would have traveled
northward from Fort Casimir to Narberth via Passyunk (in what became South Philadelphia). One of
those times or maybe both, Israel would have wanted very keenly to examine whatever potential there
might be in both the building itself and the contents of that gun repair/cargo depot built by Swedes in
Narberth at a Susquehanna chief’s request.

And that willingness to explore the region is the compelling reason Isaac Israel and Benjamin
Cardoso are seriously claimed as the first Jews in Pennsylvania. Of course Dr. A.S.W. Rosenbach of the
Rosenbach Museum and Library was right in declaring: “There can no longer be any doubt that there
were Jews in the Pennsylvania locality at least 25 years before the landing of William Penn.”*

And now especially there is every reason to acknowledge the importance of Isaac Israel’s
achievement in our region during the colonial period. This outstanding figure was both a Jew and at the
same time he was, by 1663, a member of the High Council of the Incorporated Dutch West India
Company’s settlement on the Delaware River. As such he was also at that time Chancellor in charge of
the licensed Passyunk trading post. So besides being one of the first Jews in Pennsylvania, Isaac Israel
was the first Jew to hold office in the Pennsylvania area.

Upon realization that a translator’s error from the Dutch language in an early period, mistakenly
said Jews could never hold high posts, a later scholar® rightly took issue with Dr. Rosenbach’s
insistence that Isaac Israel couldn’t have been a Jew because of his high station. The matter is now
settled.

That classification also was awake up call for another usually very reliable source* that had
incorrectly suggested that this Isaac Israel may have been just another person with the same name.

And persons interested in some of those old recurring Jewish colonial-period names, useful

42 “Jews in Pennsylvania, 1655-1703" Rosenbach. Publications of the American Jewish Historical Society, vol. 5, 1897, p.
196.
43 “Early History of the Jews in New York” — Oppenheim. Publications of the American Jewish Historical Society, vol. 18.
4 The History of the Jews in Philadelphia from Colonial Times to the Age of Jackson, Edwin Wolf 2d and Maxwell
Whiteman, 1957, p. 11.
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references® are available.

The first Jewish settlers in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania c. 1730 or 1732 were Spanish Jews
from Portugal who had fled the Inquisition seeking refuge in South America before coming here.* Such
settlers probably used old Lancaster Road from Philadelphia. And near that road in Narberth is the
Merion Welsh tract’s 1683 western boundary, the “Merion Line,” along Narbrook Park. While deeply
digging in their 25 Narbrook Park garden in the 1990s, Peter and Nancy Greene Grove found an early
17th century Spanish coin. Next door at 27 Narbrook, a child Paul Wohlert, playing in about 1922 in the
basement excavation of a house under construction, found an elaborate dagger. It was taken to the
University of Pennsylvania Museum of Archaeology. Checking on this with the museum registrar in the
1980s, turns out no records were kept at the time of items brought in.*

Keeping trails open and serviceable had been a constant concern of course for the Lenape who
periodically set small brushfires to clear them without harming stately woodland trees. Then in 1681,
our provincial government saw the need to take its own decisive action on the matter of keeping
pathways open. Thus authorized by its Court of Upland“ still in session, that provisional government in
1681, just one year before William Penn’s arrival on our shores, took action under the administration of
Sir Edmund Andros, governor of New York. Dispatched was a team of men, each one responsible for
repairing a specific stretch of the “road” extending the full length of the colony — from Upland on the
south at Chester, and as far north as what we now call Pennsbury Manor.

Peter Yocum*® was responsible repairing the road from Governor Printz’s mill to the Schuylkill
Falls, an indication that he repaired the section nearest Narberth. Other roads in the immediate area such
as Merion Road*® and Bala’s old Ford Road would also have been among those repaired by court order.

A close reading of that directive suggests that the road undergoing repairs went right through the

4 Alan M. Moskowitz brought to my attention that persons with the same names and later dates, presumably the descendants
of the individuals most often mentioned as Jews from New Amsterdam likeliest to have traded with Swedes and
Susquehannock Indians at Narberth, are on record. They are listed in Rabbi DeSola Pool’s book Portraits Etched in Stone
about the Spanish Portuguese New York Synagogue Cemetery which started in the early 1700s and still exists, but is not in
use.

46 Mays, George. “The Jewish Colony at Tower Hill, Schaefferstown, Lebanon County, PA.” Philadelphia, 1905.

47Editor’s note: page 11E omitted.

48 Record of the Court at Upland in Pennsylvania 1676-1681, Historical Society of Pennsylvania.
49 A Roman Catholic, he was commissioned as governor by the Duke of York on behalf of all the land granted and confirmed to him by Britain’s King Charles 1, specifically including all the

New Netherland property from Connecticut to the Delaware, and also a portion of Maine where Andros had built a fort two years earlier.

50 Individuals participating in this repair task presumably lived close to the stretch they were assigned to clear of the colony’s full-length roadway. And the farm property of this prominent
Swedish settler, Peter Yocum, on the Schuylkill River was later acquired by naturalist John Bartram. It exists today as Bartram’s Garden, a National Historic Landmark.

51 This much-forgotten road was a very vital one. There is even the strong likelihood that before the Welsh period, it had been located in a more westerly direction where it remains Old Gulph

Road and would have retained it all the way to Narberth’s railway bridge, except that its name was changed to “Narberth Avenue” where it crossed Montgomery Avenue and entered the town.
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future Narberth Borough’s eastern end to nearly where Merion Friends Meetinghouse now stands, then
took a sharp easterly turn toward the Schuylkill River, crossing it and following the Allegheny Path
eastward and north.

This prime location along a newly repaired road would have made Merion Quakers’ choice of an
accessible meetinghouse site very desirable to this group of seventeen families from Merioneth in
northern Wales that subscribed to their patents for land from William Penn in 1681. They were the first
Welsh people to settle in America, arriving on our shores two months before William Penn himself and
before other Welsh Quakers who came expecting to live on a tract they referred to as New Wales.

Arrival of the Welsh - Welsh Heritage

Welsh settlers were shocked on arrival here in 1682 — eager to take immediate possession of their
American land grant purchased abroad, when they discovered Swedes living on their property. What to
do? Of course they immediately contacted William Penn.

This “occupied territory” happened to be in one location only, in what is now the Borough of
Narberth. At the time it was part of a huge tract, perhaps the Welsh settlers’ largest one — its owner the
most prominent woman among those seventeen arriving Welsh families. She was Katherine Robert
Thomas of the Yale family, widow of John Thomas® of Llaitheum in Merioneth, the man originally to
have led the Welsh colonists here. But he had died just after being released from prison, where this ill
older man had been jailed for practicing his Quaker faith.

The hospitable Dr. Edward Jones, son-in-law of William Penn’s physician, Thomas Wynne,
stepped into that leadership role, ably assisted by Katherine Thomas and her two grown sons.

What then was Katherine’s response to the new dilemma of “squatters” on her property? She
immediately generously reached out to protect the legacy of earlier Swedish settlers unknown to her -
something infinitely more important than if she had coldly served notice upon them to move out at their
earliest opportunity.

Instead Katherine, greatly to her credit, protected that Swedish settlement, even though it meant

placing a fence around a large 24-acre triangle® of her own land with its two log cabins along

52 Although it’s now said that fewer people did jail time for their religious beliefs in this early period before fleeing to America than is generally believed, this man was definitely one who did

sufferina 1 7th century British prison for his religious convictions. ?’s lengthy genealogy is on file at the Historical Society of
Pennsylvania.

%3 Editor’s note: This area is referred to as the “Swedish Triangle” and is considered the “oldest” part of the town. It is
approximately the area known as “Libertyville,” discussed below.
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Montgomery Avenue - all of it in what became the present Borough of Narberth, and with that ancient
Conestoga roadway its dividing line with the rest of her enormous property to the north of that line. Hers
was a wise and refreshing expression of Welsh neighborliness and goodwill toward existing colonial
heritage,> one that was struggling but still vital. Thus she helped it stay alive even at her own expense
and that of her sons.

It is thus the everlasting pride of seventeenth century America before our nation existed that one
of our most distinguished Welsh immigrants, Katherine Robert Thomas of the Yale family, made that
wise but difficult decision, doing so immediately upon her arrival on our shores.

Almost as soon as the Welsh takeover, the fascinating, tantalizing, unsettled question arose of
whether the Swedes in the neighborhood were going to be able to keep an active Narberth trading post a
while longer. After Katherine Thomas made it possible for them to remain there, her younger son,
Thomas Jones, later his son Evan, continued to keep a close watch on things there. And certainly
Katherine’s acceptance of the Swedes at the trading post location is the main positive consideration and
accomplishment here.

Yet because the Swedes were still on that land when the Welsh came, did this automatically give
them a reason to assert their right to remain, especially since numerous Swedes were living nearby?
Whether the Swedish “squatters” ever did assert that right, we simply don’t know.

Set back from the so-called trading post site, there still exists a two-story log cabin (plastered
over) believed built in 1724 and that has Swedish characteristics. Located at 610 Shady Lane, that cabin
acquired a stone addition built in 1796 by house carpenter and diarest Joseph Price for a new owner.
Nearby is the base of an enormous Swedish style corner fireplace, the surviving remnant of a much older
log cabin that stood until the late nineteenth century, at which time it was replaced by a new wooden
structure built over its existing cellar foundation and then attached, as the cabin had been, to a stone
addition of about 1800 — this property now known as 1226 Montgomery Avenue. That very early cabin
may have existed when the Swedes and two Spanish/Portuguese Jews traded with the Susquehannocks
there in what is now Narberth Borough and could have been the storage place for cargo and gun repair
believed built in 1655 at the Indians’ request.

Directly across the Montgomery Avenue trading path (or Allegheny Path) from that

% The nearest sizeable group of Swedish families at this time living nearby the 24 acres Mrs. Thomas set aside was...Upland
Court Records, Historical Society of Pennsylvania.
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renovated and once primitive cabin site at 1226 stands a stone house at 1231 Montgomery Avenue built
in 1791 for a direct descendent of Katherine Thomas’s youngest son — that is, from one of Lower
Merion Township’s and the Borough of Narberth seventeen Merion Welsh founding families on their
original land grant from William Penn. The mid-nineteenth century name of that house was “Wigwam,”
believe referring to the Indian trading post cabin site opposite. Together these and adjacent eighteenth
and nineteenth-century buildings formed the nucleus of what soon became the village of Libertyville.

And how come these Quaker colonists, by establishing their meetinghouses as the hub of their
communities, were able to make the Welsh heritage the strongly felt backbone of Philadelphia’s Main
Line suburbs it is today? For starters, it happened because those colonists took naturally to adapting
themselves to existing major trails, preferring where possible to build meetinghouses at the crossings of
important Indian trails. Often the earliest meetings (and Merion meeting is a prime likely example)
occupied the site of a former Lenape village, because early settlers had such difficulty cutting down
trees.

Old trails soon took on new identity as the well-traveled link between neighboring
meetinghouses, for the Welsh Tract settlers were known for being exceptionally sociable with one
another. They had been a people not inclined to talk about themselves in front of strangers. And the
designations of their meeting-to-meeting street names often stuck, even after some became cart roads
into the city or part of regional transportation networks.

The meetinghouse of the Merion Welsh Quakers for a long while puzzled historians on account
of its difficult-to-identify architectural style. How come it bore no resemblance to any other Quaker
meetings in this country? A couple of National Park Service historians® soon found the answer by
taking a quick tour of early meetinghouses in Wales. As one of the earliest Quaker meetinghouses built
in America, Merion’s predates the typical Quaker-meeting style. Small wonder it thus simply leaped
over National Register status to become a National Historic Landmark. This still-active meetinghouse
was constructed of stone in 1695 at the intersection of three trails, a couple of which almost certainly
were altered at the time to avoid total convergence at a single point directly in front of the meetinghouse.
Two of those roadways® still retain part of their “meeting-to-meeting” names — in both cases their

designation serving as a bow to history, since each is a shortened form of its practical old Quaker

%5 Bill Bolger [was one of them.]
% In Merion Meeting’s immediate vicinity today is Merion Road (formerly “Merion and Darby Road”) and Haverford
Avenue (formerly “Haverford and Merion Avenues”).
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moniker.

The careful way these Welsh Tract Quakers established their meetinghouses, both as the hub of
their own individual communities and as an interconnected network upon major Indian trails,
contributed significantly to the fact that the Welsh heritage remains the single most strongly felt
connective element it is today in defining Philadelphia’s Main Line suburbs, rivaled as unifier only by
the intercontinental Main Line railroad tracks built by the Pennsylvania Railroad, and still used by
Amtrak and the Southeastern Pennsylvania Transportation Authority. Initially this sense of
“togetherness” that the Welsh Tract ideal fostered and stubbornly retained — if only in the minds of the
Welsh families themselves — made them a bulwark against the English Quaker colonists who settled
mainly in the heart of the city, while the Welsh Quakers occupied rural areas ranged around the city’s
outskirts. And for that reason alone, it is no wonder the Welsh never allowed themselves to be absorbed
into the city, and acted against such a move in a timely and decisive way before it could happen, with
one of their descendants leading that initiative.

Keep in mind that Welsh people had grown accustomed to living in the same locale for
thousands of years. Both the Welsh language and poetry deeply interested them and they especially
relished family friendship and companionship. All these colonists were from the north, a farming area
with intense focus on pedigree and family pride. It’s been said of the inhabitants of northern Wales that
these people are perhaps as deeply rooted in their soil as any of the world’s inhabitants. But they looked
for and did find many similarities here.

Farmland, hills and valleys, pure water sources, woods, wet meadows and nearness to the
Schuylkill River were at the heart of Narberth in the Merion Welsh track. The lack of steep mountains
hardly mattered because all those other traits in our Merion Welsh Tract were strong reminders of
similar features these settlers cherished so much in their beloved homeland with its “friendly
mountains.” Seems safe to assume that one feature of their land with great appeal for Lower Merion’s
Welsh settlers was the Philadelphia Main Line’s only example of mountainous terrain — a very unusual
canyon. It has cliffs rising sharply about 100 feet on both sides and leading to the Schuylkill River
opposite Manayunk. Today Rock Hill Road meanders down the full length of that Canyon, its last stone
quarry (McCabe’s) having closed in 1966, with condos now proposed.

Three of the most prominent of the original seventeen families settling this tract in search of
religious freedom in 1682 and a fourth arrival in 1683 owned land granted to them by William Penn in
what is now Narberth Borough. A fifth arrival made it a quintet of Welsh family owners here within a
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decade. Those Merion Welsh pioneers, known as “Pennsylvania First Purchasers” — several of whom
enjoyed personal friendly ties with William Penn - ... included the enthusiastic Hugh Roberts active in
public life and described in early accounts as a minister among the Friends. Another was John Thomas’%
cultured widow Katherine Robert Thomas [...] with her adult children including Thomas Jones. And
there was also, by 1691, state assemblyman Robert Owen, besides already mentioned Dr. Edward Jones.
Each of those four families owned tracts at the outset larger than Edward ap Rees. And portions of the
plantations of those four prominent settlers extended into Narberth to frame his land like the picture of
tranquil colonial farmland most people imagine this area was. Dr. Edward Jones wrote home to say that
the Merion Welsh had contracted with the Indians to leave venison on their doorstep “for six pence ye
quarter,” and that the other colonists they saw most often were the Swedes. And there was also the letter
written in 1683 to William Penn by Welsh Quaker Thomas Jones just after he and his distinguished
family had arrived here to take up residence on their plantation. He told Governor Penn that they arrived
only to find “improvements” already on their land grant. [As stated earlier, e]very indication points to
those “improvements” being log cabins on the southwest corner of that plantation (at a major trail’s
curbside, in the present borough), where at least two such cabins definitely Swedish, were known to
have stood at that time.

And of course all sorts of boundaries had been drawn for individual Welsh plantations here at the
same time as the lengthy western boundary for the Merion Welsh tract was established in 1683 (its
lengthy eastern boundary counterpart being the Schuylkill River). The Merion Line, as that western
boundary was known, served for several years virtually as a frontier zone between the Merion and the
Haverford Welsh communities. In Narberth, no land west of the Merion Line was settled until 1691. In
that year Robert Owen fleeing persecution and Edward ap Rees beginning to enlarge his farm, each
acquired from the original deed-holders large tracts extending into that zone, and thus opening up north
Wynnewood to agriculture.

Edward ap Rees’ original 78-acre plantation formed the borough Keystone and included his
stone house® and stone barn, the ancient Friends Meeting itself as well as its burial ground (in which
Edward ap Rees’ and his wife Mabby’s young daughter Catharine was the first settler buried), and the
inn next door. Edward ap Rees (or Price) steadily increased his land holdings. Moreover, a glance at his

5" John Thomas’ lengthy genealogical history is on file at the Historical Society of Pennsylvania.
%8 Believed to have been S.E. corner Forrest and Windsor Avenues, built 1690; the small stone barn of the same period, at
101 Forrest Avenue.
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will (proven in 1728) in Philadelphia City archives discloses that Edward ap Rees kept a couple of
whiskey stills.

And that suggests Rees produced whiskey by an ancient process of limited-quantity craft
distilling known to the Welsh from Scottish sources. This he could have done in his small stone barn (at
101 Forrest Avenue) or outdoors near it. Chances are he produced single-malt whiskey made from
malted barley he grew. Such artisan whiskey he could market conveniently to the male clientele of the
then-getting established and long-existing inn nearby. Such brew usually was stored in oaken barrels for
a few years.

Certain types of individuals seemed to be especially attached to this kind of solitary activity, then
as now. Artisan whiskey brewing is said to appeal to persons of somewhat rebellious nature who are
nonetheless likable characters. This jibes with what we know about Rees’ conduct in the colony for he
wasn’t a noticeable “joiner” in common activities of his neighbors. Instead he had an obvious, ongoing
and hard-driving flair for acquiring real estate in the immediate area. He also held a mortgage on nearby
“Harriton” (built 1704) and known as the locality’s most sophisticated dwelling of its era architecturally.
Rees’ own stone house did not survive, but “Harriton” is now a distinguished Lower Merion Township-
owned house museum. Several generations later, a direct descendent, Edward R. Price, would revisit his
ancestor’s real estate interests, as he saw parcels of it slip away from family ownership. Price was
starting to think how some of those holdings of his great-grandfather might be brought back together -
permanently.

After arrival of the Welsh, change continued at a rapid pace that first decade. Even as early as
1700, fewer Indians were seen hereabouts in the countryside, and people began using the old Indian
paths as cart roads. No generation of colonials seemed so emotionally involved with the neighborhood
as the Welsh. Flourishing plantation owners at the turn of the eighteenth century only two decades after
they fled their homeland, these people consolidated the way of life of this locality for the first time by
forcing a climate of acceptance of village life and then entering the ranks of the local citizenry
themselves. The cart roads bringing farmers’ produce from nearby villages to the city were firmly
established at this time (on pre-existing roads), one of those routes being our borough’s main street,
Haverford Avenue.

Meanwhile, Narberth’s primitive “front road” evolved through stages to be known as Conestoga

Road, setting the stage for it to become one of America’s earliest and most important highways under
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the name “Lancaster Road,” before creation of the Lancaster Pike (U. S. 30).%°

Surprisingly Narberth’s Welsh property line boundaries have remained largely intact, even
including (partially) the Merion Line marking the original Western edge of the 2500-acre Merion Welsh
tract, discernible where it passes north and south through the borough’s west end. Described as the
“Merion Line” in two separate Narberth deeds for the year 1691, those of Robert Owen and Edward ap
Rees,® that ancient boundary runs parallel with North Wynnewood Avenue some 350 feet east of it.
Today the old Merion Line can be traveled easily within the borough along a hilly two-block straight
stretch, the western service drive of Narbrook Park. Entry is from Windsor Avenue. The woodsy
appearance of Narberth’s west end even today is a reminder that this section of land came under Welsh
cultivation later than the rest of the borough. The slender slice of borough land fronting on North
Wynnewood Avenue now goes by the name of “Narberth’s gold coast,” and not because it faces the

setting sun.
Welsh Quaker Legend

One of the most appealing legends ever linked with the primitive Merion Welsh settlement - and
surprisingly little known - concerns Pennsylvania's leading citizen and a journey he took on horseback
down Narberth's main street, Haverford Avenue. As this Quaker tale unfolds, William Penn is departing
from a visit to Merion Friends Meeting, presumably with a retinue of staff or well-wishers, and setting
out for Haverford Friends Meeting on Eagle Road. Naturally, he used Haverford-and-Merion Road
which even today still connects the two meeting houses. (It is now disguised a bit because the street
changes names several times along the way.)

Well, the governor and proprietor had only just begun his journey when he passed a poor
barefoot child walking in the same direction. He stopped upon learning that her destination was the same
as his. And he invited her to hop aboard his horse and ride in back of him. She did, and a legend was
born.

While that is the main story as usually told, variations exist, with other meeting houses claiming
a similar tale. One version describes such an encounter between the governor and a poor child walking
to Haverford Meeting from Philadelphia. Another more specific account, quoting a venerable member of
the Jones family of Merion a hundred years after the fact, identifies Rebecca Wood of Darby as one

% Editor’s note: “Lancaster Road” is now “Montgomery Avenue” — not to be confused with “Lancaster Pike.”
80 Deed Book E2 volume 5, pages 174, 175, City Archives of Philadelphia.
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barefoot child who received an impromptu shared ride on horseback with Gov. Penn en route to
Haverford Meeting. Perhaps each story is accurate. For the governor liked to show deference to people
of modest station in life, and the Welsh Quakers admired this trait in him. Sounds as if some
commemoration should be made of William Penn’s “carpool” journey westward through Narberth’s

main street. Maybe a civic association marker or re-enactment is called for.

Other Nationalities — Germans

The first nationality to break the solid ranks of the Merion Welsh that had been diluted only by
the scattered presence of Swedes were the “Germans,” who were more Holland Dutch in their origin
than German. These were second and third generation Germantown and Chestnut Hill natives who came
to cantankerous life in this locality by crossing the Schuylkill River in considerable numbers by the
1720s or so. Soon they began marrying the local Welsh, as Anthony Tunis, one of the more prominent
early Germans on this side of the river, did when he wed Mary Williams at Merion Meeting in 1718.
Upon acquiring the next-door Wayside Inn (built 1704), he renamed it the Tunis Ordinary® and enlarged
it. The property then included adjacent land on both sides of the Conestoga Road (Montgomery
Avenue).

The Germantown-German population who were the earliest settlers of that nationality in this
neighborhood had much less solidarity here than their Merion Welsh counterparts - except in the social
sphere so they could feel free to take it or leave it and they did this, and more. It followed that the
earliest people of German ancestry in Narberth (before numerous Palatinate Germans began filtering
into the region in mid-century, particularly around nearby Ardmore) were as diverse in temperament as
the local scene itself would soon become.

Certainly the Tunis and Streeper families were the outstanding groups with proud Germantown
roots who owned property in the eventual Narberth Borough before the Revolution. And the example of

the Narberth “witch” Betty Conrad® is extreme and hardly typical in that she is the only woman — apart

61 Since the American Revolution[, until recently, it was] known as General Wayne Inn (and [w]as one of Lower Merion’s
most famously haunted buildings, supposedly haunted by the ghost of a Hessian soldier killed in 1777, his body dragged into
the inn’s basement). The inn closed as a restaurant in August 2002, much in need of repairs. About a year later Rabbi Shraga
Sherman, leader of the Chabad of the Main Line, an Orthodox Jewish organization, assembled a partnership that purchased
the property and brought this important building back to new life. The restored building reopened in autumn 2005, now
serving as a restaurant and a center of Jewish life.

62 Joseph Price states in his Diary, Jan. 23, 1806, that he attended Betty Conrad’s burial in Merion Meeting’s Strangers’ Yard,
where non-Friends and neighbors were buried. He declared that “many or several” German people thought her a witch.
Historical Society of Pennsylvania manuscript; copy at Lower Merion Historical Society.
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from the distinguished Welsh settler Katherine Thomas and a slim handful of others — who stands out
from our area before or after the Revolution until the late- nineteenth century. By that time, several
women would have their names inscribed on local atlas maps as substantial landowners, but Mrs.

Conrad anticipated them all.
Betty Conrad

In colonial times Narberth had a “witch” named Betty Conrad. The support for this statement is a
declaration by Major Joseph Price in his diary datelined January 23, 1806: ... Attend the burial of Betty
Conrad [in] our Strangers’ Yard [section set aside at Merion Meeting for burial of non-Friends and
neighbors]...poor, old woman [-] many or several of the ignorant Dutch people thought her a which
[witch].” (Historical Society of Pennsylvania manuscript).

| have discovered that Betty Conrad lived on a small farm she bought from descendants of the
original Welsh owner Katherine Thomas on April 4, 1781, after renting a much larger farm from them.
Betty’s surname is most likely linked with the Conrads of the primitive settlement of Germantown who
became very numerous in Montgomery County in the early period. Probably she received a legacy from
local innkeeper Anthony Tunis. Whether “our” Betty fit any of the ten current stereotypes of a sorceress,
one who bewitched animals, haunted woods as the sylvans of Roman days were said to do or was a
sneering, disheveled hag used to striding over a landscape immersed in darkness and in lurid moonlight,
we do not know. What we do know from her will is that Betty wanted her son John Conrad and her three
married daughters Rachel Sibley, Ann Wilsong and Elizabeth Bear (later Barr), to put their roots down
deeply into the land later known as Libertyville.

With Jonathan and Owen Jones as her witnesses, Betty Conrad in 1804 affixed her mark to her
will dividing her six and three-quarter acres into four equal parts and giving each of her four children a
life interest in a lot fronting on what was by then called Lancaster Road. Their children, in turn, were to
inherit. Thus Betty Conrad’s disposition of her property with buildings on it, and the existence by then
of at least two other (log) houses, probably Swedish, nearby (both still standing, enclosed in houses at
610 Shady Lane and 1226 Montgomery) set the stage for an early nineteenth-century village. Betty’s
children did hold onto their houses and lots, but her grandchildren did not.

More than one house was put up or existed on each lot owned by Betty’s children, while in their
possession. Still standing are 1294 and 1296 Montgomery on John’s lot, 1268 on Rachel’s lot and 1256

on Ann’s lot. Rachel’s old wooden house at 1292 was very likely the “witch’s” home mentioned in the
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1783 Lower Merion tax lists as Elizabeth Conrad’s “six acres and dwelling.” It was destroyed by a real
estate speculator in June 1980 despite neighbors’ protests. His recent subdivision of French provincial-
style houses on the old Betty Conrad tract wiped out much of Libertyville’s character by destroying the
ancient Indian Creek spring house, an early orchard, the Connor family’s barn-slaughterhouse and the
Super’s blacksmith shops. A nexus of activity in this farming area, the Connor and Super businesses
flourished at Libertyville from the Civil War into the early twentieth century. Few old-timers have
forgotten the large Super family at 1256, whose blacksmith shop outlasted the other smithy in Narberth,
located since colonial times opposite General Wayne Inn.

The much-feared Betty presents the case for the viewpoint that Germantown, in her, produced a
spiritual descendent of the same seventeenth-century strain of witches® who were being hunted in a
geographic area of Southwestern Germany at the time her ancestors left their homeland in Northwestern
Germany near Holland to found Philadelphia’s Germantown section in the early 1680s. Curiously, plans
made by our eighteenth-century “witch” are connected with the eventual foundation of the village of
Libertyville on land she had owned, three decades after she owned it. Betty Conrad’s disposition of her
property® with buildings on it, and the existence by then of at least two other (log) houses, Swedish,
nearby, would set the stage for an early nineteenth-century village. But even before such a thing
happened, that small, densely settled area started to become a melting pot of various nationalities and
occupations. Meanwhile the larger tracts surrounding it were all still devoted to farming, whether by

their owners or tenant farmers.

Washington in Narberth

Few of us seem to realize how important the French and Indian war was in paving the way for

8 William Penn attended the trial of a witch at the Court of Upland. Born in Finland, the woman was accused by her daughter
of bewitching a cow. As she was found not guilty, the episode has tended to be forgotten. Stereotypes of a witch at that time
included a sorceress, one who bewitched animals, haunted woods as the sylvans of Roman days were said to do, and also a
sneering, disheveled hag used to striding over a landscape immersed in darkness and in lurid moonlight.

64 Mentioned in the 1783 Lower Merion tax lists is Elizabeth Conrad’s “six acres and dwelling” which she had bought in
1781 from descendants of the original Welsh owner Katherine R. Thomas and her son Thomas Jones after renting a much
larger farm from them. And it’s thought Betty received a legacy from local innkeeper Anthony Tunis. Her own will divided
her acreage into equal parts with buildings on it for each of her four children, giving each a life interest — her son John
Conrad and her married daughters Rachel Sibley, Ann Wilsong and Elizabeth Bear (later Barr), wanting them to put down
roots on those lots extending from 1256 to 1296 Montgomery Avenue. Betty herself is believed to have lived at # 1292.
Betty’s children did hold onto their houses and lots, but her grandchildren did not.
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American independence.® Even George Washington with volunteers from Virginia had gotten involved
in that remote area of the Alleghenies on the Monongahela River as a youthful aide to a British general
who died in combat there fighting a French general. Washington nearly lost his own life in the same
battle in that Pittsburgh area location. It was back and forth English and French dominance with the
French superiority lasting only a few years and always including American Indian tribal groups. Each of
those three separate groups was fighting for control of North America.

And finally England proclaimed itself the exclusive winner, in its peak year there of 1763, the
Indians having suffered great losses. Not until 1777 and 1778 would we again find George Washington
active relatively close to us, this time in South Jersey and at both the Narberth location on Montgomery
Avenue and also at the Battle of Barren Hill in Montgomery County.

In Morristown, New Jersey, there’s a small park with detailed life-size statues called “The
Alliance” portraying Alexander Hamilton with George Washington and the Marquis de Lafayette as the
latter pledged French support in a 1780 Morristown meeting. (The statue was erected in 2007.) The
recent nationally award-winning play “Hamilton” is based on the real Alexander Hamilton who was
stationed at Washington’s then headquarters in Morristown and Hamilton was then “dating” a local
woman, Eliza Schuyler.

In that old Lancaster Road march of Washington’s army to what would be the Battle of Paoli that
included crossing the Schuylkill River, the chief engineer of his Continental Army was a Frenchman,
Col. Louis Lebégue Duportail.®® He headed a group of French volunteers...

As for the obscure but important Battle of Barren Hill that occurred in May 1778, it featured a
band of colonial soldiers and Oneida Indian warriors led by Gilbert du Motier Marquis de Lafayette,
then 20 years of age. His victory here was that he evaded a trap set by the British Army. Some
Continental scouts and 47 Oneida warriors of the Iroquois Confederacy in central New York
participated, giving them a spectacular escape from three-pronged pincer movement of the British.
Barren Hill was renamed Lafayette Hill in 1900 honoring the French general. The stone monument
shaped like a tent suggesting the encampment was erected in 1897 on Ridge Pike at Barren Hill by the

Historical Society of Montgomery County. That monument has been moved several times and is now in

% Fred Anderson is the author of two important books on this subject, “Crucible of War: The Seven Years’ War and the Fate
of Empire in British North America, 1754-1766” and his “The War That Made America, A Short History of the French and
Indian War”, Viking, 2006.

86 «Battle of Paoli” by Thomas J. McGuire, Mechanicsburg, PA, Stackpole Books, 2000, chapter 3, p. 17.

Chapter 1 Page 31



front of St. Peter’s Church. When the Marquis de Lafayette returned here from France to Barren Hill on

June 20, 1825, he was welcomed by an enthusiastic crowd.

Revolutionary Period

Discovering how hard it can be for others to open the door for us is something we take for
granted every day. Such a wake-up call caused quite a jolt coming from one of our nation’s learned
authorities on the American Revolution, Alan Taylor, a winner of two Pulitzer prizes. He had published
a book in 2001 and another in 2016 wrapping up his startling claim that our American Revolution fought
against Blacks, Indians and women.

Indeed, we acknowledge those bracing thoughts even as we turn now to the American
Revolution as viewed up close locally in the Narberth vicinity. Our focus is on the Dutch, the Jews,
Swedes, Germans, Indians, the French and English. And it also looks at young black women introduced
early here from the South, as well as our Revolution’s most famous British General who chose to make
his one-and-only American home away from home among Quakers at Narberth.

Here at the western edge of a city that kicked off America’s fight for freedom, the Revolutionary
period seemed to be dominated or spearheaded by a number of different responses to those historic
events. The bulwark of peaceful Quaker farmers did not take up arms against the British. But others did
- there being two conspicuous patriots who owned real estate in what is now the borough. The one who
also lived here was Abraham Streeper who served with General Washington at Valley Forge. A resident
of the 610 Shady Lane log house and its farm, of German background, Streeper maintained a Picket Post
or lookout-post for Washington’s Valley Forge army here on ground he owned (later it became tennis
courts and in 2015, houses) opposite Streeper’s Tavern,®” which was the updated old inn he ran. And he
also maintained a blacksmith shop directly opposite his inn, and there General Cornwallis had his horses
constantly looked after.

The other patriot with local ties was the intellectual John Dickinson. His farm - which had
belonged to some of his family in the days of the primitive Welsh settlement - while Dickinson owned

it, was operated by a tenant. Dickinson’s farm,® partly in Narberth and partly in Merion, suffered greater

57 Editor’s note: Streeper’s Tavern became known as the General Wayne Inn and is now Chabad of the Main Line.

8 It was well known that other people in this region supporting the American cause also suffered strong damage to their
property over an extended period. A prime example was the great architect Wilson Eyre’s family business, the Eyre Brothers
shipbuilding enterprise in Fishtown, Philadelphia.
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losses from British incursions than any other property in Lower Merion Township during that conflict.

What is known of the place in our rural Quaker Township where the British General chose to
settle, apart from his comrades then occupying the city? A local historian addressing this in 1906
emphasized that the headquarters of the British Army General and the Merion Friends Meetinghouse
were landmarks still to be seen in close proximity to each other on the same north side of Montgomery
Avenue. “Just across the field stands Price Homestead used by Lord Cornwallis as a headquarters during
the revolution while he was in this part of the country.”®

A really superb property known as Maplewood, it was owned and lived in by farmer Edward
Price and his family in 1767 — the year its 146 acres including 74 acres of woods was taxed at £28 by
the Township. Among some 73 taxed properties listed that year by Lower Merion Township, it was also
one of the largest properties.

Edward’s son, Reese Price, Maplewood’s next owner, let Cornwallis take it over until he
departed later. Eventually, Maplewood went commercial, advertising high-price (summer only) rented
units — able to accommodate forty persons. Still later it became known as Brookhurst Inn, and today its
old main entry road, now lined with houses, has become Brookhurst Avenue. A short straight street
named Maple Avenue for a time existed where the Acme Market entrance now is, and a long narrow
footpath out of Maplewood had emerged immediately to the west of the current Japanese restaurant —
Gin Za at Montgomery Avenue, Northwest corner of Woodbine.

And, of course, this locality so close to downtown Philadelphia™ saw plenty of war-related
activity during the Revolution. Surely none was more disruptive of local routine, however, than General
George Washington’s Continental Army encampment of more than 10,000 men on the Old Lancaster
Road on Sunday September 14 to Monday September 15, 1777 (on Narberth’s main front road, later re-
named Montgomery Avenue).

That encampment was part of our Army’s march, begun after crossing the Schuylkill River at
Manayunk to regain the offensive against Britain’s General Sir William Howe in Chester County days

after the Battle of Brandywine, the war’s biggest battle up to that time.

% Develin, Dora Harvey. Some Historical Spots, Lower Merion Township, Montgomery County, PA. Privately printed, 1906,
p. 6. She also compliments another Price house, directly across the street from Maplewood, at 714 Montgomery Avenue,
built in 1803.

0L ower Merion Tax Lists for 1767. University of Pennsylvania’s Van Pelt Library, rare book department.

1 Just about to happen and exceptional among these was the British decision to seize and occupy the city of Philadelphia.
This took place on September 26, 1777, remaining in effect nearly nine months, until June 1778.
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Our Camp Lancaster Road, as it was called, stretched from its front end at the fourteenth
milestone in the Radnor Friends Meetinghouse vicinity to Merion Friends meeting east of the eighth
milestone. Its breastworks for defense were visible™ until the late-1920s along Meetinghouse Lane’s
north side just east of its oblique-angle crossing with Montgomery Avenue. Slightly tucked behind the
meetinghouse, soldiers on duty at that fortification could have surprised any unwelcome strangers
approaching the Army’s encampment from an easterly direction along the Old Lancaster Road from the
city.

Since our portion of that camp was at the tail end, it likely included, besides artillery,
ammunition wagons and baggage, also dozens of four-horse wagons driven by civilians and containing
commissary and quartermaster supplies such as food and camp equipment.

Many a story is told of events in this neighborhood occurring especially during that winter of
1777-78 while the British held Philadelphia from late September to the following June. Several of these
tales focused on the importance of Streeper’s Tavern as an intelligence-gathering site for the American
cause due to its strategic location between the city and Valley Forge and because its owner, Abraham
Streeper,” was General George Washington’s adjutant at Valley Forge that winter. During it, Streeper
returned home to check on how his family was managing the inn during his absence. While here so
briefly, he was captured by the British either at the inn or in his nearby home (still standing at 610 Shady
Lane) and thrown into the notorious jail behind Independence Hall.

At another time, a detail of British soldiers once set out destroy Streeper’s Tavern by setting it
afire, as they had lately done to another inn at a strategic location. But they were prevented from doing
so by the swift action of Anthony Wayne and his men who had been alerted to the plan. Gratitude for
this deed by Anthony Wayne was later expressed by naming of a nearby one-block-long Narberth street
“Wayne Avenue,” as well as the long-lasting name “General Wayne Inn. It is unknown whether these
two wartime incidents occurred before or after the following confrontation took place in this vicinity,
causing British bloodshed. But it’s likely both incidents came afterward.

The gripping story is usually told that in the gathering dusk of a bitter December 1777 Sunday

evening, a detachment of Colonel James Potter’s cavalryman awaited a chance to strike at the enemy.

2 During the 1970s and ‘80s, this 1777 fortification was a frequent topic among local history buffs, some of whom recalled
seeing it.

8 1t’s said Lord Cornwallis sometimes sat at a front window of Streeper’s Tavern watching his own orderlies lead his horses
to the stone blacksmith shop directly across the street in Narberth where, at the time, the stone mile post stood just outside the
smithy’s door, not across the street where it is now.
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The mission of the Americans was to harass a British column returning down the Conestoga Road to the
warmth and high spirits of Tory-held Philadelphia, and to confront and capture any stragglers. The
terrain around here, and the way some roads met the main thoroughfare at oblique angles, provided
excellent cover for the American horsemen waiting by the sides of the main road. Seizing an
opportunity, the American cavalry flew down the Conestoga Road (Montgomery Avenue) in pursuit of
the disappearing column. Opposite Streeper’s Tavern they mortally wounded a British lieutenant and
captured two of his men who begged for mercy.

Peering from the tavern, Abraham Streeper came out wrapping a long wool muffler around his
head. He had the dying subaltern carried inside and placed on his cloak by the hearthside where he died.
The innkeeper searched in vain for some identification in the officer’s pockets. He found only some
varied English coins and a miniature painting of a young patrician English woman. Next morning
Streeper had his slave, Bob, dig a grave in Merion Meeting’s “Strangers Yard” while Streeper and his
wife placed the body in a winding sheet. The miniature passed down in the Streeper family through
daughter Mary and her children. In 1900, it was owned by Mrs. Joel Cook of Merion.

Among local skirmishes, Cornwallis’ biographers mention a specific one in which General
Cornwallis led a “foraging expedition”” on December 11, 1777. Almost certainly this refers to the one
described above (with the dead officer and captured foot soldiers). Since such an episode had serious
consequences, it required the chief commanding officer of British forces in America, General Howe, to
file a report to London, which he did. Also this clash might have involved Cornwallis’ own Thirty-Third
Regiment.

From Britain’s National Archives in London, my English cousin sent me nine pages, 11 %2 X 6 %
inches each, of Lower Merion activity that are copies of hand-written documents sent from Philadelphia
during Revolutionary War battles fought by the British Army here in 1777 and mailed to London,
arriving aboard the armed ship “Brilliant” in January 1778. Aboard that ship too was the British General
Lord Cornwallis, who had applied for a leave of absence to attend to some private business.

Whenever very serious matters and lots of killings and injuries of British officers and their men
occurred, General William Howe was required to write to London about it, including on one of these
pages a chart of deaths and military units served. My nine pages are very dark, but here is an example of

" Wickwire, Franklin and Mary. Cornwallis: The American Adventure. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Co., 1970, p. 104.
Footnote #46 cites Howe to Germain correspondence, Dec. 13, 1777. H.M.C., Stopfornd Sackville mss., 11, 86-87. Message
was sent by Cornwallis’ commanding general, William Howe. [This Dec. 11 “foraging expedition” is mentioned.]
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one passage:

Not judging it advisable to attack the Enemy,...the Army having remained in the same
position during [Nov. 6], marched at one [A.M. on] the 7th, the van and the main body
commanded as before to take position Edge Hill, one mile distant from the Enemy’s left. A corps
of one thousand men, composed of riflemen and other troops from the Enemy’s Northern Army,
were found by the vanguard, posted on the hill with cannon — Lord Cornwallis immediately
attacked with the 8th Light Infantry, supported by [his] 33d Regiment, and defeated this body
with a considerable loss of officers and men. [Mentioned was a thick woodland, one officer,
three enlisted men of Light Infantry Killed, and 30 to 40 other men killed or wounded.] Those 30

to 40 may have been the American “Enemy.”"

Surprisingly, this happened to be the same December 11 expedition in which Lower Merion’s
richest man, the Quaker miller John Roberts of Old Gulph Road took part, chosen because he knew the
area so well. Despite his claim the British forced him to be their guide on that particular foraging
expedition, Roberts nonetheless at war’s end was convicted of high treason because of it, hanged, and all
his properties seized. This punishment by his fellow Americans happened despite Roberts’ good works
and his having helped many American prisoners survive the rigors of the dreaded Walnut Street jail.

During the revolution in Lower Merion, there were two “hotspots” that could easily spark
unexpected tension between local patriots and British officials. One was hiring a prominent local person
to guide a British foraging expedition; the other was a tendency to repeatedly raid the property of a
prominent American leader, such as Dickinson.

Meanwhile, the two captured British foot soldiers from the rear of that same British raiding party
mentioned above that was heading back the city did not fare well. They were bound and led, one account
says, to a small stone house alongside Streeper’s blacksmith shop directly across from the inn on what is
now Narberth borough land. A sergeant, presumably British, is said to have thundered at the door “Open
up, open up.” Cautiously two wide-eyed teenage boys peered out and were asked, “where’s your paw?”
They replied, “Maw’s looking for ‘im.” In that story we are left cliff hanging about the next move.

By another account, those two captured British soldiers were detained and tied up in a house

immediately behind the one just described, across Haverford Avenue where it meets Montgomery.

75 British National Archives, London. Documents that originated in Philadelphia area in 1777 and traveled overseas where the
originals exist.
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(That’s a corner of John Dickinson’s farm where there was at the time a roadside rental house in the care
of his tenant farmer.) The mother of the family living in that Dickinson-owned small tenant house is said
to have killed the British soldiers with a knife, after she sent her teenage sons out to search for their
father.

If this story is true, these Killings of prisoners might have been revenge for damages to
Dickinson’s farm, which is known to have had the most destruction to private property in Lower Merion
Township by the British during the Revolution.

Horses and foodstuffs were the objects usually stolen in such raids, and often the British targeted
properties of persons favoring the American cause, sometimes setting them afire. The house of John
Dickinson’s father-in-law in the city was burned down by the British the same night they also torched
the “Cliveden” mansion at the Battle of Germantown.

One account of the clash outside Streeper’s Tavern says the redcoats at the time were returning
from one of their raids of targeted local farms. Other accounts note that the remains of the two soldiers
that the woman murdered were unearthed during construction of the Columbia Railroad — and where had
they been buried on the corner of Dickinson’s farm. Also, a large bone from one of those bodies is
believed to have been kept in the attic of an old house that stood on the hilly west side of Merion Road,
on that same farm at Montgomery Avenue.

Here and there today we still come across persons said to be direct descendants of soldiers in our
Valley Forge Army. Scattered around, for example, are descendants of Jacob Latch’ of Old Lancaster
Road, Merion. He, at home on a furlough from Valley Forge, spent his time making shoes for his
destitute Army comrades. Latch was also known as “Washington’s Runner” because he carried secret
dispatches for the General.

The episode of deadly December 1777 mayhem in Lower Merion may have been a rude
awakening for General Cornwallis. He’d seemingly had it all. Wasn’t he living here on a large farm in a
congenial neighborhood still full of peace-loving Quakers? Arriving on our shores, Cornwallis had
created an impression he wasn’t the typical Army officer on a tour of duty. Instead he had found a way

to continue each of his own deep personal ongoing interests simultaneously. He had wanted to be a

6 Mary Norris had continued to live there after her father’s death. John Dickinson, sensing danger to her large and rare book
collection, removed it before the fire, which a diarist reported seeing ablaze that night, a short distance north of Market Street
East.

" Ibid. Develin, p. 27. The name Latch has remained plentiful in the area since then. Narberth borough’s Charlotte Dorothy
Latch, known as Mrs. Bode, lived almost a century, and died here in March 2015.
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soldier, a farmer, a faithful husband, a traveler who was always engaged and sensitive about what was
going on around him. Juggling a wide range of interests was his way of wishing to experience greater
freedom, which he evidently learned to do on our doorstep. Cornwallis was at the very beginning of a
long and arguably brilliant career.

Simple country living of the kind he enjoyed with his young family in his native Suffolk had
such enormous appeal for British General Charles Cornwallis that his biographers make a special point
of saying he avoided living in downtown Philadelphia™ during that city’s occupation by the British. He
also thought that takeover a mistake. Where then did he live locally?

We know that during those nearly nine months of occupation, and at other times when he was in
the area, Cornwallis took over and maintained as his headquarters a handsome and quite large farm,
Maplewood, then belonging to Quaker farmer Reese Price of Lower Merion. It comprised a large house
and barn of stone and smaller buildings all on an uphill grade and having a southerly orientation.

The Rees Price family had returned to its very own comfortable property there by 1798, the year
Lower Merion’s tax lists® referred to their two-story stone house of 20 X 40 feet, also a lean-to, a
kitchen and a springhouse each of these of stone. Also taxed were Price’s many panes of window glass,
plus something called an Old Smokens made of logs.

The only strong reminder we have of that large property? today is its long entry path, Brookhurst
Avenue going north from Montgomery Avenue, as if following across from Narberth’s Price Avenue.

More familiar to many people is the mention that General Cornwallis had his horses shod at the
small stone smithy opposite the nearby inn. His eventual surrender at Yorktown in 1781 ended the

8 Known as the most active and aggressive general the British sent to America, Cornwallis arrived here in 1775 as a major
general in the British Army and an earl, to serve in General William Howe’s army under Howe and General Henry Clinton.
The idea was that Cornwallis eventually would have his own command in Canada. A man of moderation and common sense,
Cornwallis was also a people-person and a nature-lover. He hated to be idle, something all generals had to deal with at times.
Deeply in love with his wife, Cornwallis didn’t share some officers’ interest in keeping mistresses in America and wasn’t
attracted to attending theater or gambling which would have drawn him to cities. His wife’s death was a turning point, and he
began to move gradually away from fighting toward administration. Thus even as he ended his American adventure in defeat,
Cornwallis would look forward to his imperial years ahead with full backing of the crown all the way, both in India and in
Northern Ireland. During India’s 2,500 years of history, Cornwallis saw to it that places like Bombay were under British
control for a while.

S Wickwire, F. and A. Cornwallis: The American Adventure. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Co., 1970, p. 101. They affirm that,
although an area resident during the British occupation of Philadelphia, Cornwallis did not live in the city itself.

8 Bulletin of the Historical Society of Montgomery County, PA. Spring 1984, vol. XXIV, No. 8, p. 182-213, Lower Merion
in 1798. Especially pages 192-193 and pages 208-209, regarding its tax assessment district with its list or description of each
dwelling house. Rees Price is taxed for his 134 acres on p. 209.

81 Atlas of Lower Merion, Montgomery County. Philadelphia: A.H.Mueller, 1896, plate 3. Brookhurst is shown with its
acreage already drastically reduced. A short street, Maple Avenue, off Montgomery, existed then where ACME Market’s
driveway is today.
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American Revolution and brought American independence. Cornwallis then moved on to become
commander-in-chief on two other continents, India® and Iceland, fulfilling his sense of obligation to
king and country.

Cornwallis’ departure from our shores seems very much the overarching reason why some
people felt Reese Price and his wife needed a new home and shouldn’t just be satisfied to reclaim their
old one. Word had gotten around about this matter. Actually Reese Price did have a new stone house
built in 1803 to usher in the new century. This time it stands proudly on the main road at 714
Montgomery Avenue and his kinsman Joseph Price designed and was building it. Fittingly as it neared
completion, an enormous public reception with prominent guests including a son of President John
Adams took place with a gala ox roast shared by all. The event seemed a lot like a true Philadelphia
election-season block party for the masses.

On this occasion, the friendly crowd felt the need to celebrate as if they were celebrating Reese
Price’s American independence from that other house. And so this new dwelling on a busy main street
designed by a Revolutionary war vet quickly became a meaningful symbol of American democracy and
a page-turner marking the exit of British military power from our shores. Even so, it wasn’t long before
Mrs. Reese Price would return to the privacy and relative of seclusion of her older homestead.
Fortunately, the symbolic newer Price house survives.s

And although ineligible for membership in any carpenters’ guild in Philadelphia because he lived
outside the city, Joseph Price nonetheless does reflect in the exterior detailing of this federal era stone
farmhouse of 1803, 714 Montgomery Avenue, Narberth, either the direct or indirect influence of
specific designs published in a rulebook of Philadelphia’s principal carpenters’ guild. So, in this sense
this house for prosperous farmer Rees Price “goes by the book™ more so than much of Joseph Price’s
other known work. And the result is one of the finest examples of a single block detached Federal era
stone farmhouse in the suburbs southwest of Philadelphia. The period of significance is the year this
dwelling was built.

Meanwhile, an important unanswered question about this builder’s construction activity lingers.

Did Joseph Price in fact build the outstanding 3%2-story, three-bay Shippen-Wistar House, 238 South 4th

82 General Cornwallis brought Bombay under British control at the time in India, but it was several years before electricity
reached Bombay.

8 Editor’s note: In 1999, this house (714 Montgomery Avenue) was determined to be eligible for listing on the National
Register; however, it was not listed because of the objection of its then owner, Lankenau Hospital. It currently houses the
“Hamper Shop,” Lankenau’s thrift store.
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Street at the SW. Corner of Locust Street in Philadelphia, with its corner-house plan and efficient use of
interior space?

After consulting Price’s Diary,* the answer is a confident yes. For it clearly states that important
city house was built for William Shippen, Jr., the renowned physician and medical educator from Lower
Merion who headed the medical department of the Continental Army 1777-81. Dr. Shippen was both a
close friend of Joseph Price and one of Price’s most prominent clients. And while the construction date
of this Philadelphia house is usually given as 1765 without mentioning a builder, Price’s Diary specifies
Price’s supervision of construction work on a Dr. Shippen house — declaring it completed at the end of
1788. And the latter date far better agrees with Shippen’s then current activity. For after receiving his
medical degree at the University of Edinburgh in Scotland, he began teaching anatomy at our nation’s
first medical school® (at Penn) in Philadelphia until the Revolutionary War began. After his Army
service, he returned to Penn Medical School for thirty more years, this time teaching surgery and
midwifery in addition to anatomy.

It was during this 1780s period of his return to teaching at Penn that he got something he surely
needed — a new house in the city. When he retired after a total of forty years teaching, it took three
people to replace Penn Medicine’s strong first teacher.

Then too, this Joseph Price-designed house for Dr. Shippen is also a rare if not unique instance
wherein Price was supervising Philadelphia carpenters who undoubtedly were members of one of the
carpenters’ guilds in the city. After paying the bills these subcontracting carpenters submitted to him,
Price received his own final payment of £25/7/6 from his customer, which suggests that this construction
project Price undertook for Dr. Shippen was a substantial one, not a mere addition. The chief relevance
of the early Shippen commission to Price’s work in general is that it shows Joseph Price brought
sophisticated awareness of good architecture and fine carpentry to all of his subsequent projects. (An
earlier segment of Price’s Diary may have existed, that could have thrown more light on the Shippen
commission, but if so, it is now lost.)

Joseph Price moreover was no stranger to the type of architect represented by the Shippen-Wistar

House, as his kinsman David Price’s old four-bay stone homestead “Green Hill” (built 1695) in Lower

8 Ibid.

8 Clyde Barker, I.D., a surgeon from the faculty, served as Penn Medicine’s historian-in-chief during its 250" Anniversary
celebration in 2015 as our nation’s first medical school. Dr. Barker has much to say on the dust-up between that medical
school’s earliest trailblazers, William Shippen, Jr. and John Morgan. See Pennsylvania Gazette’s “The Link” July/August
2015, p. 26-33 by Dave Zeitlis.
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Merion, although only 2% stories high, had a similar soaring webbed pair of chimneys at one gable end.
Also on his frequent trip trips to the county seat of Norristown, Price could see several pairs of webbed
end-chimneys near the court house, and others in Bridgeport nearby, assuming they were built by then.
Also, Joseph Price possessed a deep devotion to certain clients he regarded as superior people.
Dr. Shippen was one of these. After that dedicated physician died in c. 1798, the mantle of Joseph’s
admiration fell upon the shoulders of his first cousin Reese Price, and next upon the financier of Lower
Merion Academy’s construction, the high-minded and much-revered Jacob Jones. Shippen and Jones

were of an earlier generation, and Reese Price nearer Joseph’s own age.

The Federal Era

By the beginning of the Federal period, travel was becoming very congested on the Lancaster
Road (Montgomery Avenue). There was almost continual traffic. Stagecoaches, picturesque brightly
blue-painted Conestoga wagons and farmers’ lumbering herds of animals being driven to market in
Philadelphia were plentiful. Some suggestion of this traffic on a slack day can be seen in a well-known
engraving of Merion Meeting area c. 1800. Still, in sharp contrast with this frenzied roadway activity
was the largely intact country atmosphere of the local farms, many of them large ones, and most of them
flourishing. So it is interesting to realize what prominent politicians in that era felt they must do to get
out the vote. The earliest form of political clambake hereabouts was Federalist Party ox-roasts at
election time. This tradition may have taken its cue from a practice some pre-Revolutionary Philadelphia
eating establishments had of holding such roasts at infrequent intervals simply as non-political public
entertainment. In any event, one or more Federal era candidates used this means locally to make political
hay, in a district known to be staunchly Federalist throughout the existence of that political party of true-
blue old-guard residents.

These candidates, whoever they were, were likely to have been comfortably well off because this
was an expensive type of meal for large numbers of people. Besides knowing the location - in Narberth,
opposite Streeper’s Tavern outdoors on land the inn owned® - all we have at present is speculation on
who, between the years 1796 and 1816, the sponsoring political candidates were.

[One such candidate], because he easily could have afforded to pay for this type of repast, [might

8 The inn at the time owned the open land where two ancient roads were drawing together at a Picket Post site. Such open
land so close to the inn made it very useful for ox-roast gatherings. Eventually, this openness gave way to a tennis-court club
until taken over in 2015 by housing construction.
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have been] John Adams, victorious in his 1796 presidential race by a narrow margin, with Thomas
Jefferson on the ticket as his vice-presidential running mate. Or the presidential and vice- presidential
candidates John Adams and C. C. Pinckney in their losing battle against Thomas Jefferson and his
running mate Burr in 1800, which was the first political party overturn in United States history, an event
sometimes referred to as the “Revolution of 1800.” Or, it might have been in connection with
Pinckney’s losing race against Thomas Jefferson by a landslide in 1804. And so on through 1816, which
marked the last time the Federalist Party put up a presidential candidate in the general election.

Independence had been an early watchword in Lower Merion, the municipality surrounding
present-day Narberth. And like many other fringe communities near big cities, the Township relished
that status. Tight government control in any form had no appeal for Merion Welsh Quakers ever since
they long ago were disappointed as a community over the turn-down of their requests for separate status
as a Welsh-speaking barony despite their best efforts and active petitioning.

Certainly, absorbing a would-be “separatist” district like that into the city never held much
promise. And Lower Merion made absolutely certain to avoid the City of Philadelphia’s expected
sweeping annexation of the many Philadelphia County districts by jumping the gun and seceding from
that county seventy years before annexation would have given it permanent city status in 1854, as it did
to a district such as the unincorporated village of Chestnut Hill across the Schuylkill River. Thus Lower
Merion was hooked up as undisputed keystone and richest district in the newly created and mostly rural
county of Montgomery. It was a resounding victory for the Quaker ideal of political authority being
vested at the county level. That decisive move was made in 1784, and a prominent local landowner had
a firm hand in assuring it.

Clearly acting in the township’s best interests at the time of Montgomery County’s creation by
the state was no less than John Dickinson, head of the Supreme Executive Council of Pennsylvania
(equivalent to governor.). A statesman, historian and author, Dickinson knew that prosperous townships
like Lower Merion stood a better chance of avoiding eventual annexation than weaker ones.

There was also definitely a personal side to his decisive action to avert Lower Merion’s
annexation by the city in the way he did. For Dickinson was intensely proud that surgeon Edward Jones
of Bala in Merioneth, his great-grandfather on his mother’s side,*” who had in 1681 purchased acreage

directly from William Penn and thus was among “the first purchasers of Pennsylvania” only months

87 John Dickinson’s mother was a Cadwallader.
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after Penn had received his Charter from King Charles 11 for the land destined to be Pennsylvania. That
Dickinson ancestor also led the seventeen immigrant families — the first Welsh colonists to settle in
America — who arrived here in 1682 and built the Merion meetinghouse.

So proud was John Dickinson of those particular family ties that he managed to purchase back
half of that forebearer’s Merion/Narberth plantation on the open market after it had been sold out of the
family. When he took possession of his ancestral land, Merion was a one - windmill village, and that
windmill®® was on Dickinson’s newly acquired property. Dickinson still owned its 100 acres when he
signed the legislature’s document creating Montgomery County. Also John Dickinson’s anonymously
published “Letters from a Farmer in Pennsylvania” (1768) that were so very celebrated and influential in
the American colonies’ push toward independence from Britain, clearly had in mind that family
plantation Dickinson loved in Merion/Narberth. For his ownership of half of it enabled him to
characterize himself as “a Farmer in Pennsylvania,” which he otherwise was not.

Only after marrying Mary Norris in 1770 did the couple begin acquiring large acreage in Adams
and Cumberland Counties that became the eventual Dickinson College campus.® Even when Charles
Willson Peale painted a certain John Dickinson oil portrait while engaged in his famous series of
likenesses of American leaders, Dickinson saw to it that the image’s visible landscape background
portrayed the west bank of the Schuylkill River — precisely in the direction of that farm.

Yet Dickinson wasn’t too much in love with his old windmill in Merion to know which way the
wind [was] blowing. This was so even though the “personal” side of things at the county level extended
to his having the satisfaction that the village freshly founded so as to be designated the county seat took
the name Norris (later Norristown) after his book-collecting wife Mary’s family. That name was an
obvious choice. For Dickinson’s wife Mary was the daughter of Isaac Norris of “Fair Hill” in
Philadelphia. He was a direct descendent of the first Isaac Norris on our shores, who had acquired vast
acreage® in what became Montgomery County. Like Lower Merion, those lands had been part of

8 This windmill, an expensive item, appears on the inventory of Joseph Tunis’ estate. Two generations of the Tunis family
(owners of the inn adjoining Merion Friends Meeting) owned this farm. And as they stayed briefly in Holland after leaving
their native Germany en route to America, they apparently developed a reliance on windmills — using this one most likely to
pump water for their cows.

8 See Carlisle Indian Industrial School: Indigenous Histories, Memories and Reclamations, by Fear-Segal, Jacqueline and
Rose, Susan D. (University of Nebraska Press), 2016. It examines how native American children were stripped of their
languages, religions and cultures at a Pennsylvania school seeking to turn them into “white people.”

% Those holdings, called “Norriton” by Isaac Norris, Sr. included all of the present Borough of Norristown, all of the
townships of East and West Norriton and part of Worcester township. Acquired while choosing a Norristown site for a mill
before 1711, Isaac Norris, Sr. bought that land from a Swede, much of it remaining in the Norris family for generations.
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Philadelphia County, and they too would have been destined for eventual incorporation into the city, had
the legislature with Dickinson’s full support, not taken action.

When Montgomery County was established by act of the General Assembly of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and approved by the Supreme Executive Council, presided over by its
president John Dickinson, its formation at the time was seen as a considerable convenience to the public
in the administration of justice. One indisputable way in which the need to focus on belonging to a new
county in 1784 prepared Lower Merion people to accept eventual residential suburbia with its longer
travel time was that, from their neighborhood, the new county seat was actually much farther away than
the previous courts of law so accessible in downtown Philadelphia. The Lower Merion diarist Joseph
Price noted the change, requiring him often to make long journeys to Norristown on horseback. The new
county did of course receive a Welsh name.

And never mind how determined Lower Merion was at this time to stay independent of
Philadelphia. This locality was equally focused on capitalizing on every advantage of living on the city’s
edge — a combination of features that was a true benchmark of a community intent on staying suburban.
The other suburban trait it possessed at this early date was that the residential character of the place was
emphasized over and above commerce and industry — its mill district being well hidden from the main
roads back along a meandering creek. And both the larger-than-average size of its farms compared with
a nearby locale such as rural Radnor Township, and the number of its farms giving a good impression as
to their upkeep and prosperity, would have made it easier to imagine Lower Merion’s future in a new,
mostly rural county than citified.*

So, in just over a half-century of transition into full-fledged suburbia that started here at the close
of the eighteenth century, this locality did have occasional problems about identity and sticking together,
but generally it was a place with a well-defined character due to the presence of the Friends
Meetinghouse, the next-door inn, and farms of prominent Quakers lining busy crossroads. As
mentioned, by the eighteenth century the area already had its own mill district several miles away which
saw many industries, come and go over the next hundred years.

But the external forces capable of bringing regional transportation routes across this area and
upgrading and expanding these throughway systems could be very disruptive of newly forming

communities as well as older ones. This uncertainty often worried people and left them wondering, what

% [Vicky’s note: work on this]
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next? The latest incursion, the Lancaster Turnpike, was kind to this locality, by avoiding it. %

Capture of a Pirate Ship

With President John Adams at the helm and Philadelphia still the nation’s capital, a celebrated
international incident took place off our shores during the Quasi-War with France that caused sparks to
fly here in the heart of our old Libertyville neighborhood. It was early 1798, the year that controversy
dogged the founding of the U.S. Navy in Philadelphia. Our young nation was on the brink of war with
France our former ally, over French privateers menacing our shipping off every major American seaport.
The two major American political parties, the Federalists led by Adams and Thomas Jefferson’s
Republicans were at loggerheads over the issue.

Jefferson argued we should remain neutral and not risk break-up of our nation since there was no
national consensus favoring war, Adams having just been elected by a narrow electoral margin.
Jefferson insisted the Federalists were just trying to invent a crisis to maneuver us into an alliance with
Britain. Founding a Navy would only complicate things, deepen our debt, and draw us for certain into
war, claimed the Republicans. Barbary piracy on the high seas from Africa had existed many years. Was
this new threat now actually something worse than that?

They also criticized a peace delegation Adams sent to France — until it was realized that the
French leader Talleyrand was using the stalemate to demand of those envoys extortion and bribery as a
condition of a peace settlement. Otherwise the entrenched privateer network was destined to continue, as

it was a lucrative source of revenue for the post-Revolutionary French government.

92 Editor’s note: In another version of this introductory chapter, the author stated the following:” In the colonial era two small
villages stood on Narberth’s turf along a primitive twisting highway (Narberth’s front street) leading westward out of
Philadelphia while these local lands were still part of Philadelphia County. One of those settlements was a Quaker
meetinghouse hub, the other an agricultural service area anchored by its cluster of log cabins. This meetinghouse district had
started as a seat of both religious and civil authority for the area during the Welsh settlement, its school building too a local
first, with the inn offering food and rest to travelers and worshipers alike. For that main road was a vital link with Lancaster,
one of America’s earliest inland cities. And the inn, its property originally spanning both sides of the road, was a stage-coach
stop along the route. This artery quickly became overcrowded with local and long-distance passenger and freight traffic. So
the Lancaster turnpike was opened a mile from here in 1794. This somewhat straightened path between the two cities
bypassed this immediate area. However, the development of our two local settlements soon speeded up anew when the
Philadelphia and Columbia Railroad began rail service in 1832 between Philadelphia and the Lancaster vicinity, following
closely in this neighborhood the route of the Old Lancaster Road. It made unofficial stops here at the inn and at Libertyville,
as the service area by then was called. Yet the character of the locality remained agricultural, with some city folk seeking
sojourns here in the summer months as they had first learned to do in the 1790s. Relocation of the rail line southward to its
present right of way and its takeover by the Pennsylvania Railroad did not immediately result in construction of a local rail
station. But when this finally did occur and EIm Station was built here in 1870, this set the scene for the foundation of a town
along what became known as the Main Line of the Pennsylvania Railroad.” Lancaster Turnpike became Lancaster Avenue
(Route 30)
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Response on our shores was swift. Outrage accompanying it led to a huge out pouring of public
support for President Adams’ aim of starting a powerful navy and going to war. The Republicans, by
contrast, fell silent and were harassed as possibly subversive. By springtime, frenzy and patriotism were
widespread on the home front.

In mid-summer 1798, a stirring event occurred that had repercussions here in Narberth. The
occurrence took place just as plans got underway for our federal government to build six frigates, a type
of heavy yet fast-moving and well-armed warship, that launched the U.S. Navy.

Then amid these feverish preparations came the news of the sensational capture of the French
pirate vessel “La Croyable” by the Philadelphia sea captain Stephen Decatur, father of the eventual
Commodore Stephen Decatur, Jr., who would soon captain one of those new frigates.

The arrival of Decatur's captured prize under guard at Philadelphia, excited universal satisfaction
in our city. And bells tolled to celebrate this first successful effort to wipe away the deep disgrace to our
nation and to its name being caused by actions of the French republic. Congress at the time was
deliberating whether to declare all our treaties with France null and void because of that nation’s
continuing flagrant violation of them. A bill before the House to encourage capture of French armed
vessels by allowing a bounty for their apprehension was under discussion but would lose by a forty-one
to forty vote. Also the Alien and Sedition Act being debated in Congress was sought as an especially
effective way to prevent our country from being drawn into the jaws of France, as Holland and
Switzerland already had.

The capture of “La Croyable” near Delaware Bay by Decatur’s medium-size twenty-gun U.S.
Navy frigate “Delaware” on the evening of July 7, 1798 was immediately recognized as an event of
national importance. “Croyable” was the first armed French vessel captured by the U.S. Navy in the
quasi-war with France going on at the time. With American naval capacity at a very low ebb since the
Revolution and six heavy-duty frigates authorized by Congress but not yet in action, the capture signaled
a great moral victory and a godsend for the shipping industry. For at the time our young nation was
virtually held captive along our East Coast due to the constant ship hijackings by French privateers
operating with full French government approval, their crews of sailors trained as soldiers.

Manned by a veteran pirate commander and a crew of seventy, the new fourteen-gun schooner
“La Croyable” after marauding Delaware Bay for only two days, had already captured two prizes (an
English brig, and also the Liverpool-bound American ship “Liberty” just out of Philadelphia). Once
captured, that Gallic pirate vessel was refitted and taken into the U.S. Navy, renamed “Retaliation” and
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placed under command of Lieutenant William Bainbridge, its mission: to cruise in search of other
privateers. All of “La Croyable’s” contents were quickly auctioned in Philadelphia.

Locally at the time of the capture, Quaker simplicity had gone into temporary eclipse as
Philadelphians aped French customs to an exaggerated extent. Public sentiment was strongly in favor of
France here, even though local newspapers were constantly full of reports of French sea piracy outside
all the American ports. Newspaper guest editorials sometimes chastised Philadelphians for their
Francophile leanings.

Adding friction to an already tense situation, numerous French ships were in port here in early
July that year. And some of them were embroiled in controversy while being forcibly detained under
quarantine at Fort Mifflin with large numbers of French loyalist passengers and some of their black
servants. These vessels included the armed ship “Melpomene,” “Daurada” and “Josephus.”

At the time too, scores of French “West Indian planters who had fled Haiti due to Toussaint
L'Ouverture's bloody insurrection were a familiar sight strolling along Market Street. And who was
mainly in charge? President Adams’ Federalist Party was battling to save its supremacy and overcome
serious tension with Jefferson’s Republican Party, already growing strong and favoring the French.
Jefferson’s Republicans were not about to forget that our Revolutionary War with Britain had just ended
due to the combined American-French siege of Yorktown, Virginia, at which General Cornwallis
surrendered in 1781. Meanwhile, authorities in Philadelphia could not risk any sudden attempt of a
popular nature to throw open the jail doors and set these French pirates from the “Croyable” free.

So, President Adams had the satisfaction of sending the captured crew of “La Croyable” inland
to prison in Lancaster. The prisoners were convoyed there by the First City Troop of Cavalry and
infantrymen of McPherson’s Blues on the afternoon of July twenty-seventh, after a delay to increase the
guard force when several French, captives resisted their transfer.

This capture at sea was one of the last great moments of victory for Adams as our president. This
time he got to use his elite units of voluntary military battalions to serve our Nation’s best interests. Not
by any measure, just narrow interests only of the Federalist Party, as Jefferson’s Republican Party had
been claiming® constantly as it played catch-up and was starting its own copy-cat volunteer battalions to

compete with the Federalist friendly First and Second City Troop and McPherson’s Blues.

% For insight into East Coast post-Revolutionary political culture and its competing groups, see “Political Conflict and Public
Contest: Rituals of National Celebration in Philadelphia, 1788-1815, by Albrecht Koschnik. The Pennsylvania Magazine of
History & Biography. Vol. CXVIII, No. 3, July 1994, p. 209-248.
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To be expected, Major Joseph Price faithfully recorded in his diary of July thirty-first, 1798:
“About twelve or thirteen light horse and perhaps twenty foot in a stage coach returning to town. Been
g(u)arding some french [sic] up to Lancaster...they were taken off our coasts.” So how come a Liberty
Pole was raised at Libertyville over the “Croyable” incident? Caused by ship owners celebrating no
doubt.

Richard Tunis is the obvious person to have erected that Liberty Pole in front of the house at
1226 Montgomery Avenue®* that he had just bought at a sheriff sale and moved his brother into. The
capture of the “Croyable” would have filled Tunis with exuberance for he had a wharf on the Delaware
River just below Market and owned all manner of ships, sloops, brigs and schooners, and had sea
captains in his employ with regular routes such as bringing tobacco from Virginia. If anyone in the
Tunis family set up that celebratory Liberty Pole in their yard close to the road, it would have remained
there a while. That would have been in sharp contrast to Revolutionary times when such patriotic
devices were torn down by the British as fast as the Americans planted them. And then too, the reminder
that the “Croyable” had just captured a local ship named “Liberty” when itself was caught, would easily
have suggested Liberty Pole to Tunis.

According to a misleading early twentieth-century Narberth source, a Liberty Pole was set up by
“French soldiers”® at the old trading post site — surely a vague and misleading account. For such a
marker then erected for “patriotic” reasons by Frenchmen might have been seen as a punishable act of
defiance.

A better-known Liberty Pole incident in nearby Gladwyne the following year was more
provocative in nature than celebratory. Its raising of a Liberty Cap on a hickory pole® prompted

Congress then in session in Philadelphia, the nation's capital, to send out a detachment of troops to arrest

% It is interesting to speculate what a device to celebrate, symbolically, the freeing of American coastal waters from French
pirates might have looked like. Probably placed upon a tree or a pole it may have carried the captured pirate ship’s name. Or
it may have been an Americanized version of a Liberty Tree such as French sympathizers had solemnly consecrated “to
liberty” during the 1760s. Richard Tunis would have been painfully aware that the French pirates in his day had many friends
and accomplices ashore here who were supplying intelligence overseas about the best vessels to plunder that were due to
arrive or depart from our port city. And his banner may have dealt with that.

% When asked about a Liberty Pole erected by “French soldiers,” Edwin Wolf 2d, the Library Company of Philadelphia’s
noteworthy historian, not surprisingly gave the assertion no credence.

% Llewellyn’s controversial Liberty Pole may somewhat have resembled an old-time Democratic device, a seventy-five-foot
hickory pole erected by digging a post hole and trench, and then forcing the pole to stand straight by means of a pair of
wagon wheels attached to an axle. Placed on top was a red cap. A large sign stated “Down with all tyrants. No gag laws.
Liberty or Death!” After their acquittal, patriot farmer Llewellyn along with George Britton, Samuel Young and Archibald
Minges became neighborhood heroes.
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the perpetrators on a charge of “seditious conspiracy,” chiefly Captain Morris Llewellyn of Gladwyne.
In early autumn of 1799, the Federal Circuit Court records show, Llewellyn and others met in Gladwyne
to protest the Sedition Act passed in 1798 to curb criticism. Llewellyn was brought to trial but not

convicted.

Village of Libertyville

The events of the Revolution and its aftermath gave the locality Revolutionary credentials it soon
employed, when the Columbia and Philadelphia Railroad came through, by creating the village of
Libertyville. The name preserved the rhetoric of patriotism.®” And it was the first name applied to any
section of Narberth. The village received that name while our country was trying to consolidate its
diverse elements in order to establish a national character, and while patriotism was considered the most
important sentiment a citizen might have. Then in its heroic phase, the American ideal of liberty clearly
stood for personal and moral accountability. That is in sharp contrast to our own day when, although it
demands respect, that ideal has been turned upside down, and liberty now so often means license.

The choice of name for this village also reflected the very early beginnings of the railroad age,
with its need for legible signs to be read by a large influx of people traveling westward. Their immediate
destination, Columbia, was also the gateway further west and to Yorktown in Virginia and the
Southwest. Libertyville meant such a sign and symbol, an eloquent reminder of Philadelphia’s heritage
as the most hallowed ground of American liberty.%

The name called to mind too that this neighborhood in particular pioneered the advancement of
freedom long before the war of independence by providing Swedes with some of their earliest
opportunities to trade freely as individuals with the Indians (rather than as agents of the Swedish crown
colony, as already mentioned). Surely few people more so than Richard Tunis would have understood
better how keenly the Swedes had seized their first free-trade opportunity there on Montgomery Avenue.
For Tunis, as mentioned above, had just bought the then still-standing Swedish log cabin at 1226

Montgomery — the one believed built for storage supposedly at the Indians’ request. He of all people,

%7 Persons hoping to get a sense of what the early village of Libertyville was like, or its patriotic “Liberty Pole” erected there
on Montgomery Avenue while Philadelphia was still our nation’s capital, need only to board a #44 SEPTA bus eastbound on
that street before it reaches Essex Avenue. A 40-minute ride takes you to Fifth and Market Streets and the Liberty Bell.

% QOur neighborhood also enabled Welsh Friends to find safe haven from religious persecution so they felt at liberty to
establish here one of the earliest houses of worship in America (built 1695), still standing just over the borough line in Lower
Merion Township.
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ship owner that he was, would have celebrated there by erecting a Liberty Pole as the French captives
passed en route to prison. And before long the Libertyville moniker here did become a very congenial
one for a hamlet the Columbia Railroad passed through. For the striding female figure of Columbia was
liberty’s traditional symbol throughout the nineteenth century.

If in our day the human race can successfully strive for dignity and freedom, Narberth by
remembering and affirming its earlier identity as Libertyville,* has a message that needs to be told to the

world.

Columbia Railroad

The state legislature in 1828 authorized construction of the Columbia Railroad. It was completed
in 1834, and not a moment too soon. Already, in 1790 alone, some ten thousand Conestoga wagons,
brightly painted and hitched to teams of four, six and even ten horses, had been required to haul
merchandise between Philadelphia and Pittsburgh by way of the Old Lancaster Road (Montgomery
Avenue). Traffic on this Narberth artery was unparalleled in American history prior to the introduction
of steam power. And after the new Lancaster Turnpike, America’s first macadamized road, was
constructed several years later, that number kept climbing’s deadly.

By the opening of the Erie Canal in 1825, New York had been vigorously preempting
Philadelphia’s claim to being the nation’s largest city. The Columbia Railroad turned out to be too little
too late. But it stirred things up considerably among farmers in this vicinity and all along its main route.
And it turned out to be one of the crucial factors, besides the slightly later Pennsylvania Railroad, that
opened up suburban development in what became known as Philadelphia’s Main Line.

The double-track of the new rail line was officially launched by the departure of two trains
“Lancaster” and “Columbia” Baldwin locomotives at Columbia on October 7, 1834 carrying Governor
George Wolf, state officials and dignitaries. These V.I.P.s departed on their sixty-mile journey from
Columbia at 8 a.m. and arrived at 6 a.m. in Philadelphia.’®® When the State continued the line to
Pittsburgh, the route’s full length was 394 miles. In Narberth the Columbia rail route hugged the south

side of Montgomery Avenue except where it made a wide arc around Edward R. Price’s house (714

9 That said, our Libertyville in the early years seems to have been a less important stop than Athensville (Ardmore), the first
“official” station stop on the Columbia Line from Philadelphia.

100 poulson’s Advertiser, Philadelphia, 3 July 1834 issue contains an eye-witness account of the first few trips by a steam
railroad train operating between Philadelphia and Columbia.
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Montgomery Avenue). Also just west of here in Wynnewood, a similar arc occurred around the Robert
Owen house - in both instances, after what must have been strenuous efforts to protect the privacy of
those properties.

One eye-witness account comes from the son of a tenant-farming couple who lived on the
grounds of Edward R. Price’s 714 Montgomery Avenue property while he lived there. The Columbia
Railroad ran directly through the orchard behind Price’s house. Their young son, Adolphus Edler,'*
would stand in the orchard by the tracks with a basket or pan of apples and hand them to passengers
aboard the moving train. The youth easily could run fast enough to keep pace with the train and
distribute apples to passengers. At the time, the engines all were named for certain prominent persons.
So an inquiry about a train’s arrival at Libertyville was personalized as “How soon will ‘Bill Jones’ be
due?”

Libertyville flourished and formed one of the cells (like nearby Merionville, Athensville, Merion
Square, Humphreysville and Academyville) from which Lower Merion Township grew and expanded.
That hamlet’s location on the route of the first railroad to Lancaster County and Pittsburgh was the key
to its existence. This held true until the rail route was moved much farther south of Montgomery Avenue
to its present location in 1851. And all the while, Philadelphia had become one of the world’s foremost
industrial centers — the colossus in it being Baldwin Locomotive Works.1%? Its very first engine had
traveled the Columbia route and was an instant success. Decades later a huge skilled workforce was
producing Baldwin steam engines, each one made to order, many sent round the world, always with a
“Philadelphia U.S.A.” plate on them.

A Lawman in Libertyville

Law and order would become such a priority here, spurring people to go so far as to create a
town to achieve it, that this prompts curiosity about what protective measures, if any, this neighborhood
had relied upon earlier, in quieter times. While there was certainly no provision here for police
protection, the area did have in place the ancient British legal system'® whereby a Justice of the Peace

(appointed in colonial times, elected since the Revolution) had nearly all criminal cases brought before

101 An old man’s story. Our Town, 22 June 1916, p.1.

102 Brown, John K. The Baldwin Locomotive Works 1831-1915. Johns Hopkins University Press, 1995.

103 Manual, a Pennsylvania law almanac, 1868. See section V1l of Constitution of Pennsylvania, on justices of the peace, p.
50. B.G. Alderfer, Montgomery County Story, 1951, p. 101.
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him, except ones involving the death penalty, and these went to the county court. Only persons of some
prominence in the community served in this post, and they were not required to be learned in the law.

Armstrong E. McKeever, Justice of the Peace at Libertyville from 1846 to 1870, is a good
example of the type, as he took office during the formative period of American law, that is, prior to
1850. McKeever was a man of means, a stockholder in various railroad and canal projects, owned a
substantial library,*> and had married the girl next door from a high-profile family. Descendant of a
colonial Scotch-Irish sea captain and a fur trader’s daughter, McKeever, a second-generation local
resident, was a natural choice as squire.

Moreover, McKeever left his mark on his Libertyville house at 1226 Montgomery Avenue in
some surprising ways. Yes, he created a jail cell in the basement all right. But he also was close kin of a
well-known Philadelphia prizefighter Charley McKeever, portrayed in the ring in a couple of major
paintings by the great master Thomas Eakins.

And coincidentally Squire McKeever’s Libertyville house in the early-1930s had been
transformed into a serious art dealer’s establishment, The Grassburger Gallery, that featured the only
solo exhibit in his lifetime for the Eakins protégé, painter Charles Bregler. The event'®® was attended by
Thomas Eakins” widow Susan Eakins who lent a painting by her husband for display on that occasion —
not, however, of Charley McKeever.

McKeever’s house of stone and wood, still privately owned at 1226 Montgomery Avenue (its log
portion replaced late in the nineteenth century), had a basement jail cell*®” lock-up that lately serves as a
private wine cellar. Most likely built originally as a root cellar, this small room may be the oldest
surviving jail cell in the county. According to nineteenth-century penal practices, the darkness of a
holding cell was meant to instill fear and cause remorse in the prisoner.'®® This cell also could have

served as a convenient hiding place on the Underground Railroad, as next-door buildings no longer

104 For his three successive commissions as Justice of the Peace, see records at Pennsylvania State Archives, Harrisburg,
report from RG26 file.

105 Will #4150, 1870, Montgomery County Court House; inventory #2301, 1871.

16 Told to me by Seymour Adelman (1907-1985), a Philadelphia collector of art and books whom Susan Eakins once
painted. Adelman brought her to the Bregler exhibit in his father’s lavish touring car. Adleman was profiled in the New
Yorker magazine in 1979.

107 Even as late as the early-1980s, it still had some of the bars in place at one window, though bars from the other window
had been removed, and a rusting iron cell-door was still attached as late as the early-1940s.

108 Correspondence with the Pennsylvania Prison Society.

Chapter 1 Page 52



standing at 1236 Montgomery Avenue reportedly had harbored escaping slaves.® If so, might not an
elected peace officer such as McKeever, himself a Quaker, in such circumstances face a particularly
troubling dilemma in deciding whether to give refuge to fugitive slaves himself, or to condone his next-
door neighbor's doing so?*°

By 1851, Libertyville boasted more than a dozen buildings clustered at what is now Montgomery
Avenue. Besides the Justice of the Peace, these included a store, a wheelwright shop and smithy and the
log-and-stone house (still standing at 610 Shady Lane) that had been serving as an informal station stop
for the Columbia Railroad. Here it is said passengers often waited inside during inclement weather for
the train’s arrival.

But the community character of the place declined after the Columbia track bed was abandoned.
True, Libertyville remained the only village in the immediate vicinity for a decade after the EIm station
stop on the Pennsylvania Railroad was established. And the old Libertyville neighborhood within a
couple of blocks of 1226 Montgomery Avenue where this hamlet’s name was first used even kept its
place-name as a locality inscribed on pages of the Federal Census record of 1900, some five years after
the area had been incorporated into the Borough of Narberth. Certainly Libertyville continued to be
occupied and to flourish, but it was no longer the hub of activity it had been earlier. A similar thing
happened to the village of Merion Square (Gladwyne) - largest town in Lower Merion until it was
bypassed by the Pennsylvania Railroad’s Main Line.

Still Libertyville was no passive receiver of events and environmental signs and signals of
history. This village in its image and substance was a hustling, bustling place as long as the Columbia
line lasted. And it continued to be a lively place afterward because of the busy Old Lancaster Road
(Montgomery Avenue) traffic.

As we have seen, the stream of people and events at Libertyville proper was colorful. The
“witch” Betty Conrad lived and died there, and brought guidebook notoriety to a sketchy locale. Another

home-owner was a daughter of Lower Merion's richest man, miller John Roberts, the only citizen

19 Information suggesting this, given to history features writer Gerry Snow Mason by relatives of that property owner
Howard Williamson, Main Line Times; Charles Blockson, in a telephone interview with the author, stated that in this area,
the Underground Railroad stops tended to be located along the Schuylkill River in the Gladwyne vicinity rather than inland.
Nonetheless, traditionally mentioned as a nearby-hiding place has been Abel Thomas’ barn that stood east of the present
Merion rail station.

110 Certainly McKeever could have felt keenly pressured about this, inasmuch as his late wife’s uncle, Merion’s Richard
Tunis, had been a merchant-fleet owner with ties to the Virginia tobacco planter class. And a widely reported serious flare-up
of rioting and mayhem had occurred against African-Americans and abolitionists in 1844 in New York City — a confrontation
investigated by some and spurred by merchants who also had ties to that Southern planter class.
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hereabouts who had been convicted and executed for high treason as a loyalist and had all his property
confiscated by the State at the end of the Revolution. Geane Roberts Tunis had a rare opportunity
several years after her father's death to recover some of his rightful property in the form of unpaid debts
owed him. Thus in a sheriff sale, she and her husband Richard Tunis obtained a Libertyville house (1226
Montgomery Avenue) * in which their close kin and Tunis descendant subsequently lived for nearly a
century. It was there that Richard Tunis as owner, or his brother Anthony, then living in the house,?
presumably raised a patriotic Liberty Pole. Then, during the Civil War just after a major connecting road
(North Wynnewood Avenue) was cut through, a building (probably serving as a recruitment station)
adjoining the Libertyville general store displayed on its interior walls various Civil War enlistment
posters, that were still in place when Eleanor and John Lucas bought the building and converted it into
their home. Libertyville was the name of this locality when Abraham Lincoln passed along our present
railroad route a couple of times. Not long after that, however, people's nostrils and the sounds of animals
being herded told travelers when they were in the immediate vicinity of the old hamlet of Libertyville.
For here upon Crow Hill - and staffed by English-born butchers'**who later moved up the ladder to
having their own stalls at Philadelphia’s Reading Terminal Market,'*> and who were followed by Irish-
born butchers here* - flourished the old Libertyville slaughterhouse that kept our otherwise vanishing
agricultural past alive by its booming, odiferous presence until the new century was born.

The film actress Mary Pickford is believed to have made a moving picture at the old Libertyville
blacksmith shop in about 1910 or 1911 while she was working for the Lubin Studios. Through the third
quarter of the 20th century, the cluster of agricultural-era buildings that comprised the heart of the
Libertyville neighborhood such as the huge old slaughterhouse, the “witch's” former house, and the
springhouse of what was known as the “ancient Indian spring,” remained intact to a remarkable extent.

And thus the Libertyville building complex especially while it housed Barclay's Nurseries, a garden

111 Sheriff Docket B, p.70, #50 Term, 1798, Montgomery County. John Roberts vs. Isaac Watkins, Admin. Cum testa of
James Russel; sold to Richard Tunis.

112 Joseph Price’s Diary manuscript, Historical Society of Pennsylvania, describes the 1798 Tunis move into this house:
“B[enjamin] had my oxen and horses moving A[nthony] Tunis to James Russel’s place” (transcript of ms., p. 347). These are
Richard’s brothers.

113 Interviews with Eleanor (Mrs. John M.) Lucas, 18 June 1983 and late June, at the time this family was still living at 533
N. Wynnewood Avenue.

114 Federal Census of Libertyville, 1870 and 1880 shows William Pavitt, butcher.

115 Boyd’s Philadelphia City Directory (Philadelphia, 1899), Pavitt & Brother (William H. and Joseph W.), meat, 807
Terminal Market, p. 562.

116 Federal Census of Libertyville, 1880 shows D. Connor, butcher; shows W.L. Connor in 1900 Census.
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accessories store plus an interesting antique shop, all with their attractive and artistic displays and
pleasant ambience) became the focus of many a Sunday afternoon family stroll in the 1930s and 1940s
when the economy was tight and people were looking for an enjoyable recreation close to home.

Especially noteworthy on such leisurely walks, | recall a favorite stopping place for me and my
parents was The Little House Shop specializing in outdoor/indoor Arts & Crafts items and antiques.
Founded by Mr. Biddle and his business partner Viola Fitler in 1934, this quaint former house at 1252
Montgomery Avenue in Narberth had belonged to and was lived in by Betty Conrad, a well-connected,
property-owning eighteenth-century widow some newly arriving German immigrants mistook for a
“witch.” Gradually the shop moved westward on the Main Line to its present location in Wayne, now
offering stationers and a wide variety of specialty items. Today it has a well-earned reputation for
purveying what’s considered “perfect Main Line carriage trade taste.” Not only did it retain its original
name for its 80th anniversary celebration in 2014, but also claims the image of Betty Conrad’s house as
the store’s logo. And why not? It goes so far as to see that functioning mailbox shaped like Betty’s
house and recognize it as an Arts & Crafts period-piece Narberth item with potential as a logo.

Also within living memory of some of our older residents have been visits to the blacksmith
shop**” while it was still in operation (by members of the Super family) who also had owned the ancient
Indian Spring’s springhouse. The Supers liked to tell the story of the flourishing apple tree on their
property that had grown from the seed of an apple core discarded by a passenger on the Columbia

Railroad traveling across their land.

General Wayne Village

General Wayne was another, but smaller, nineteenth century “village” centered on Narberth's
front road, Montgomery Avenue. This hamlet, too, came into existence with the arrival of
Philadelphia’s Columbia Railroad which had an informal stopping place opposite General Wayne Inn
where the privately-run tennis courts followed. The name of the “General Wayne, Pennsylvania”
locality remained in use a long time and appears on many maps of the period. It became the address of
all houses and farms within a two-block radius and it was the address of Merion Friends Meeting as
well, which was a turnabout, considering that the entire Merion Welsh tract had been built up with that

17 Dr, William O’Brien, a psychiatrist living in Gladwyne recalled in an August 2013 telephone conversation with the
author, having accompanied in early childhood another, older Narberth boy, James Duffy (ordained a priest in 1937), to
watch the blacksmith shop in action, opposite General Wayne Inn.
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meetinghouse as its true focal point. As late as 1904, it was still the Academy of Mercy's descriptive

address. From 1806 to 1867, elections took place at the inn.

Pennsylvania Railroad and Elm Station

Most of this general locality had continued to be a farming area, and successive generations of
the Price family remained on the land. Not until the building of the Pennsylvania Railroad and the
resulting push toward suburban development did the landscape of Narberth undergo major change.

Descendants of various branches of the Price family owned the assembled Price colonial
landholdings until 1838. At that time the southern half of the original (1682) Edward ap Rees or Price
tract was sold for $5,650 to farmer William Thomas of Blockley Township, a nearby area later
consolidated as part of West Philadelphia. This devout Baptist who had emigrated from Southern Wales
in 1818, made a sixty-two-acre purchase. Not all of it in the present borough, Thomas’ tract was
bounded on the north by the then Haverford-and-Merion Road and the homestead he acquired with it
was at the Montgomery Avenue end.

When the West Philadelphia Railroad Company was planned along the route that became the
Pennsylvania Railroad's Main Line now operated by SEPTA and Amtrak, the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania paid William Thomas for 2.747 acres in 1851 as a right of way for the tracks.'® This was to
be a better route than the old Columbia Railroad's inclined plane in the present West Fairmount Park.
What many still refer to as the Pennsylvania Railroad main line takes a wide-arc turn just before
reaching Narberth, a necessity to avoid a lengthy, sharp rise in the ground extending from Merion into
Wynnewood.'® So the small locomotives they had at that early date could make the grade to Ardmore,
the tracks followed the stream beds.?° Thus once again the entry into EIm was a twisting and scanning
perspective, another reminder that Narberth developed as a passage or gateway to somewhere else.

To William Thomas is given the distinction of having set in motion a process that would result in
the building of a railroad station on his property. According to mid-nineteenth century thinking, building

a railroad station was the necessary catalyst to creation of a town. Doubtless Thomas shared that

118 According to mid-nineteenth century thinking, building a railroad station was the necessary catalyst to creation of a town.
Doubtless Thomas shared that outlook. However, there is no evidence that Thomas later sold off lots of two acres or more to
encourage building of that town, as many accounts have stated. That distinction belongs to Edward R. Price, the “last of the
Prices,” and to him alone.

119 Correspondence with Hugh R. Gibb, historian, National Railway Historical Society, 19 November 1979,

120 |pid. Gibb, H.R.
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outlook. However, there is no evidence that Thomas later sold off lots of two acres or more to encourage
building of that town, as many accounts have stated. That distinction belongs to Edward R. Price, the
“last of the Prices,” and to him alone.

Brewing in the background was the soon to be revealed emergence meanwhile of America's great
transcontinental railroads that originated in Pennsylvania. Perhaps the most poignant indication for us
that this event had already taken place were the times Abraham Lincoln came clanking through Narberth
by train on long journeys. He passed at least twice through here, perhaps four or more times. In those
days (and as late as the 1920s), Americans 1living near major rail lines always knew when “significant”
trains were expected to pass through - be it our chief executive or the Ringling Brothers Circus. At
stations and grade crossings, folks in the days before radio and television would come out to wait and
watch. It was a great pastime and a game for kids as well. Sometimes a distinguished person or celebrity
might favor a sizeable crowd of spectators with a wave from the train window or rear observation
platform. This made the tiresome wait worthwhile.*

At age 81, Thomas and his wife Sarah sold % of an acre to the Pennsylvania Railroad in 1869 for
one dollar “Provided the lot be used solely and entirely” to build a railroad station. The kicker was that if
at any time the land ceased to be used for that purpose it would revert to the Thomases or their heirs.
Tradition states that the donation was made with the understanding that the station should always bear
the name “Elm” for Thomas’s old home in Wales or, according to another account, because the many
elm trees on his plantation were a constant reminder of his Welsh birthplace. William Thomas
supposedly came from southern Wales. There exists a southerly Welsh village called EIm Grove at St.
Florence near Tenby that in all probability was the birthplace or homestead of Thomas so often referred
to in popular accounts. Its location is about eight miles south of the larger town of Narberth, Wales.

Attributing the choice of the EIm Station name to an 81-year old local farmer suggests they were
buttering him up to seek additional cooperation from him. This they soon did by aiming to lease a tract
of his land near EIm Station to serve an international fair in the offing nearby, as strategies were being
developed to prepare for it.

So it’s far more likely the EIm Station name originated as a high-level committee decision of the
Pennsylvania Railroad, relating to long-range plans that had little to do with Thomas. Fair promoters

121 Telephone interview with Mrs. Richard H. Pough, 5 June 1985, who recalled making frequent railroad-track visits as a
child with such companions as the young Weymouth boys, her neighbors from North Wynnewood Avenue on the borough
side, where both families lived below Sabine Avenue.
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would have been partial to an easy-to-remember name with a ring of history and Americana to it. The
name EIm did have those attributes and might also be expected to pacify the Quaker City about the
potential for neighborhood disruption caused by construction of huge fairground.?

For William Penn's “Treaty Elm,” the famous tree in Kensington beneath which the founder of
our commonwealth signed the treaty with the Indians was greatly revered by Quakers (who often in the
nineteenth century tried to grow sprouts from that Kensington tree, one of these surviving still at nearby
Haverford College). So the naming of “Elm Avenue” as one of the fairground’s main thoroughfares,
containing the rail station hookup with our EIm Station, clearly was a cornerstone of Centennial
Exposition planning from the start.

Such considerations may have been a key factor in winning acceptance of EIm as a rail station
name among both community leaders and rail officials. For doubtless the neighborhood of Libertyville,
which had lately acquired a large and very active slaughterhouse which would stay in operation for
decades, had a name far more closely associated with the locality’s agricultural past than with the area’s
perceived fast-evolving future as a suburb. This was confirmed by the fact that in the minds of many
farmers throughout the region, the notion of Libertyville and slaughterhouse were very firmly yoked by
1870. Thus for planners of the Main Line rail-stop sequence, the Libertyville Station name, useful as it
had been during the 1860s for a station stop at a grade crossing with a small existing building
acquired,» was discarded as obsolete in 1870. For in that year new station names, EIm and
Wynnewood,'?* were applied to the two adjoining stations newly built by the railroad, which left the old
one, deposed, to stand east of Wynnewood Station as a mere relic.'?

While that relic had been in use, the Main Line track from the city consisted of three tracks that
narrowed to two as the route passed over the grade-crossing at Haverford-and-Merion Road where the
Libertyville stop was located.*?® Traveling slowly, trains signaled their approach to crossroads like that
by sounding a very loud whistle. At that time, neither Narberth’s Wynnewood Avenue underpass nor the
Wynnewood Station underpass at Penn Road yet existed. The Wynnewood Avenue underpass was built

on former Thomas turf in what is now the borough in 1879. The previous year, East Wynnewood Road

122 The fairgrounds’ Elm Street is now Parkside Avenue.

123 Ann P. Jackson to PA R.R. Co., Montgomery County Deed Book 124, pp. 37-38, 25 May 1861.

124 Ibid., Deed Book 173, p. 354, 20 October 1869, shows Wynnewood Station’s location chosen considerably to the west of
Libertyville stop.

125 Atlas maps show that this stone building remained on site for many years.

126 The narrowing of the tracks and “station” visible in an old photo
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had been established by court order, and North Wynnewood Avenue had existed since 1865. Just this
side of the Pennsylvania Railroad's Overbrook Station shortly before the American Centennial
observance, fields were separated from the railroad right-of-way by a four-foot white wooden fence.
And these fields stretched all the way to EIm Station, a split-level Stick Style building of stone that had
that faux-Swiss chalet look. Larger than Wynnewood Station, it was similar in feeling, and by the same
architect.*

Railroading had caught on quickly here. For starters by the 1830s, a rail route was operating
from Philadelphia through this neighborhood to the inland city of Lancaster - that distinction heralded as
a gateway to the South and Southwest. Then at mid-century, another rail line dug in and grew, aspiring
to become a transcontinental route. At that time, the communities that make up Philadelphia’s Main

Line of the Pennsylvania Railroad were born. Among them, Narberth.

127 Editor’s note: The author had intended to name the architect.
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Chapter 2-Abrasive Changes in the 1870s-The Founding of the Town
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Introduction

This chapter explains how an independently run town was nudged into existence when
America’s first great international world’s fair attracted nearly ten million visitors to the western edge of
Philadelphia in 1876. The town materialized because a lone hereditary landowning Quaker farmer saw
town-building as a neighborhood stabilizer, after powerful outside interests laid plans for extensive local
development (large temporary building, a harness race track) linked with a major civic celebration in
Philadelphia. It was to be our nation’s great celebration of itself at the dawn of our rise to industrial
power and world leadership.

For that farmer, such a town was like the pearl resulting from years of dealing with that grain of
American Centennial Exposition irritation. Gradually the nucleus of the town on Price’s farm expanded,
as was intended from the start. And it progressed to the point of independent rule in 1895, becoming, as
it has remained, the only incorporated town in Philadelphia’s internationally known Main Line suburbs.

Several kinds of planning went into this venture, starting with the launch of a “Godey’s Lady’s

Book village” and ending with close networking that pulled together various tracts of land under
development that mostly had belonged earlier to branches of the colonial family of the Welsh-American
Quaker farmer, Edward R. Price.

The post-Civil War era saw rapid transformation from an agrarian to an industrial society. This
meant that some powerful interests wanted to see certain agricultural tendencies swept away without
delay and were prepared to take action. Thus, long before an obvious agrarian symbol like the vast
animal stockyard at 30th and Market Streets became the preferred site for what is now Philadelphia’s
major rail facility, 30th Street Station, the Pennsylvania Railroad was selectively erasing agrarian traces
along its Main Line route east of Paoli. With that major company thinking suburbs and long-distance
travel, the first thing it wanted to make disappear locally were all the grade crossings. But it would have
to wait. The catalyst for such change in this immediate locality was plans for a great international fair.

Still fresh in people’s memories were Abe Lincoln’s journeys through this area — a locality
where his mother had Merion Welsh family roots. There was that frosty morning just after daybreak on
February 22, 1861 when President-elect Lincoln lumbered through Libertyville eastbound en route to his
March 4 inauguration in Washington. Traveling from Illinois by way of Philadelphia,*2s he was

preceded by a pilot train. Minutes earlier his inaugural train had passed slowly along present-day Old

128 The Main Line railroad track between Ardmore and Philadelphia was located the same then as now; west of Ardmore, then not yet straightened.
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Railroad Avenue and under the Haverford College footbridge, still in use today. Atop its slender span
and lining the slopes of the railroad cut below stood crowds of college students. To acknowledge them,
Lincoln stepped to the rear platform, bowed and waved, wearing his well-known top hat and shawl.
Again, to give his Gettysburg Address, Lincoln is said to have traveled this way by rail.

But the final time Lincoln made an official trip through this area was very solemn. The date:
April 22, 1865. The Libertyville grade-crossing station stop may have been draped in mourning like
other stations all along the route of Lincoln’s funeral train.129 Even the Haverford footbridge had been
draped in disregard of Quaker custom. People gathered at most of the Main Line station stops and
crossings that wet Saturday afternoon to pay their respects. Men stood bareheaded holding their hats
over their hearts. Women often seemed rapt in prayer. Libertyville spectators may have been farmers,
mill workers, freed black slaves or Quaker gentry. They peered intently as the black-draped catafalque
train wended its way westward past Libertyville preceded by a pilot locomotive to test the rails.

Centennial

Before preparations for the fair began, years of lobbying on its behalf by an Indiana college
professort3o took place, starting in 1864, but interrupted by the war. Next came his petitioning of
prominent Philadelphians and their contacts in turn with the city’s political leaders. As a result,
Philadelphia’s Select Council voted unanimously on 20 January 1870131 to back such an observance in
the city. The Franklin Institute and Pennsylvania Academy of Fine Arts voiced their approval. And the
United States Congress on 3 March 1871132 officially authorized a celebration of “the one hundredth
anniversary of American independence and products of the soil and mine in the city of Philadelphia and
State of Pennsylvania in the year 1876.”

This Centennial was our nation’s first great international exposition. Held to dramatize our
advancement since the Declaration of Independence, it let it be known that healing had taken place after

the Civil War. And significantly it went further, for its strong message about American inventiveness of

129 The dead president was being sent home to the Illinois prairies clad in the same black broadcloth suit he brought for his inauguration. In a second coffin, much smaller and in another car,
were little “Willie” Lincoln’s remains, hurriedly disinterred from a Washington grave so he could lie by his father’s side. The raindrops mixed with tears on the faces of silent men and women
mourners assembled in knots to watch the train pass. The two engines gave off plumes of black (wood) smoke that as old southsiders will tell you, through the steam-engine era, had a
predictable way of quickly tumbling to the ground southward here whenever there were low-lying clouds. Doubtless many a little child carried away vivid lifelong memories of the funeral train
stared at with sadness by so many that spring day.

130 All the World’s A Fair, Robert W. Rydell

131 Fairmont Park Commission Archives, City of Philadelphia.

132 1bid.
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all kinds was heard around the world. Also, our Centennial clearly set the pace for subsequent efforts to
keep tracking American achievements.

Visitors to the Philadelphia Centennial encountered glassblowers from this city’s noted Gillender
firm demonstrating their wares and giving samples away. A compelling exhibit meant quite obviously
to awe its viewers was the Baldwin Locomotive display about trains of the future. At the fair’s entrance
was another commanding presence — the mock-up of the torch-holding hand of sculptor Frederic
Bartholdi’s Statue of Liberty, then under construction in New York harbor. And all sorts of inventions
were displayed, as this fair drove home its message about progress as a way of life. Probably the richest
and most nuanced period for world’s fairs in America was the late-nineteenth century, after which the
impact of such expositions was blunted somewhat by lessening attendance of the American public due
to the many competing distractions of modern life.

Suburbanization swung into high gear spurred by those preparations for Philadelphia’s great
1876 Centennial celebration of American independence. Rail officials had clearly taken the lead in
setting the stage for future new suburban communities along the Pennsylvania Railroad’s Main Line.
They lavished careful thought on this, while locating small station-stops near the country mansions of
their own rail barons and top executives along that westerly route. In tandem with such community-
building foresight came the sometimes short-circuiting or downplaying of old established agricultural
traditions still intact in this particular area. This is quite evident in the naming of small rail stations it
was building between Overbrook (within Philadelphia’s city limits) and Paoli (14 miles west) [as

touched on in the previous chapter].

Libertyville Slaughterhouses

A prime example of the initiative the Pennsylvania Railroad took in this matter was its
suppression at a grade crossing of the existing Libertyville stop33 listed on its timetables. That name
was just too closely identified as the destination of a new road that led almost directly from that rail stop
to the storied Libertyville Slaughterhouse, one of the last of the near western suburbs’ classic
slaughterhouses, in operation by 1860 and lasting nearly forty years. Butchers active there most likely
started sending their meat to market by train as soon as the access road (now called North Wynnewood

Avenue) was built in 1865, so the agricultural-sounding name Libertyville soon attached itself firmly to

133 Marked by an already existing building servicing a grade-crossing of the Haverford-and-Merion Road just west of North Wynnewood Avenue; neither East Wynnewood Road nor

Narberth’s high rail embankment yet existed at this time.

Chapter 2-Page 63



that rail stop.

English butchers operated that slaughterhouse, then Irish. They were tough, hard-drinking men
able to wield a knife on the kill floor and carry a carcass on their back. Farmers for miles around used
this facility, their flock of sheep, cattle and pigs filling the roads leading to it. At the time, that
slaughterhouse on two-and-a-half acres was growing to accommodate an expanding trade, several of its
successful butchers moving eventually to regular posts at Reading Terminal Market in Center City.

So the railroad acted swiftly to erase Libertyville as a viable stop. For nearly equidistant from
that old location on a straight stretch of track it built two stations of stone a mile apart in 1870 —
Wynnewood Station to the west and the split-level EIm Station (Narberth) to the east, its grade crossing
later replaced by Narberth Avenue bridge. 3+ Improved access to rail transport of goods had spurred the
growth of the Libertyville slaughterhouse. But construction of a steep embankment for four sets of
Main Line train tracks soon canceled the Libertyville stop — in exchange for a street-level underpass
(1879). East Wynnewood Road, newly created at this time,3s was brought up from City Avenue at
Sixty-third Street to meet North Wynnewood Avenue there at the underpass, and it continued westward
along the old Haverford-and-Merion Road under its new (East Wynnewood Road) name. That farmers’
slaughterhouse railstop never stood a chance of finding a welcome mat in Main Line suburbia. But it
would be tolerated several more years until after the Centennial. And lest any new residents forget
Libertyville’s gritty history, subdivisions of local land here would soon begin to include the inevitable
deed restrictions against establishing a slaughterhouse on private property.

Those new station names had a far more suburban ring to them than the old one, and it was
becoming clear that the railroad intended to eliminate all grade crossings along its Main Line route.
Wynnewood, named for a stately local residence of a veteran Civil War Union Army officer, was
quintessentially suburban, easily seen from the train, and became a village name. By contrast, EIm was
undoubtedly brought into existence to establish a small-station link with the Centennial grounds, and
thus function as a transfer center for thousands of visitors going to and from a proposed race track and

hotel accommodations to be built on forty acres facing EIm rail station.

134 Elm Station, a split-level Stick Style building of stone had a faux-Swiss chalet look. Larger than Wynnewood Station, it
was similar in feeling and by the same architects — John A. and Joseph M. Wilson, both working for the Pennsylvania
Railroad, before they soon founded the Wilson Brothers & Co. architecture and engineering firm. They also did much work
at the Centennial.

135 East Wynnewood Road had been established by court order in 1878, and North Wynnewood Avenue had existed since
1865.
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Elm

With an international fair in the offing, choice of the EIm Station name became a high-level
committee decision of the Pennsylvania Railroad’s long-range plan. Besides being a name easy to
remember, it might have been expected to pacify Quakers worried about neighborhood disruption due to
construction of huge fair-grounds so close to William Penn’s “Treaty Elm,” the famed tree in
Kensington beneath which the founder of our commonwealth signed the treaty with the Indians. Greatly
revered by Quakers, they often in the nineteenth century tried to grow sprouts from that Kensington tree,
one of these being at Haverford College. Also “Elm Avenue,” one of the fairground’s main
thoroughfares, featured the rail station hookup with our EIm Station.

Who better to approve such plans and station name changes than banker N. Parker Shortridge?
A director3s of the Pennsylvania Railroad and local resident, Shortridge was moreover a leading figure
in a national network137 of prominent businessmen who used their business and financial connections to
gather personal subscriptions to underwrite the Centennial.

An early member of the United States Centennial Commission, established in March 1872,
Shortridge served on its Board of Finance as a director. In that capacity, he was described as “among
the first to take an active part in securing subscriptions to the stock of the Centennial Board of
Finance.”138 So he is seen as viewing his company’s fortunes and those of the Centennial as
“inextricably intertwined.”139 One indication of this is that, of the 22,776 ballots cast for the
Centennial Board of Finance, 11,400 came from the Pennsylvania Railroad. Another is that his
company championed the Centennial every step of the way, launching cross-country rail packages, 4
reduced charges on exhibit-related freight, and commuter traffic serving the exhibition grounds.41

Presumably Shortridge was the decisive voice banishing the old Libertyville name in favor of

136 The Pennsylvania Railroad: Its Origin, Construction, Condition and Connections. 1875

137 Correspondence of Christopher R. Dougherty, Archives Specialist, Fairmount Park Commission, City of Philadelphia, 13
August 2008 with the writer.

138 William Bender Wilson. History of the Pennsylvania Railroad. 1899.

139 Tbid. Dougherty letter, August ‘08

140 1n another reminder of the impact the transcontinental trains were quickly making, surviving menus describe food already
being served on Pullman cars passing through Libertyville in 1867. That year the first “cuisine departments” were added to
George Pullman’s other achievements, three years prior to the hiring of the first black Pullman porter. At the time, long-
distance passengers were dining on such fare as lobsters, sardines and broiled ham or bacon for forty cents. And they could
also order sirloin steak, chicken, cold cuts and even woodcock, pheasant or prairie chicken, snipe, quail, golden plover or
blue-winged teal. For local residents, however, in the 1860s only six local trains ran daily each way and none on Sundays.
Persons missing the six o’clock evening train from Center City could catch the “Emigrant” train at midnight. That train
transported arriving foreigners, letting them off at each stop for which they were booked.

141 1bid. Dougherty letter, August *08.
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fresh alternatives. For no sooner did he settle permanently in a historic former Joseph Price property,
Clover Hill, adjoining what soon became Wynnewood Station, than all those changes began to occur
around him.

So Libertyville was the flashpoint locally where this friction between old agrarian and new
suburban ways was most striking. This late-surviving remnant of agricultural heartland very likely also
gave Centennial planners the idea of locating, as they did, the huge Farmers’ Grange Hotel here
immediately south of EIm Station.

Members of the National Grange and the Pennsylvania State Grange, following endorsements of
the project by their respective organizations, subscribed generously to the stock of the Patrons’
Centennial Encampment Association,42 organized to build the hotel. Although its accommodations
were open to the public, the hotel mainly served successfully as headquarters for Grange members from
all parts of the country attending the fair. This enabled them to stay longer by avoiding more costly
hotel accommodations in the city. To sell stock to construct this facility, farmers were advertising it as
the biggest4s hotel in the United States. Also, farmers in the 1870s when the Grange movement was
gaining its greatest strength would have respected the site chosen for their EIm Station encampment —
for it was within the boundary of one of the state’s earliest and most venerable granges — Merion #112144
that, by World War I, went dormant.4s

Edward R. Price could not have imagined the changes that by 1870 [had begun] to transform his
quiet rural neighborhood. Outside forces were indeed closing in, land speculators in particular, as
Philadelphia prepared to host the nation’s first great international world’s fair in nearby West Fairmont
Park. In those innocent days, suburbs near the city as yet had no police, although millions of visitors
were expected.

Change had been occurring slowly, most of it confined to old-timers noticing, as farmer Price
did, changing ownership of farms, particularly ones that several branches of the Price family had owned
for centuries in the immediate area.

One such new buyer, who continued to farm that piece of Edward ap Rees’ original land grant
profitably, nevertheless turned its imposing eighteenth-century Price stone farmhouse into a boarding
house. Another, more westerly section of that same ap Rees property formed part of the grounds of a

142 Fred Brenckman. History of the PA State Grange. Harrisburg, 1949, p. 52.

143 1bid.

144 Historical Excerpts of PA Granges: 125th Anniversary Edition, State College, 1998. ed. by Diamond & Evans. p. 202.
145 bid.
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forty-acre soon-to-be-built late Victorian baronial castle-style mansion, Maybrook, still standing.

Most startling by far, however, were the plans for a big stretch of former Price farmland that had
reached around the far side of the Merion Meetinghouse grounds in a warm, protective embrace. A
syndicate was forming to acquire its nearly a hundred acres for a harness race course to attract
Centennial visitors. Farmer Price felt helpless and heartsick over this, for the race track project in
particular seemed certain to strip away all the protection that his family’s acquisition of so much land
close to the much-venerated Quaker meeting and its ancient burial ground had built up. How else to

maintain a necessary buffer zone?

Belmont Driving Club

Certainly an astute drawing card for the Centennial year, the construction and opening of the
famed Belmont Driving Club on seventy-two acres immediately northeast of EIm had a bigger impacti+s
on the neighborhood than anything else since the railroad was built. And the effects were long lasting.
With a sharply increased number of persons then living in cities, spectator sports had begun emerging as
a major American pastime. This track offered the excitement of a contest and thrill of vicarious
participation. City dwellers were drawn to it no less than the usual attendees at county fairs.

This sporting track opened in May 1876 with its first big race, a grandstand seating four
thousand, and prizes that first season projected as totaling more than a quarter-million dollars. The
facility provided many local jobs and boosted the local economy in countless ways. Belmont Park had
an on-site bar-restaurant with adjoining dining room to be staffed as well as stables. And maintenance
was needed for other buildings housing the timekeepers’ and judges’ stands. Likewise, there were the
ticket-takers, concessionaires, and nearby places of lodging. And some of the horses and sulky47 drivers
were also from this town during Belmont’s forty-six-year existence. 4

The din of the horseracing was constantly felt at EIm during the warm-weather months. And,
since the driving club had an EIm Station address, trains from Philadelphia were met at EIm Station by
four-horse omnibuses that shuttled back and forth from the track crowded with passengers. Some rode

atop the vehicle and others would cling to its sides. Persons who walked to Belmont Park from the

146 Bulletin of the Historical Society of Montgomery County, v. 1, October 1936, p. 12-17. M.R. Yerkes, showing Samuel M.
Garrigues’ “Map of Roads Approaching Belmont Driving Park Race Course,” September 1874, and showing EIm Station and
Elm Avenue.

147 Editor’s Note: The definition of “sulky”: a light, two-wheeled horse-drawn vehicle for one person, used chiefly in harness
racing.

148 Main Line Times, Dec. 15, 1955, p. 19.
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station encountered grifters along Haverford Avenue who set up their tripes for three-card monte and the
old shell game.

The commotion must have driven pious Quaker Edward R. Price almost crazy. The Centennial
year alone deluged this EIm Station neighborhood in one brief stretch with more visitors than it ever had
before or since. Price would gaze down from his farmhouse across the fork in the road at his beloved
Merion Friends Meeting and there, loud sounds of martial music seemed to be coming from that
hallowed spot all summer long, as the harness racetrack’s grandstand crowds roared their approval of
this horse or that. From just behind the ancient meeting house, he realized the sounds were coming. But
the snappy patriotic tunes were being played (mostly by musicians from the 19th Regimental Band)
loudly enough to awaken the dead in the peaceful graveyard at the meeting house, the same graveyard
where one of his ancestors, a child, was the first to be buried two centuries earlier. Certainly, the
racetrack disturbed Price. The only specific benefaction in his will for the meeting house was money he
left to construct a stone wall (around the burial ground). This clearly suggests that the little cemetery
was being overrun with heavy foot-traffic of sportsmen taking a shortcut to the racetrack from the train
station. Still, there were those ready to remind Price that even William Penn’s son, Governor Richard
Penn, brought race horses of noble pedigree over from England, being the principal founder of the
Jockey Club in Philadelphia in 1766.

The American-born sport of harness racing, our country’s first national pastime, was already an
icon for Currier & Ives prints when the rustic one-mile oval Belmont Driving Park opened just north of
Elm Station. This sport, with its aura of uniqueness and such other intangibles as its dramatic human-
interest aspects, had at first struck the public’s fancy and charmed it at county fairs across the country.
And it remained very much a part of the popular culture during Belmont’s rise to national prominence as
the frequent scene of the Grand Circuit, the Kentucky Derby of harness racing, and throughout that
track’s existence before the sport became “industrialized” in the 1940s, later taking its first steps toward
becoming big business.

Of course, light-harness racing never enjoyed the prestige of thoroughbred racing with its rich
patrons and breeders such as the Whitneys, Vanderbilts or Mellons who had wide public acceptance
because they were perceived as sportsmen and, moreover, had been nurtured on home turf. As part of
the racing scene, this elite was publicized widely along with racing’s more typical “guys and dolls” in an
era when there was a delicate balance between sports and business. At the time, horse racing still had

retained much of its allure — something with which the average racing fan could identify. That was
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before big business, tax shelters and foreign investment became dominant in this sport and the news
media gradually consigned racing to the rank of a secondary sport.

Harness racing, a more grassroots affair, was a great success both as a moneymaker and a crowd-
pleaser. It appealed to the hardy breed of racing fan. Indeed, its heartland was the grandstand. In its
halcyon days just after the turn of the century while this sport was booming at EIm (Narberth) and at
tracks across the country, harness racing symbolized an ideal combination of Americana and
entrepreneurship. Another strong drawing card was that it was unnecessary for a would-be horse owner
to be listed in the Social Register to own one of the horses in this business. The newly moderately rich
dominated the harness-racing scene at EIm as elsewhere. And on certain special occasions at EIm they
were able to draw upon support from elite members of the thoroughbred horse fraternity, most notably
Philadelphia banker Edward T. Stotesbury who headed several national and international horse show
associations and was prominent in overseas Olympic racing activities. Stotesbury, at some of the more
stellar events such as the Grand Circuit, maintained a box at Belmont Driving Park for himself and his
friends.

Belmont’s track consisted of a half-mile oval within a one-mile oval. Some of the sulky drivers
complained among themselves that this track was “slow and cuppy.” One horse that never got the
message was Star Pointer, which set a record there for being the first steed in this country to run a mile
in two minutes. July and August were the big racing months at Belmont. Although not officially
sanctioned, the Horse Dealers’ Sweepstakes took place there every June. Another often held meet was
Belmont’s “walk and pace” featuring horses starting off with a brisk walk for the first hundred yards,
followed by a one-mile race. Guesswork, owned by R. F. White of Lexington, Kentucky established the
record for that event at Narberth in 1920.

In 1877, the mortgagee of Belmont Driving Park, William L. McDowell, had foreclosed on its
mortgage, not in order to close the park, but to reorganize the Belmont Driving Association which
operated the racing facility, and to get rid of certain floating debts which had become troublesome
because, although they were for small amounts, the creditors were clamoring to be paid. McDowell’s
move was also aimed at assuring good prospects all around, now that the Centennial year celebrations
had ended.1#0 Stoveplate manufacturer McDowell and his business partner, Mr. Leibrandt, were starting
a building fund for a club house at the track, and by April had already gathered thirty subscriptions.

149 philadelphia Inquirer, April 27, 1877, p.2.
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More than two generations of supporters kept the track going, one replacing the other. Wagering
was never officially permitted at this track, which was a great disappointment to its organizers. Here the
spectators watched the horses instead of the betting slips, but of course illegal betting went on. There
were no state lotteries, no casinos in Atlantic City (Gloucester, New Jersey, a wide-open town, was the
nearest thing to Las Vegas hereabouts), and few other distractions from this sport that so easily
monopolized the attention of the turn-of-the-century public.

Harness racing at EIm was Americana personified. And yet it divided the people in the
surrounding neighborhoods in unprecedented ways. Perhaps the most striking example of this was
Luther Parsons, a church-going Protestant Sunday School superintendent whose high-quality
wheelwright and blacksmith shop in Merionville employing fourteen people, repaired and supplied new
parts for the track’s sulkies when needed. Parsons, one of three smiths in the vicinity (the other two
being in the borough), owned some of the region’s fastest horses, but never entered a horse for
Belmont’s stakes. Oh yes, he often arrived there with his champion steed Alabaster for match races and
time trials. But Parsons kept his horses out of formal races altogether. Nor would he permit any of them
to run if he saw even the possibility of a slight wager on the outcome. Yet when old man Parsons sped
his horses along dirt highways, those steeds were invariably admired and envied. One time a member of
the local sporting fraternity tried to strike a deal for Parsons’ trotter, hoping to race it at Belmont. He
was baffled by Parsons’ total lack of interest until someone pointed out the popular blacksmith’s
opposition to racetrack activity on religious grounds. But in the end, local harness racing brought people
together because new alliances were formed out of necessity for survival’s sake.

By the turn of the century the band music at the track had taken on a Spanish-American War
flavor, some of the musicians having served in Philadelphia’s 19th Regiment Band in that war so they
were playing “Goodbye Dolly Gray,” “There’ll be a Hot Time in the Old Town Tonight,” and “The Girl
I Left Behind Me” with particular relish.

After the election of Democratic governor Gifford Pinchot, it was assumed legalized betting
would be a certainty. Pinchot, however, was a bluenose and never did approve of gambling. This and
the revenue loss resulting from prohibition were major factors that led to the demise of the track. Its
prospects, too, had begun to fade with the arrival of the automobile age.

The last horseracing events at Belmont took place August 18, 1922. And motor cycle races were
held several times later. After the racetrack was sold at public auction in 1921 for $115,000 — a sale

subject to the ratification of the shareholders — they prudently voted against it. Two years later, that
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same property was sold for $300,000 for housing development operations. Thus, the locality received
its current name: Merion Park.

It remained for another local boy to make good, however, in the harness racing fraternity. And
when he did, he held the reins for the tri-state area as that American sport entered into a new era and a
changed climate of audience expectations by mid-century. A Wynnewood youth at the time the
Narberth harness track closed a few blocks from his home, George Tyler Weymouth (1904-1990)
acquired his interest in horse-racing by marrying a du Pont — Eugene E. du Pont’s daughter Deo in 1930.
The young couple lived here on North Wynnewood Avenue in the borough while their tribe of sonstse
was very young, before settling in Delaware. An investment banker, George T. eventually owned two
race tracks in West Virginia and in the 1950s became president of Brandywine Raceway’s harness track
in Wilmington, Delaware, a post his brother Clarence A. “Bud” Weymouth, Jr. also held in that decade.
In 1954, Narberth’s former resident George T. Weymouth became one of the four original directors of a
new organization, the Harness Racing Tracks of America, Inc. (the other three directors being from
Detroit, Baltimore and Long Island). Comprising seventeen associations at the time, this group [was] a
counterpart of the Thoroughbred Racing Association of America.

To bring these discussions up to date, recent times have seen a sharp national decline in the sport
of horse racing since the late 1970s, a period of reduced revenues not yet ended and accompanied by
rising competition from casino gambling and expansion of state lotteries in the region. Not quite the

climate for a full appreciation for the glory days of harness racing at EIm.

Places to Stay

Classified advertisements in Philadelphia newspapers made it clear that city dwellers, even ones
of modest means, increasingly looked to nearby rural locations, easily reached by the new local rail
lines, as healthful havens from summer heat. Elm was described as “a favorite locality for summer

boarders, and superior accommodations for about a hundred exist in the vicinity of the station,” in a

150 Also an enthusiastic horseman (he [drove] four-in-hand coaches pulled by his own horses on ceremonial occasions and at
other times for the fun of it) [was] Weymouth’s son, George A. (“Frolic”’) Weymouth of Chadds Ford. That son [was]
founder and ... board chairman of the nonprofit Brandywine Conservancy, parent organization of both the Brandywine River
Museum and the Environmental Management Center, in Chadds Ford, Pennsylvania near the Delaware State line — a post he
... held since that facility opened as the Tri-County conservancy in 1967 to preserve the historic and artistic heritage of the
region. The Weymouth’s “Narberth period” reference [the author] discussed with Frolic W. at the 18 March 1994 opening of
Brandywine River Museum’s Joseph C. Coll exhibition (to which [she had] just given an original piece of Coll’s art).
Editor’s note: Frolic Weymouth is deceased.
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publication of the Passenger Department of the Pennsylvania Railroad in 1875. The brochure described
four such boarding houses near EIm Station.

Closest to it and least expensive was “Elm Mansion,” Mrs. Caroline E. Wilson proprietress. This
of course was the large whitewashed 1770 colonial Price house that stood surrounded by good lawns and
shade trees approximately where the Narberth Post Office now is on the southwest corner of Windsor
and North Narberth Avenues. At the time, this stately house belonged to land investor Mrs. Maria Furey
who resided on a small farm where the Sisters of Mercy’s McAuley Convent for retired Sisters now is at
517 Montgomery Avenue in Merion. “Elm Mansion” was apparently the preferred vacation spot of an
important musical figure, Septimus Winnerst and family.

Meanwhile, high-priced “Maplewood” with Mrs. Lehman in charge stood on the far side of
Montgomery Avenue, set back from it and facing it near the present-day Brookhurst Avenue. This was
also a former Price mansion, the place where the British General Charles Cornwallis (later known as the
first Marquis Cornwallis) was billeted. In its palmy days as “Maplewood,” this house accommodated
forty persons, summer only. Later it was called “Brookhurst Inn.”

The same railroad brochure listed two other boarding-house locations in this immediate area.
One was “Larchdale Place” on Meetinghouse Lane, W. A. Boyle proprietor. Facing the racetrack
entrance, it advertised a bath with hot and cold water. This building survives on the Sisters of Mercy
property. And of course, the other was James Baird’s year-round General Wayne Hotel accommodating
thirty-five persons at a time on Montgomery Avenue. The Pennsylvania Railroad had begun promoting
the Main Line as a place for city workers to live and as a resort for summer vacationers shortly before
1870.

Around this time the Old Gulph Road (subsequently named Narberth Avenue where it passes
through the borough) had a grade crossing over the tracks at Elm where Narberth’s railroad bridge is
today. That grade crossing necessitated construction of the first of two signal towers that eventually
stood side-by-side at EIm Station until the older one was removed. The purpose of the second tower
was to regulate use of a coal yard cutoff to the north, and it also serviced the slightly later freight-station

cutoff south of the mainline tracks.

151 A teacher of violin and other instruments with a music publishing business and music store in the city, Winner wrote:
“Listen to the Mocking Bird,” “Where Has My Little Dog Gone,” “Ten Little Indians,” and “Whispering Hope” between
1855 and 1868 and his brother Joe Winner wrote “Little Brown Jug,” This information courtesy of great-grandson, C. E.
(Gene) Claghorn, music researcher and author of biographical dictionaries of music (16 May 1985 letter to author). Wm C.
Claghorn in 1912 had 125 Chestnut Ave. house built there for his young family; they lived there to 1946.
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The Encampment (Granger’s Hotel)

Throughout the 1870s, EIm remained a hibernating dream of a suburban community, doing little
to change its agricultural bias. And yet the presence of a new rail station here meant the place was
poised and ready to deliver results. The most sensational event to mar its tranquility was the notorious
“Frozen Foot” murder case involving a mysterious stranger found slain in the snow in the embankment
at Elm Station in early 1877.

Even more compelling as a sudden spectacular visual drama was Elm’s Grangers’ Hotel fire in
autumn 1876. Earlier that year caravans of farmers from points west began arriving for Philadelphia’s
Centennial Exhibition, which attracted a quarter of this country’s population.152 Being poor, the farmers
were housed not at local hotels such as Whitehall, General Wayne Inn or Maplewood Inn, nor courtesy
of the widely used Philadelphia Boarding House Agency Ltd. which provided rather expensive coupons
for Centennial visitors. Instead they made straight for the specially built Grangers’ Hotel or husbandry
encampmentts3 that opened May 10, 1876, situated on the south side of the railroad tracks facing EIm
Station. The complex stretched east and west from the present Narberth Avenue to Essex, and
southward nearly to Woodside, where reportedly some remnants of its foundation still exist in backyards
of Woodside Avenue’s north side. To encourage their members’ investment in its construction, the
farmers advertised their hotel as the largest in the United States.

Grangers nationwide provided these accommodations for themselves by acting through their
chapter in Pennsylvania which, at one of its state conventions, put all the arrangements in the hands of a
Mr. R. H. Thomas, Secretary of the Grangers’ Order in our state. By “affiliating with” the Pennsylvania
Railroad, Thomas was able both to obtain the use of forty acres at EIm Station, and to negotiate very low
fares (fifteen cents) for individual Grangers to travel by train back and forth the four-and-a-half miles to
the Centennial depot. It is unknown whether that Grange official was related to old farmer William
Thomas (probably a Granger’s Order member) who owned that land and only a few years earlier had
made a small adjacent piece of it available to build the EIm rail station. The encampment site was
described as being on high ground, occupying the “first considerable hill from Philadelphia’ and

featuring many fine springs, rows of trees, and other attractions for the gratification of summer visitors.

152 Frank Leslie’s Historical Register of the U.S. Centennial Exposition, 1876. Edited by Frank H. Norton. New York, F.
Leslie’s Publication House, 1877, p. 317.

188 Accommodations of this husbandry camp are discussed in an article, Philadelphia Press, May 5, 1876, p.6, col.1, telling it
would house people $7.50 per day, with roundtrips daily train fare of 15 cents.
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Next came building contracts the Grangers entered into for a hostelry to accommodate 2,400 people at a
time (or with one family per room, 5,000). This facility also included a billiard room, bowling alleys, a
newspaper-reading room, and a lecture room that served literary purposes on weekdays and provided
church services on Sundays.

Descriptions of this building complex differ. By one account, presumably authoritative, its
construction was “peculiar,” consisting of long, shed-like wooden buildings, each containing 92 rooms,
with 46 of them on each side of a broad corridor. The rooms measured twelve by eight feet, had sloping
roofs, and they could be rented for $1.50 per day, the same low price as a farmer expected to pay for a
meal there. Cold lunches, already packed, were also available to the farmers at low cost on the
premises. By another account, the EIm Station encampment consisted of whitewashed frame
construction fronting 500 feet along the railroad by some 450 feet deep, this building having a main
section two stories high and the rest of it one story. Erected by the National Grangers’ Association, a
stock company, so its members in the western part of the state, Midwest and beyond could attend the
exposition, this hotel reportedly had 1300 rooms. Each was furnished with a spring bed and mattress,
chairs, washstand, mirror and carpet. There was also a dining room 50 x 400 feet plus kitchen and
laundry. Farm families large and small arrived at EIm’s encampment with their own blankets and
hampers of food, mainly hams and preserves, and each family occupied one room and cooked on
communal stoves. The organization and operation of this hostelry was rated as an “entire success,” as it
was crowded throughout the exposition period.

More than 100,000 guests were accommodated at this Grangers’ Hotel during its brief existence.
These guests traveled the Paoli Local excursion trains to the Centennial where they saw President
Ulysses S. Grant, the Brazilian Emperor Dom Pedro, Machinery Hall, the State buildings and many
other exhibits including 35 acres devoted to livestock displays from U.S., Europe and Canada, all the
railroads offering free return transport of animals.

One contemporary account, quick to provide impressions of opening day at the Centennial,
declared:

Not the least interesting sight among the throng: the rural visitor, who was present, of

every type, and in an astonishing number. The variety ranged from the better class and more
intelligent of the agricultural class of the Middle and New England States,... to the long, lank,
green and gawky Hoosier from the wilds of the Wabash, and the untamed borderer from the

wilderness of the Far West. The Granger was present, with hay-seed in his hair, and the sacred
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soil he disdained to remove still upon his boots, and, despite his faith in the power of the

‘Grange,” somewhat appalled by the confusing spectacle before him.15+

Among the many out-of-town visitors who commuted from EIm Station to the Centennial
fairgrounds by rail was the poet Henry Wadsworth Longfellow. Then 69 years of age, Longfellow
apparently found the Main Line countryside far more interesting than the exposition. And he was one of
the first nature-lovers to sing the praises of the Main Line suburbs.

The 1876 Centennial Exhibition in Philadelphia, the first great world’s fair on U.S. soil, served
in the proven fashion of other international expositions during the nineteenth century, as a way of
publicizing industrial products of its day. Also typical was that this fair offered a very useful overview
of the current thinking about architecture and about large-scale planning of the period.

That Centennial’s uniqueness was that it provided the early world-class staging ground for
interest in handcrafts sparked by the then new international Aesthetics Movement, the first broadly
popular decorative arts movement to take root in this country. Ripple effects were clearly felt in related
fields, so this exposition is often mentioned as a turning point in America with regard to an increased
interest in art, handcrafts, interior design and art education. In this city, for example, the event was the
catalyst for the founding of the Philadelphia Museum of Art and the school now called University of the
Arts — and institutions elsewhere such as Rhode Island School of Design.

The exposition at an end, the Grangers’ Hotel board of directors was about to hold a meeting in a
few days to take action on several offers to buy that building. Most of the insurance policies covering
the hotel had just expired when a fierce fire broke out at six o’clock on the evening of November 17 in
an eastern corridor of the hotel. Only about twenty guests and thirty employees had remained. They
narrowly escaped but lost most of their possessions. A board of eleven directors controlled the place
and Mr. A. F. Jones, manager, suffered personal losses in the fire of one thousand dollars. With a stiff
breeze from the east fanning the flames even faster to a ruddy hue, the enormous building was consumed
in less than one hour.

Yet excitement reached a fever pitch in Philadelphia over that major November 17 fire.
Thousands gaped at “a baleful glare in the sky, illuminating the low-hanging clouds as if the entire
northwestern suburbs were in flames.” City folk took for granted that the fire must be close to the

Schuylkill. Therefore, many thought the entire Centennial exhibition buildings were engulfed or

154 philadelphia Press, May 11, 1876, p.3, col.5, long unsigned article giving its general impressions of day one.
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certainly the hotels immediately adjacent. So, all roads to the Centennial grounds became overrun with
crowds of people hurrying to see the catastrophe for themselves. Arriving at the fairgrounds in West
Fairmount Park, they soon realized the conflagration was beyond George’s Hill, for the tall observatory
crowning that eminence stood out like a huge skeleton against the fiery glow. What next?

Undaunted, large crowds boarded the Pennsylvania Railroad trains, arriving at the scene of the
fire at EIm aboard the seven and eight-thirty trains, attracted there by curiosity. Out here in the country,
the response was similar. Agog over what they saw in the distant night sky, Gladwyne’s Richard J.
Hamilton and his father simply hitched up their horse and buggy and followed the glare to its source.
All that was left of the hotel was a heap of ashes -—and management’s deep, lingering suspicions about
arson.

Some said Grangers’ Hotel by late autumn several weeks after the Centennial closing had
become a haven for hoboes, men who hopped off freight trains slowly making the grade at EIm —a
practice regarded as a nagging problem throughout the nation’s rail lines at the time.

Another account, by Merion farmer Henry Sullivan, claimed moreover that people visiting the
Grangers’ Encampment locality on Sundays were not the most reputable citizens. Even with the
Centennial ended, safety and security still loomed as big issues in the neighborhood — all the more so

because arson was suspected in that Grangers’ Camp fire.

Frozen Foot Murder Case - 1877

Narberth was also the scene of what is considered one of the most baffling murderstss in the
history of Southeastern Pennsylvania during the late-nineteenth century.1ss So mystifying were its
circumstances that the incident riveted widespread public attention on what was known in the 1870s as

29 ¢

“the Elm Station murder,” “the murder near the EIm Station encampment,” “Elm Station mystery” or
“The Mystery of the Centennial Year.”15? With his usual flair for the dramatic, columnist “Uncle Ben”

Kramer, sticking to the main facts of the case without elaboration, aptly called it the “Frozen-Foot

155 The writer spent months of research on this murder case, including primary sources and the extensive coverage of the trial
by a dozen Philadelphia newspapers.

156 3. Bennets Nolan (ed.) Southeastern Pennsylvania: a History of the Counties of Berks, Bucks, Chester, Delaware,
Montgomery, Philadelphia and Schuylkill (Philadelphia: Lewis Historical Publishing Co., 1943), vol. 2, pp. 764-769.

157 Expressions used by various Philadelphia metropolitan daily newspapers to describe the crime. About the press’
widespread use of the monikers “Elm Station Mystery” and “Mystery of the Centennial Year” after discovery of the body,
see the Phila. Inquirer, 21 Sept 1877. The eventual trial lasted September 10-25, 1877; trial records on deposit at
Montgomery County Historical Society, Norristown.
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Murder” in retelling this grisly tale a century later.1s8 This was the one crime that seemed to rob this
neighborhood of its innocence, and turn it upside down.

When this premeditated killing occurred, Montgomery County had no detective staff and Lower
Merion had only one constable and no police. Obviously the criminal lured his unsuspecting victim to
Elm just outside the city limits because this was a police-free zone. Philadelphia’s great international
fair, the Centennial Exhibition, was just winding down in its final month at the time. Concerned local
citizens eventually saw justice prevail after they initiated an investigation and posted a reward. The
episode left many people shaking their heads over the question of how to acquire a manageable system
of law and order in the suburbs.1s

The Elm Station mystery was probably Philadelphia’s most notorious crime involving people (in
this case, both victim and murderer) from the rising tide of middle-class German immigrants on our
shores. They had been fleeing Prussian rule instead of staying home and struggling to restore the
weakened power, civil awareness and sense of freedom of their own constituency in the face of
continuing dominance by the well-preserved conservative and feudal Prussian military system. That
entrenched system at the time had the backing of the German countryside’s landed proprietors. So large
numbers of Germans, especially younger people, felt stifled. Jobs were scarce, and there seemed no end
in sight. Of course, some disgruntled Germans stayed on home turf and tried to negotiate a pact of
survival for themselves, like the convicted murderer’s sister who married a high-ranking Prussian
officer, or so her imprisoned brother claimed while in Norristown lock-up.

In any event, the heinous EIm Station crime came to light by merest chance because trainmen
patrolling their watch discovered three Irish-American lads from the city’s Logan Square district
stealing a ride on a westbound freight train and threw them off at EIm Station. There the youths, idly
taking their second dash up an embankment west of the station where the gully runs through, discovered
the half-buried corpse on that cold February day. An Ardmore justice of the peace, Josiah S. Pearce,
who also served as deputy coroner and undertaker was called to the scene by a rail station telegraph
operator. And although the burden of solving this crime fell on his shoulders, Squire Pearce soon

received what proved to be invaluable help from a group of leading citizens and taxpayers residing along

158 Main Line Chronicle, 8 October 1970, souvenir supplement for 75th anniversary of Borough of Narberth, “Frozen-Foot
Murder: Narberth crime was celebrated case,” pp. 36-38.

159 Even the district attorney, in his closing statement on the final day of the trial, declared: “Crime has become rampant in
Montgomery County. Murders are being committed all around us, and it is time that the law should be vindicated,” trial
record, 14th day; also quoted in Philadelphia Inquirer, 26 September 1877.

Chapter 2-Page 77



the rail line in this vicinity. Led by the aforementioned Pennsylvania Railroad board member,
Centennial Exposition official and bank president, N. Parker Shortridge who lived nearby, these
neighbors included several of that railroad’s directors, two of its vice-presidents and other prominent
officials connected with it — in all, some fifty persons who subscribed $1,600 to see justice done.ts That
railroad men living in the surrounding community led the hunt for Elm Station’s “Centennial Year
murderer” surely was appropriate, in view of the deep involvement the Pennsylvania Railroad already
had in setting up a major transportation hub at EIm to access the Centennial grounds, as part of their
national effort to bring visitors to the fair.

Unquestionably, what served notice that this was not just “another homicide,” and from the start
put the Philadelphia metropolitan area newspapers on the scent of this murder case like a bloodhound,
was not so much finding the body. Instead, it was the fact that a blue-ribbon task force was offering
over a thousand-dollar reward for the murderer’s arrest and conviction. Hearing about that offer also
rattled David Abrams’ cage. A West Philadelphia resident, Abrams, fresh from his job as sergeant in the
Centennial Police Guards at the exposition, applied to be an investigator although he had no experience
as a policeman or detective. Without promise of a salary, he was permitted to make inquiries. On the
job, he turned in a performance worthy of Sherlock Holmes. And the teamwork of Squire Pearce and
Abrams mainly solved this case.

Meanwhile, the district attorney was assisted in the prosecution by a man retained by the special
committee of citizens residing in Lower Merion Township that had banded together to help solve the
crime. On the ninth day of the often-dramatic trial, the jury of farmers and mechanics who, dissatisfied
with the trial’s eight-hour day, had been clamoring to add night sessions lasting to ten-thirty in order to
speed things up got their request. The jury at this point also got transported to the murder scenetst some
fifteen miles from the courthouse. This trial was covered extensively in long and detailed accounts in all
of the then numerous Philadelphia metropolitan daily newspapers, and nationally and internationally in
all German language newspapers, which is how the Berlin family of the murder victim became alerted to
the reason for their son’s disappearance. Easily half the crowded courtroom consisted of women.

After the trial, with its parade of fifty witnesses for the prosecution, the jury found the suspect

160 An effort recognized in statements made at 13th day of trial, and reported in Philadelphia Inquirer, 21 and 25 September
1877, also Philadelphia Public Ledger, 25 Sept. 1877, and in Nolan’s Southeastern Pennsylvania, pp. 764-769.

161 On 23 September 1877 accompanied by officers, this Sunday trip having been authorized on trial’s 12th day, “provided
they do not stop anywhere [else],” trial record.
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guiltyts2 of murder in the first degree. The convict hanged himself with a bed sheet five months later, 163
after which his defense lawyer disclosed that the murderer had been using an alias to hide the fact that
he was the black sheep of a family very prominent in German business and social circles.1¢+ Wahlen’s
real name the lawyer did not reveal. Brought out in the trial testimony was the alarming fact that a
second still unsolved murderss had occurred around the same time as this crime in Mrs. Furey’s
boarding house (a former Price mansion) near the EIm train station.1ss Circumstantial evidence pointed
to Wahlen as the possible murderer in that case as well. Wahlen not only was very familiar with the
neighborhood, but he also had met the sensational trial’s young German murder victim at a North Front
Street eating place frequented by German immigrantsié” — and located very near the restaurant Mrs.

Furey owned on that same street.

Launching of the Town

Edward R. Price had dismissed early suggestions that he should found a town to stabilize the
neighborhood. Yet he apparently was listening carefully because a few years later he launched an
official plan to build a town on his own farm. By then, he had seen plenty to convince him to take
definite action as soon as possible.

The crisis point where this friction became most unbearable for farmer Price was reached in
1876, if not earlier, when three things occurred on the former Price land surrounding him. First came
launching of the racetrack and all that that meant. Then came the shocker: simultaneously two separate
murders occurred — one without much public attention in the former stately Price residence that had been
turned into a boarding house. The other was characterized by a Philadelphia metropolitan newspaper as
“the murder of the Centennial year” during its sensational murder trial in 1877. Those major crimes
committed on site must have been awfully persuasive for Price, because he soon took a decisive step.
Meanwhile, all through the late 1870s, he could see the gradual strengthening of the rail line as it passed

162 14th and last day of trial.

183 For an editorial on the convict’s death, see Philadelphian Inquirer, 25 February 1878, p.4.

164 philadelphia Public Ledger, 25 February 1878, p.1.

165 References to this other, almost simultaneous murder in that vicinity were most sharply focused in the testimony of the
trial’s 14th day, but did not alter the verdict against the defendant in the case. Trial record; also Philadelphia Public Ledger,
26 September 1877 and Philadelphia Inquirer, same date.

166 Editor’s note: as stated earlier approximately where the Narberth Post Office stands today.

167 Welcoming foreign immigrants to our shores, Philadelphia’s Catholic bishop, St. John Neumann, closely watched the
rapid build-up of German immigration here in the 1850s. It led to Wahren, a lapsed Catholic who squandered a chance to
shake free from negativity — choosing instead a life of crime in America.
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through here, with its rail station not much used yet, except by racetrack fans for whom the track
continued active into the 1920s.

Even with the trial ended and the convicted murderer dead, things did not return to normal.
After all, the racetrack was fast becoming a permanent fixture in the neighborhood. Stability was
needed. So the “last of the Prices” to own ancestral lands (nearly a hundred acres) here, the aging
Edward R. Price, living in the house built for his grandfather Rees Price in 1803 at 714 Montgomery
Avenue, was about to embark on the most ambitious scheme of his life.

Initially opposed to selling off any of his own acreage for development, Price had come around
to the idea by the time the scion of a whisky fortune Henry C. Gibson started building a baronial castle,
Maybrook, in Wynnewood partly on former Price land. Thus, Price’s own willingness to get personally
involved in starting his own village finally outstripped his fear about the disappearance of the last
vestige of Price farmland still surviving so close to his beloved Merion Meeting on a prime piece of land
his family made available for it.

There is implicit in Price’s action a response to history.1s¢ There is also a meditation on the
spiritual role of the inheritor of hallowed land which is perhaps unequaled in the action of any other
small Pennsylvania Welsh landowner. The vision Edward R. Price brings to this task of town-builder is
not of someone simply registering his intense moral indignation over what is happening around him,
indignation over the race track on former Price land, or the sensational EIm Station murder trial, or the
less sensational murder of the same period that must have outraged him because it happened in his great-
uncle’s beloved former home, converted into a boarding house by its owner Mrs. Furey.1* And of
course there was the constant commotion caused by the nearby slaughter house, if it bothered him. The

significant distinction here is that, in Price’s view, he [was] not exempt from the excesses or even the

188 Editor’s note: One of the author’s earlier drafts of this chapter contained the following: “Well aware that Philadelphia
established a police force in 1845 (partly due to the city’s “Know Nothing” riots of the 1840s) and before the city’s 1854
consolidation, Price sought a consolidation of his own, by re-writing the early Edward ap Rees properties.”[page 24 original]
169 Editor’s note: One of the author’s earlier drafts of this chapter contained information about the property owned by Mrs.
Furey, as follows: “The upper half of the original (1682) Price tract remained in family hands until a Philadelphia restaurant
owner, widow Maria Furey, bought it in 1871. Carden Warner’s brief (1905) borough history gives a good account of that
plantation prior to 1871. Mrs. Furey continued to farm the land profitably. She turned the large Price house (1770) near
present-day Windsor and Narberth Avenues into a boarding home. Eventually Maria Furey distributed to her daughters
Martha (Mrs. Marmaduke S. Moore) and Mary (Mrs. Joseph Mullineaux, Jr.) a few acres where they built adjoining houses at
417 and 413 Haverford Avenue.
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tragedy around him. How do we know?

By the care with which Price went about setting up the foundation of his town, we can see his
own willingness to get personally involved in bringing about what seemed to him the necessary changes.
So, Price possessed moral intelligence. And he was not sealed off from problems, ideas or emotions that
reached beyond the dialogue that various entrepreneurs around him were conducting with themselves,
particularly about how money was to be made from exploiting nearby land.

Edward R. Price was a farmer caught betwixt and between - between the entrepreneurs and
certain alienated immigrants on a suburban crime spree. But there was a larger dimension to it. He saw
the traditional rural society and the upheaval and social change being caused by the Industrial Age on a
collision course in his neighborhood, and he determined to do something about it.

That dichotomy between old agrarian ways and new industrial might was a global problem, at
least as important to Victorians as the stark concept then being advanced by reformers about the miseries
of the industrial poor in the dark mills and factories versus the rich — the “victims” vs. the “victors.” So,
when Price started a town on his farm, he was actually tackling one of the great problems of his day —
and doing it his way, by assembling a cadre of people, the key participants being volunteers. Farmer
Price apparently was quite persuasive in touting the need for stability and civility.

Even in the 1870s, Edward Price had a largeness of vision that other land-owning members of
his family lacked ever since his cousin Major Joseph Price, by his whole-hearted community
involvement, gave modern experience in Lower Merion Township almost an epic dimension at the turn
of the nineteenth century.

It was not until 1881, however, that this largeness of vision was given a form equal to its
expressive ambition. Edward Price’s approach to the radical innovations of modern suburban
development was cautious, skeptical and deeply critical. (We are told by Carden Warner in 1905 that
Price initially resisted developing his property.)17e In the end, Price was, | suppose, the most
conservative of town-builders — the most concerned to keep alive a sense of continuity with spiritual and
cultural foundations laid by the pioneering settlers who built the meeting house on Price land. He
remained firm in his devotion to this heritage. And then he found a means of achieving results through
community building that bequeathed to us the Borough of Narberth as we now know it.

Yet the pressure we sense was felt by the aging Price, as the mantle of commitment to the ideals

170 Carden F. Warner, Narberth’s Historical Prelude, 1616-1895. Bryn Mawr, Bryn Mawr Record, 1905
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of the venerable Welsh settlement weighed upon his stooped shoulders, cannot be explained entirely in
simple terms. Edward Price did not just decide to tackle something that would be all right or appropriate
for someone in his position to do. His commitment went beyond that. From his mature years onward —
and gaining momentum after the re-routing of the railroad tracks in the 1850s and especially after 1870
when suburbanization first began to take hold, Price set himself a limited agenda that he could launch.
And then it would be completed by others. As he saw it, he had one job to do: to provide a decent
interval of normalcy between the rural plantation way of life his forebears had known here and the
coming generation of town-dwellers who would settle on his land. He did that well, very well. Then he
was retired with thanks at his death, by his close supporters. Yet our town’s founding father is today an
all but forgotten figure. True, we have both a Price Avenue and a marker that Lower Merion Historical
Society placed upon it at 714 Montgomery Avenue, the house where Edward R. Price was born, lived all
his life and died. (And that house even has quite a history apart from him.):7t

We can only guess what Price may have thought of the classic Englishman’s dream of living in a
country village — something lordly property owners tried to realize with varying degrees of success.
Model villages of that sort were the creation of the landowning classes, so they tended to be “closed”
communities with picturesque-style buildings like private estates. Price achieved picturesqueness
initially too when he let the architects in, not just local builders, to create his own more open type of

town.

Godey’s Lady’s Book Village

For under the impetus of a growing moneyed class and the increasing demand for summer-
houses on Philadelphia’s Main Line, Edward R. Price reached out to attract that prosperous class by

commissioning a plan (1881) for a “Godey’s Lady’s Book!72 village” on his farm at Elm. His action

171 Editor’s note: In 1999, 714 Montgomery Avenue, known as the Rees Price House, was determined by the Pennsylvania
State Historic Preservation Officer to be eligible for inclusion on the National Register of Historic Places.

172 pyblished in Philadelphia by Louis A Godey, Godey’s Lady’s Book was the largest and most important periodical aimed
at American women in the nineteenth century. It maintained a high literary tone and included fashion plates in color. And
from 1846 to 1892 it published about four hundred-fifty house designs, original ones which, for historians, makes it a
valuable source book of popular architectural taste. Among the half-dozen or so architects linked with this mass-circulation
magazine at various periods, Isaac Harding Hobbs was its chief architectural contributor — active at three separate phases
(during his second phase with Godey, he did the EIm project). His fame did not extend beyond the pages of the magazine,
but he is believed responsible for transforming many an American suburb. Few examples of his towns or villages are
documented, however. While it is true that a concept

such as “Lady’s Book houses” reduces architecture to the status of a fashionable costume, this meant nonetheless that the
design of houses did thereby become for the first time a matter of concern to many middle-class women who earlier had left
such occupations to rich people. Hobbs’ designs for the magazine were feisty, sometime significant and often eccentric in
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took place pointedly during the two hundredth anniversary year that deeds were drawn up under King
Charles 11 of England for the founding of the Merion Welsh Colony in Pennsylvania. Price thus
launched his village with the sale of four large adjoining lots to carefully selected customers — five acres
to well-known community-builder Samuel Richards, two lots (six and three acres) to architect Isaac

Harding Hobbs, Jr., principal designer of homes for Godey’s Lady’s Book, and ten acres to Hobbs’

builder. At the time, any location across America with clusters of dwellings built from Hobbs’ popular
pattern-book house designs — and there were hundreds of such clusters — was referred to as a “Godey’s
Lady’s Book village.” Of course these houses at EIm were designed-to-order — for Price, for Richards —
rather than from published patterns, with the possible exception of the one built on speculation by a
Roxborough pattern merchant facing the Richards house.

Of course, the intention here at EIm was to obtain Hobbs-designed houses for Price’s new town,
and several were built. But beyond that, a nod to Hobbs’ then still current position as a contributor to
America’s then leading magazine for women is suggested by the layout of Lower Merion’s freshly
drawn 1881 atlas map of the EIm Station locality.17s Clearly shown is the nucleus of Price’s town upon
his farm, with its acreage and parcels belonging not to the actual new owners Samuel Richards and Isaac
Hobbs as their deeds state, but to their wives,17+ Elizabeth Ellison Richards and Mary Magdalene Hobbs.
Such “personalization” seems to have been a courtesy extended by the seller, lifelong bachelor Edward
R. Price, for only male names appear on the actual deeds. Putting women “on the map” this way did

them honor and made certain the pair would permanently be linked with the founding of the town of

the complimentary sense of the term. Hobbs’ chief architectural contribution is stated in George L. Hersey, “Godey’s
Choice” article, Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol. XVIII, No. 3, October 1959, pages 104-111.

173 Editor’s note: Found among the author’s writings was the following — “Croquet in the 1860s was for W. Homer what
sculling was for Thomas Eakins: a pastime that functioned coincidentally as a metaphor for much larger concerns. Croquet in
the 1860s was not simply the hot new game that had reached this country from Ireland via England. It was the first and only
outdoor game in which women competed on equal terms with men. Play was expected to begin at 4 p.m. and stop at 7.”

174 Both from native-born American Protestant backgrounds, these women are otherwise a study in contrasts. Evidently a
traditional woman, Elizabeth came of a rich Quaker family, her father a major player in the drama of the rise of textile
manufacturing to the heights in Philadelphia in the nineteenth century, a time when challenges to the flexible production of
Philadelphia’s family-owned firms was being successfully met. On the other hand, Mary Magdalene, a spunky and
outspoken woman, appears to have come from far more modest circumstances, and she took in boarders at various lean
periods of her husband’s career as an architect in order to make ends meet. She lost a son in the Civil War. Her husband had
been a draftsman for the distinguished architect John M. Gries before opening his own office. And it is believed Hobbs did
seashore cottages for Richards’ land development company. Also noteworthy, Hobbs had designed by this time two
riverfront houses for Harrisburg’s then most prominent family, the McCormicks who, like the Chicago Tribune McCormick
publishers and Cyrus McCormick, inventor of the McCormick reaper, were descendants of a McCormick family from
Northern Ireland that settled in Dauphin County, PA in 1734. Mary Magdalene possibly therefore may have been a poor
relation of the McCormicks, and felt herself entitled to share the limelight with the textile baron’s daughter. Her feistiness
suggests as much.
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Elm by future generations of residents. It was a boost too for the largest and most important periodical
aimed at American women in the nineteenth century and a boost too for Hobbs who had long enjoyed by
then a reputation as “Godey’s favorite architect,” responsible for transforming many an American
suburb.

Despite superficial differences in style, the homes built in 1881-1884 on these lots, some
adjacent houses and three other big architect-designed ones at nearby Libertyville, all built by 1890,
shared certain fundamental elements which reflect the energy of the period. These elements were on the
one hand a desire to break away from the agricultural traditions of the neighborhood, and on the other,
imbalance and surprise.

As cornerstone of his new settlement at EIm, Price chose as its first resident a leading
representative of the closest thing this country had to a landed aristocracy. He invited fellow Quaker
Samuel Richards,7s a scion of a family for many years among the largest landowners in the eastern
United States, their holdings of more than a quarter of a million acres having included New Jersey’s
Wharton tract. The ancestral home of both these men was in Merioneth, northern Wales. One of
Richards’ great-grandfathers was the first American naturalist John Bartram. Richards’ father founded
two glassworks and owned Joseph Bonaparte’s mansion “Point Breeze” in Bordentown, New Jersey, the
famous former home of Napoleon’s brother, Joseph Bonaparte. That elegant house, the nearest thing to
a Royal Establishment in U.S. History, stood at the Delaware River opposite and just above
“Andalusia,” the Biddle family seat in America. Yet Sam Richards was welcomed here more as a
catalyst than an ornament. For it was said of him as a layer of rails and a town-builder that Sam looked
like a bank president and worked like a horse.176

Did Samuel Richards convince Edward R. Price to start a town here? Did he help Price
overcome his earlier objections, saying that he would gladly come and live here himself? That is
probably close to the truth. Richards had a reputation as a persuasive orator, super-salesman and a
thinker in advance of his time. A Philadelphia merchant with sand in his shoes, Richards had promoted
the first rail travel to the Jersey coast,'7” was the true founder of Atlantic City and began promoting its

shore real estate when the beachfront between Long Branch to the north and Cape May to the south was

15 Arthur D. Pierce. Family Empire in Jersey Iron: The Richards Enterprise in the Pine Barrens, 1964.

176 Carmelita de Salma Jones. “Batsto and the Bloonaries Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography, XLVII, No. 1,
1923, pages 185-195, about the career of this prominent businessman who owned Atsion furnace (“his greatest pride”) on
75,000 acres in N.J. and was a man “of keen intelligence and lively public spirit” as well as an inventor and developer.

17 |bid. Fifty-four miles of the railroad leading to Atlantic City built under his personal supervision in 90 days, were later
absorbed by the Reading Railroad. (Sam Richards, 1818-1895)
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a barren waste. He was a man to be listened to about community building. Always interested in a place
with a future, Richards in 1881 became the mainspring of EIm village.

Fifteen years earlier Richards had founded with his brother the full-size town of Atco, New
Jersey, seizing what he saw as an opportunity provided by presence of a new railroad junction. Streets
he named in alphabetical order, except the main avenue, which he named after the town. Atco’s street-
naming sequence was the prototype for Narberth’s.

Besides having several inventions to his credit (including a railroad snow plow), the
tremendously hard-driving and energetic Samuel Richards was described as sometimes pitching in
alongside workers laying tracks for his “railroad to nowhere,” which serviced Atlantic City with
astonishing success.17s Richards’ Ventnor, Margate Land Company also got involved in the physical
development of several beachfront communities that materialized after he launched the idea of a string
of southern New Jersey seashore resorts, and named one of them Atlantic City.

As the excitement of his own ventures was beginning to subside, and with Atco even publishing
its own newspaper by then as its latest success story, Richards went house hunting. He was looking for
a place to live near Philadelphia with his wife Elizabeth Moore Ellison, his second son and business
partner, low-keyed S. Bartram Richards and that son’s recent bride Mary Dorrance Evans, known as
“Polly.”179 Isabel Bishop, the distinguished New York painter, was Samuel Richards’ grandniece. At
the time the Dorrances had strong New Jersey ties, most notably their ownership of the Camden-based
food-processing firm Campbell Soup Company, now a publicly held, multi-national corporation. The
Dorrance family had been wanting to strengthen its ties with Philadelphia because it had marriageable
daughters.t80 Polly’s arrival here seems to have led that Dorrance migration.

Another plus-factor the Richards had, in Price’s eyes, was their flawless Quaker credentials,
especially those of Sam Richards’ wife Elizabeth. Her father, John B. Ellison, a nationally prominent
cloth merchant and proprietor of some of those Satanic mills the Victorian reformers loved to hate, was
a staunch Friend. Her aunt and namesake, Elizabeth Ellison, was a widely known preacher in the
Society of Friends. Presence of the Richardses provided Price with the best possible “sales pitch” for his

village. That project at EIm was the golden dream of three men in their golden years — farmer Price, the

178 See Arthur D. Pierce’s Family Empire in Jersey Iron: The Richards Enterprises in the Pine Barrens. 1964

179 John Thompson Dorrance Jr., while board chairman of both Campbell Soup Company and the Philadelphia Museum of
Art, spoke fondly of his “Aunt Polly” in questions put to him by this writer through Ralph Collier, then Campbell Museum
president.

180 |bid. Asked about the family’s move to Pennsylvania, Dorrance explained it thus.
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populist architect Isaac Harding Hobbs, Jr. and Samuel Richards. Of these, the Richardses personally
retained some of their land the longest, nearly forty years.

Once he decided to found a town, Price had begun looking for an edge in attracting residents for
it. His approach was, initially, [to get] into the mortgage business.:st He was taking a leaf, | suppose,
from his Price colonial ancestor who had held a mortgage on the Lower Merion property “Harriton,”
now a museum.1s2 Most likely Price took the matter up with a bank as his partner by setting up some sort
of account — one to be used to cover construction of several large houses, and thus overcome a financial
barrier that people in the market for homes, then as now, so often have found hard to overcome. Such a
program enabled Price to offer mortgages for the full cost of constructing each of three large houses,
though indications are that he was prepared to back several more, which did not materialize.
Meanwhile, the money for the down payment seems to have been guaranteed by Price and folded into
the mortgage. Price continued to draw interest on the money, which was returned to him after a few
years. One prospective land-buyer dropped out of the program just at the outset. But there was no
default, except for one tract of land Price sold to Hobbs’ builder. For the other participants, the down
payment was the hurdle, and after that they could afford the mortgage. So, Price had a modest
mortgage-assistance program to guide development from scratch in his town, and thus protect the area
ten or twenty years down the line. It was also part of being a good neighbor. Edward R. Price’s
program was only operative between 1881 and 1883. By then Elm’s “first family,” after renting an
Ardmore house, was already settled in its new home on five acres. And architect Hobbs completed
paying his builder for constructing two large houses on the land Hobbs owned by transferring the deed
for those houses to the builder, who in turn was paid in cash by selling them to Edward R. Price. Price
had the houses on his hands for two years until T. Broom Belfield entered the picture and bought them
both. But more about that later.

The site selected for the planned town of EIm was excellent. It crowned the center of Edward R.
Price’s nearly hundred-acre farm and the layout of its earliest avenues, including one called EIm Street,
can be seen on the atlas map of 1881, the year its first distribution of deeds was recorded.
Picturesqueness and variety distinguished this hamlet of Hobbs-designed houses. Narberth’s largest
mansion, razed for Montgomery Court apartments, and another Hobbs dwelling (now called

181 Reminds me [the author] of the innovative program started in 1995 by Lycoming College in upstate Williamsport,
whereby to help keep its neighborhood safe and viable, it launched a mortgage assistance program for the general public — as
a preventive measure aimed at protecting the area twenty years into the future.

182 Editor’s note: Harriton House was listed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1973.
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Vauclain/Barrie House parsonage) stood together on a high broad shoulder of land on Hobbs’ own nine
acres that sliced across a bluff to Indian Creek. These two houses, the larger one with a wrap-around
porch, fronted on different streets. Vauclain/Barrie House, like its former “mate,” is rugged and reflects
Hobbs’ sense of power over massive structures and over its sometimes mildly extravagant
ornamentation such as its Renaissance iron archway entrance to the front porch. This Queen Anne
Revival-style dwelling also tips its hat to American Renaissance later in the century.

Detailing on the larger “mate” to this house was similar but not identical, as for example the
relief pattern of the brickwork on the tall chimneys, the larger north bay of the Belfield house. And that
most American of features — the encircling verandah of the Belfield house - was greatly played up far
more so than in the Vauclain house, the idea being to form a spatial transition from indoors to outdoors.

But Hobbs had made his greatest contribution to American house design with the boldness and
eccentricity of his interior floor plans. Here at EIm we find him moving beyond this toward the Queen
Anne wide-open “living hall” idea, in which he tried to make the first floor seem like a single immense
room, something he had only hinted at earlier with lots of doors and cross-vistas, but which he seems to
have carried further here than in perhaps any other surviving Hobbs house although partitioning (c.
1930) of first floor spaces obscures the openness.

This house, long enhanced by the cheerfulness and grace of an enormous white birch that shaded
the entrance, faces Price Avenue. But its balcony and picturesque largest window overlook the length of
that lot to acknowledge what must have been a wonderfully romantic view westward along the steep
slope to the stream.

The same year he finished this and the adjoining residences, Hobbs published a book, The

Mechanism of the Universe, Lippincott, 1833, intended to prove the existence of God and things
spiritual by scientific investigation. Such inspirational books for the general reader were plentiful in his
day. So Hobbs once again was showing his readiness fully to engage in popular culture trends. He also
had several patented inventions.

Vauclain/Barrie House now is the last leaf in the first round of Narberth town planning
personally presided over by Edward R. Price. Since it was built speculatively, it provides unique
testimony about what kind of newcomers were sought for this community in 1881. In putting up new
buildings, Victorians sought satisfaction, not from beauty, but from attaining what would befit the
station in life of prospective buyers. Thus, it might have gratified Price and Hobbs to know that two

men of achievement, both medal-winners at the Paris International Exposition of 1900, lived in this
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house in succession — Samuel Vauclain cited for locomotive design and George Barrie for publishing
deluxe editions of the classics. That occasion marked the first time American achievement was singled
out and celebrated in a European setting.

Samuel Vauclain, legendary head of the Baldwin Locomotive Works, was Narberth’s first
industrial giant. He lived here during the dazzling days of that huge firm’s expansion while his Baldwin
Company dominated the locomotive world and was fast becoming one of America’s largest employers,
producing built-to-order steam engines marked “Philadelphia U.S.A.” In many ways Vauclain was far
ahead of his time, promoting national and local prosperity as well as an improved market for American
goods. Samuel Vauclain was the guest-resident of this surviving house from 1885 to 1901, courtesy of
its owner, brass manufacturer T. Broom Belfield, a close friend and admirer who lived in the adjoining
Hobbs Mansion, and whose nearby industry brassworks near Baldwin’s plant produced all manner of
locomotive fittings for that colossus including bells and whistles. While Belfield owned these
properties, what became the Vauclain/Barrie House was exclusively for Vauclain use. Though residing
in a townhouse on Philadelphia’s Green Street, Samuel Vauclain was a strong believer in country living
and fresh air for his young family. According to his autobiography Steaming Up (1930), Vauclain also
believed in going along with recommendations from friends he knew always had his best interests at
heart. With that outlook, he readily would have accepted use of the Narberth house when Belfield
enthusiastically offered. Belfield may have had the idea in mind when he was making his decision to
buy the two big adjoining EIm houses instead of one. On Thanksgiving Day 1901, the Vauclains left
their Narberth house for “Broadlawn,” a mansion built for them in Rosemont on a site now occupied by
an apartment complex initially called Broadlawn, and since renamed Home Properties of Bryn Mawr.

Scottish-born George Barrie added a whiff of exclusive connoisseurship to the Narberth legend
when he took up residence in the former Vauclain house in 1910. Barrie had already pledged himself to
the comfortable values of the proud possessors of books and objects, such as J. Pierpont Morgan, a
Barrie customer. Barrie called his house “Puir-Hilch,” and Barrie Road, later built on a piece of his
land, is named after him. His wife, Renee Barrie, planted the stunning carpet of periwinkle-blue
chionodoxa bulbs naturalized in the front lawn and still a joy to see in April (as are the February-
blooming crocus sieberi that lawyer Fletcher W. Stites planted by the thousands in his front lawn at 413
Haverford Avenue).

Largest private home ever built here, Hobbs’s Belfield summer residence at the southwest corner

of Narberth and Price Avenues, was renovated (when about two years old and still empty) by architect
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James A. Windrim soon after Belfield bought it in 1885. A member of the University of Pennsylvania
Museum board of managers, T. Broom Belfield was a stern disciplinarian who had nine sons and three
daughters. Somewhat in advance of the bicycle craze in this country, Belfield insisted his sons bicycle
daily on their high-wheeler bikes to their Belfield brass foundry jobs at Broad and Spring Garden
Streets. High wheelers, with their high front wheel and small rear one, were expensive and difficult to
ride. So, seeing the Belfield squadron of bike riders on the road must have been a startling sight.
Alexander C. Shand, chief engineer of the Pennsylvania Railroad next owned this house and called it
“Douglas Garden,” its garden still remembered as an asset to the neighborhood. Only the garden or at
least some if it remains, encircled by the borough’s largest apartment block, 110-unit Montgomery
Court, built in 1939.

The Belfields before the turn of the century began the Christmas custom of lighting the towering
hemlock on their grounds, Mrs. Percy Belfield told me. This tradition has been continued every year by
Montgomery Court Apartments management, and features 800 lights topped by a venerable three-foot
star visible from the railroad station. Carolers from the Methodist church usually gather beneath the
tree.183 Believed planted by Mr. Belfield is another surviving tree, an umbrella ginkgo (Ginkgo Biloba)
named one of the top three of this species in a five-county area by Dr. John C. Swartley who included it
in his “social register” of “extraordinary trees” published by Morris Arboretum in 1970.

South of the Belfield residence, architect Isaac H. Hobbs took full advantage of EIm’s rolling
terrain by placing his Victorian Gothic-style Richards house of ashy-pink stone at the summit of a long
gentle southerly slope exactly where the ground levels off. The house faced Old Gulph Road (named
Narberth Avenue where it passes through the borough). Its pinkish stone gateposts can still be seen at
#224.

There is a revealing contrast here between these different types of dwellings by Hobbs. The
closely related, eclectic Belfield and Vauclain house designs show trace-elements of a brand-new
architectural style which its practitioners soon called American Renaissance and that would reach its
apex at the turn-of-the-century (note the Vauclain/Barrie house’s several Italianate classical details such
as a type of Palladian window and the way the “look™ of these two houses caters to the cultural
ambitions of people who would buy them).

But the Richards house, constructed at the same time, sprang from quite another and more rural-

183 Editor’s note: The Methodist church no longer functions as such but it is possible that carolers still gather beneath the tree.
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friendly tradition. Veteran land developer Sam Richards’ vision of a house for himself in a new suburb
remained true to the mid-nineteenth century liking for emphatic and pictorial qualities of Gothic
Revival, which included stone with a bit of color to it rather than dull gray and gables edged with lacy
ornamental verge boards. And Victorians could be counted on to obsess over the relative merits of two
kinds of architecture — any styles hinting at classical antiquity versus the Gothic, with the former tilted
toward egalitarianism and the latter looking back toward old-time extensive quasi-aristocratic land
ownership. So Richards’ preference for Gothic seems right on the mark.

It is interesting to speculate which Hobbs house of these built on his farm under his supervision
Edward R. Price preferred. Most likely it was Richards’ late phase Gothic Revival one, because Price
might have seen in that new resident, like himself a descendant of early Welsh settlers from Merioneth
believed of ancient aristocratic Cymric lineage, an alter-ego, for, although dissimilar in many ways, the
two men were close contemporaries. And the Gothic Revival style had its heyday in rural settings
during the vigor of their early middle age.

Careful thought went into the house built speculatively directly opposite Richards in support of
the Price plan. The client, a satellite of the Godey fashion empire, was a Germantown fashion industry
pattern merchant of women’s dress patterns and presumably Hobbs house-patterns as well, who may
have been a friend of Hobbs. That merchant sold the attractive wood-and-shingle house (1883) to
widow Mary Ann Anderson Williamson who lived there with her son William von Albade Williamson,
clerk of the U.S. Third Circuit Court of Appeals, and his wife Maria Elizabeth McKean. Doubtless
hand-picked as congenial neighbors for the Richardses, Mrs. Williamson’s roots were in colonial New
Amsterdam, while her late husband’s family, the Williamsons, had a title to land granted them at
Passyunk township in 1667 by a British governor in New York.

Two Williamson relatives had a finger in development at EIm — Mary Williamson’s brother-in-
law and her husband’s first cousin. The brother-in-law, Percival Roberts, Sr., founder of Pencoyd Iron
Works, looked after Mary’s welfare at EIm to the extent he put his signature first among six names on a
petition (1887) to widen her street, Old Gulph Road (Narberth Avenue). The cousin was George Brooke
Roberts, then Pennsylvania Railroad president, who in 1892 accommodated the wishes of area residents
by naming our rail station Narberth. Roberts did not originate that name, though he is often credited
with doing so.

Norman Jefferies, owner after 1911 of the Williamson house at 219 North Narberth Avenue

(since razed for St. Margaret’s parking lot), installed there a replica of Independence Hall’s staircase.
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His wife, the former English actress Gwendolyn Jane Pinces, created an English garden showplace on
the grounds. In the theatrical business and a motion picture pioneer, Norman Jefferies (uncle of athlete
Jack Jefferies) originated the famous 1909 hoax whereby the “Jersey Devil,” a legendary lizard-skinned,
fork-tailed creature whose home town is Leeds Point, a Pine Barrens hamlet in Galloway township, New
Jersey was “captured” and put on display in a dime museum at Ninth and Market. Mr. and Mrs.
Jefferies were ardent supporters of the Narberth cherry blossom tradition and a close friend of Narberth
adventure writer Daniel P. Mannix, 4th. About 1927, Mrs. Jefferies opened a flower shop, later a dress
shop run a long while by her granddaughter at the same address on the main street.

In 1886, the stove and cupola manufacturer William L. McDowell (president of Leibrandt and
McDowell) took the surprising step of recasting the Libertyville neighborhood in a more contemporary
mold. This he did by causing a “mansion”184 to be built there on a small lot he bought (in the present
borough) at a sheriff’s sale.185 As McDowell was a contemporary of Edward R. Price, and lived almost
directly across Montgomery Avenue from him on the grounds of a historic Price house, | believe this
project was a dramatic salute by this industrialist to the early success of Price’s village-building efforts.
It likewise can be seen as a salute to Elm’s several prestigious new residents, especially Samuel
Richards. On the grounds of the “witch’s” daughter Elizabeth, this large stone house became “Bel-
Bryn,” the residence of the Joseph D. Ellis family of Fairmount. Still standing at 1236 Montgomery
Avenue, it now houses the Evviva Restaurant.is¢ Ellis’s partner in real estate, his brother J. Pemberton
Ellis of Powelton Village, soon built an imposing stone house at Montgomery and Wynnewood Avenues
(often chosen by brides for their wedding receptions when in its final years it served at a parish house
for the adjacent All Saints Episcopal Church), before being replaced by Wyndmont Apartment.

Narberth’s most prominent family of Swedish colonial ancestry were the Justices. At

Libertyville on part of the site of Jacob R. Hagy’s former farm, silverware manufacturer F. Millwood

184 probably by architects Hazelhurst & Huckel

185 The actual circumstances of McDowell’s project are intriguing. He set up legal “covenants and agreements” to obtain the
imposing house he wanted, to assure that he be paid ample ground rent, and to re-claim ownership if anyone defaulted. His
deed conveyed the lot formerly owned by the “witch’s” daughter Elizabeth (with small buildings on it) to Isaac B. Culin of
Philadelphia, a dry goods store cleric probably of Swedish ancestry. Culin thereby agreed to construct within one year “a
good and substantial three-story stone house of sufficient value fully to secure the said yearly rent described” (which ground
rent could be extinguished only by paying ten thousand dollars to McDowell). Culin the same day conveyed this property,
and its ground rent obligation, to the Joseph D. Ellis family of Fairmount, reserving to himself the task of seeing that the
mansion got built.

18 There is strange poetic justice in mandating a Swede to build a stone mansion only a few feet from a couple of log cabins
that may be Swedish and are still in existence though transformed in their appearance. When the house next door at 1226 was
modernized in 1887, its cabin was demolished. Whether McDowell was aware of this, we do not know.
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Justice built a large house (Minerva Parker Nichols architect) at 1104 Montgomery Avenue's” on land he
acquired in 1889 and 1890. Son of a prosperous hardware importer, “Mill” Justice (who eventually
served on Narberth’s first borough council) and his brother Alfred were born at Powelton Village of a
Quaker family related to colonial silversmith Philip Syng. Their merchant grandfather George M.
Justice had helped spearhead a movement toward higher public education in this country, was a founder
of Central High School, started a public astronomical observatory, and was an American Philosophical
Society member. When a street was cut through Justice’s property, it was called Stepney Place after
“Mill’s” father-in-law, attorney Albert Stepney Letchworth whose law office was then stylishly located
near Independence Hall. Letchworth lived at Justices’ in an apartment planned for him there when that
Victorian house was on the drawing board.

Alfred R. Justice, “Mill’s” brother, also lived in Narberth, eventually in the Richards house, and
his letter1ss to his fiancée Jessie Lewisin on July 26, 1891, provides a vivid glimpse of early life in the
depths of the countryside here:

The walk [with “Mill” and a cousin] served to stimulate our appetites and we enjoyed a
dinner of vegetables from our own garden and some very good ice cream from the little store
near by (not quite equal to Blank’s). Our garden is doing very well this season much better than
last, and we luxuriate in all kinds of garden truck except corn, and we would have had that had it
not been for our cow, who broke loose one night and ignoring everything else except the
strawberries completely destroyed our “Dreer’s early.” On Saturday afternoon | invited Will
Ferris to come out and play tennis with us. He and Mill stood Mr. Forsythe and myself and we
were very evenly matched. The day was so cool and pleasant that we thoroughly enjoyed it. In

the evening we had music and chess.

The easy good manners of all concerned remind us that the village did not need Galsworthy.
Elm had a Forsythe Saga of its own, in its early unhurrying days.

187 This late Victorian manse is today the principal showpiece in the region for Philadelphia’s leading woman architect of the
nineteenth and early-twentieth centuries, Minerva Parker Nichols. Chicago-born granddaughter of architect Seth A. Doane,
Nichols undertook about six house-design jobs at EIm just after the architect for whom she had been working, Edwin W.
Thorne, and whom she succeeded in his Philadelphia office in 1888, became embroiled in a lawsuit with his EIm client, E.
Napoleon Manning (racetrack promoter William L. McDowell’s son-in-law). Minerva’s local residences comprise the largest
cluster of her houses anywhere, although a vacation cottage that this Victorian career woman designed at Bellefonte in
Central Pennsylvania is better known, having been the inspiration for a Gothic novel. “Mill” Justice was the client for
Minerva’s finest house at Elm, he and his brother Alfred R. having been born in Philadelphia’s Powelton Village section of a
Quaker family that had produced colonial silversmith Philip Syng.

188 Collection of Mr. Jean Justice Collins
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Edward Forsythe, mentioned in the letter was an investment broker and manager of Des Moines
Land and Trust Company dealing in “choice Western mortgages and school bonds” (1888
advertisement). He came of a Chadds Ford family that claims many educators in its family tree, starting
in 1799 with the legendary first male teacher at Westtown School, John Forsythe. Edward Forsythe was
an Orthodox Friend and his wife Hannah Yerkes a Hicksite, which made for lively discussions in the
spacious home Edward, while still a bachelor, had built at EIm in 1889-90 on Price Avenue facing the
Vauclain/Barrie House. Forsythe, who placed a large windmill on his grounds, gave serious
consideration to establishing a branch of Westtown School there — something that would have pleased
Elizabeth Richards whose father was a prominent alumnus of that renowned Quaker boarding school.
Designed by architect Charles W. Bolton, the Forsythe house still stands, embedded now in a housing
subdivision. Everything about that house’s character, and about Edward Forsythe’s background,
suggests that this Haverford College graduate built the long-time Forsythe family residence at EIm
through the influence of Samuel and S. Bartram Richards. Both Forsythe and the father/son Richards
partners had their land development offices in the Drexel Building, Philadelphia.

To broaden the appeal of his town-building idea beyond the Quaker community, Price —
undoubtedly through Richards - had assiduously courted a leader who, somewhat experienced in
Philadelphia ward politics, was a reform-minded politician independent of the city machine. This was
John Jacob Ridgway who often gave talks on the stump for Progressive candidates running for office
and later was appointed U.S. Surveyor of Customs of the Port of Philadelphia in President Harrison’s
administration. Ridgway knew real estate from his experience as Philadelphia Sheriff, 1884-7, a post to
which the governor had appointed him to fill out an unexpired term. Ridgway went into action on Elm’s
behalf immediately after Edward R. Price’s death, as if on cue. And he brought with him as allies a
couple of lawyers with sheriff’s department experience. These were the Simpsons father and son, whose
selfless dedication as community-builders would be put to the test here for years to come. [More on this
later.]

The hyper-active flurry of the Godey-inspired plan that had welcomed birthright Quakers and
industrialists alike did not last long. Farmer Price’s death in April 1887 signaled the end of 205 years of
Price presence in the neighborhood. And it set the stage for a different approach to development with the
immediate sale to Ridgway of land that had belonged to other descendants of the Price family until
recent decades. By early 1888, despite continuance until 1919 of lot sales by Price Estate trustees, such

vitality and initiative as there had been in the Price large-house village episode was extinguished. And
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Price’s original intention of selling his land in lots of not less than two acres was soon set aside. The
contrived irregularity of the placement of Hobbs mansions quickly gave way, under the guiding hand of
Sam Richards’ younger colleague and hand-picked organizer John J. Ridgway, to a tight grid plan with

small building lots that partially surrounded and eventually encroached on the “Godey’s Lady’s Book

village.” So, Price’s goal of founding a full-fledged town was carried toward completion after that
farmer’s death by an experienced community builder (Sam Richards) and a politician active nationally
in the Progressive movement (John J. Ridgway). And despite the drastic changes this involved, it is still
comforting to realize that Narberth is a town that Edward R. Price willed into existence. Remarkably
Ridgway soon chose a woman developer for his Real Estate Investment Company of Philadelphia
project. He and Richards were Price’s “miracles,” as it remains a mystery precisely how he happened to
join forces with them. Richards seems to have settled into living at Elm as part of a “pact” with a fellow
Quaker, Price. Presiding on site thus seemed to be Richards’ assigned role here as an experienced town-
builder. What was more urgently needed with each passing year at EIm was someone, preferably
another understanding Quaker, willing to step in and be a developer - above all, someone who would
buy that lynchpin former Price tract that was about to come on the market and subdivide it into a plan of
lots. Then find someone willing to be a full-service developer able to construct houses and other
buildings there. All these things Ridgway did. So, even though he played chiefly a transitional role in
this project, Ridgway was actually the single most important individual in the achievement of Price’s

town-building goal.

John Jacob Ridgeway1s

Who was Ridgway and how did he accomplish this, inasmuch as he, unlike Richards, had no
experience as a developer? The short answer is that Ridgway was a prominent politician, a blueblood,
and a Quaker with ties to the advance guard of the nascent Civic Reform Movement in Philadelphia.
This lawyer and public figure was the first developer of land bordering on Price’s village. Ridgway
bought that crucial lynchpin tract of 58.31 acres in November,9 then in January 1888 for one dollar
turned the land over to Real Estate Investment Company of Philadelphia, a corporate real estate and
brokerage firm he had just founded. The acquisition launched the firm, of which Ridgway was president

189 Editor’s Note: Much of this section on John Jacob Ridgway could be left out of this Cultural History of Narberth — but has
been left in for its historic interest.

190 Editor’s note: in an earlier version of this chapter, the author noted that Ridgway paid $75,000 for the land purchased from
Maria Furey subject to two mortgages of $25,000 each and another of $7,000.
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and his rich brother-in-law, attorney J. Parker Norris, one of the members. From every indication,
Ridgway founded this firm for the express purpose of accomplishing Edward Price’s goal of buying
back this central core of what had been the seventeenth-century Price family plantation, and where
several early stone buildings had stood, only one then still surviving.

The Ridgway family had Anglophile interests that soon would make a permanent imprint in
names given to our roads and to the eventual borough itself. Settled in this country since 1679, the
Ridgways were very interested in their Elizabethan and Jacobean family heritage in England and Ireland
where the family has prominent early tombs. 1

As soon as his new firm acquired the tract at EIm, John Ridgway mapped a grid plan for streets
(that were later simply extended), gave them British names, 2 fixed the size of building lots at about 50
by 150 feet, and numbered each (from (1 to 315). That arrangement has remained the dominant plan in
effect with few changes to this day. Windsor Avenue was created as the development’s only east-west
street and main thoroughfare running along the seventeenth and eighteenth century-Price cow-path93
from the former Price barn at Forrest Avenue to the meadow that started at Conway Avenue, and
parallel to Haverford Avenue where the old Price waterwheel was.

The single exception to Ridgway’s alphabetical listing is Narberth Avenue (east of Forrest), the
only “through” street on the tract at the time. This existing street, an extension of historic Old Gulph
Road,+ was just being widened when the portion running through the Ridgway tract was named
Narberth Avenue. This name change comes to light in a deed of sales for a Narberth Avenue house on
February 16, 1888. The deed says a “plan of land” had already been recorded for the tract. Thus
“Narberth” made its first public appearance here as a street name, and not just any street.

Significantly this Welsh name was applied to the main street of the Lady’s Book village founded
in 1881 on Price’s property, adjoining the north side of Ridgway’s project. At the time the Richards had
already been living there five years, in surroundings that had a kind of open-ended Quaker character.

191 Edwin Wolf 2d, correspondence with the author.

192 Ridgway named the new north-south avenues in alphabetical order starting at the westerly end with Alton (later dropped),
Berkley, Conway, Dudley, Essex, Forrest, Grayling, Hampden, and lona. Besides English place names and names of
prominent Elizabethan public figures, Conway is a true Gaelic Celtic Irish surname as well as the name of a ruined Welsh
medieval fortress at Breconshire. lona probably refers to the island off Scotland. Because it is so near Essex Avenue, Forrest
Avenue’s name may relate to the extensive Forest of Essex north of London. The spelling “Hampden” is that of the
distinguished seventeenth-century English parliamentary leader John Hampden who, like Oliver Cromwell, wanted to
emigrate to America but did not.

193 See Carden Warner.
194 This ancient trail is believed to be the one Indians from Passyunk used to go hunting.

195 Deed Book 320, page 67
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In April of [1888], John J. Ridgway began writing his autobiography which gives remarkable
insight into the man, his heritage and public career even though it does not specifically mention his real
estate venture at EIm. Born in 1843 at 911 Arch Street, Philadelphia, John was the eighth and youngest
child of a couple married twenty-two years. His mother Sarah, sister of the eminent surgeon Joseph
Pancoast, was forty-one at the time of his birth, his banker father forty-six. John’s favorite activities as a
child were drawing goats and horses and adding tall columns of figures for visitors.»os Also he was
allowed to light the hall chandelier daily from the shoulders of a black manservant. In the Society of
Friends schism, John's father, who had arrived in Philadelphia in 1813 from New Jersey, supported the
Hicksites. And John's mother became a Hicksite too, though her son “to this day” (1887) found it hard to
understand the distinction between Orthodox and Hicksite Quakers. “My father was more liberal than
other Quakers I know or knew,” said he, possibly referring to farmer Edward R. Price, (a Hicksite).
Ridgway explained that his father was liberal insofar as he never wore a wide-brimmed hat or shad-
bellied coat. Nor did his mother ever wear the Quaker dress. His sisters had a piano, he a billiard table,
and there were pictures in the house. And yet his father was very faithful in attending meeting on
Sundays (John had the impression that his father was long-time cleric of the meeting at Fifteenth and
Race Streets). At the Yearly Meetings that were such a vital part of Quaker life, John's father “filled the
house with attending members from the country.” This is very likely where the Price family members of
various generations would have come into contact with the Ridgways, if at no other time for they would
have been well aware of the hospitality extended to Friends personally by John's father. Thomas
Ridgway left the whole of his estate ($400,000) in trust, as income for his eight children. And the
Ridgways had a tradition, begun by a grandfather in 1776, of marrying on November fourteenth. That
way, many generations of the family and siblings would “usually always” celebrate their wedding
anniversaries together, including John's marriage which took place in 1867. John Ridgway went to the
University of Pennsylvania, was a graduate of its law school and, as required, he entered the office of a
practicing attorney (Morton P. Henry). But not before the Civil War intervened.

An enthusiastic Unionist, Ridgway persuaded other fellow Penn classmates to join the Gray
Reserves, subsequently the First Regiment, N.G.P. He enlisted as a private in 1861, seeing action at
Antietam. And he enlisted in the regular army again in 1863, arriving by way of Carlisle at the Battle of

Gettysburg with his five Delta Psi college fraternity chums including one Southerner and losing one of

196 In his papers at the Library Company of Philadelphia, Ridgway declares his favorite activity as a very young child was being allowed to sit upon the shoulders of his family’s black

manservant in order to light all the tapers in the Ridgway household chandelier at nightfall.
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these comrades under heavy fire. Ridgway also served during the retreat of the Confederate forces at
Hagerstown that involved six weeks of hard marching, and a skirmish at Boonsborough. ....

Ridgway was a close associate of distinguished historian Henry C. Lea who ran the Citizens'
Municipal Reform Association, the first group effort in Philadelphia to counteract the abuses of
“machine” politics. Ridgway supported that association and also made stump speeches for reform
candidates. He himself was elected to represent the Eighth Ward in City Council, serving from 1883-
1885. Ridgway knew real estate from his experience as Philadelphia sheriff, a post to which he was
appointed in 1887 by Governor Beaver to fill the unexpired term of W. Ellwood Rowan. He served four
years as United States Surveyor of Customs of the port of Philadelphia in President Benjamin Harrison's
administration - following a surprise appointment he heard nothing about until he read about it in the
evening newspaper (1889). As Surveyor, Ridgway arranged a visit of President Harrison to this city
where the chief executive was his guest and attended a Grand Army reunion. In the 1870s, Ridgway had
been instrumental with his friend Ur. William Camac in obtaining, needed funds and a site for a
Philadelphia Zoo, at a crucial moment when neither necessity could be found. It was said197 of Ridgway
that he “had unusual public spirit and affection for his native city.”

He seemed to be a problem-solver in unusual cases where others feared to tread. Ridgway was
characterized as genial and humorous, with a fund of anecdotes. He was simple in manner and habit, no
self-advertiser, and yet with a strong sense of propriety. He had friends in all walks of life, and he had
great affection for them. When John came on the scene at EIm, the Parthenon-like Ridgway Library on
South Broad Street in Philadelphia had recently been completed and named for Phoebe Ridgway Rush,
first cousin of John's father. Phoebe Ridgway, daughter one of Philadelphia’s richest merchants Jacob
Ridgway, was the daughter-in-law of Benjamin Rush, the surgeon-general to George Washington.

There is no doubt that Ridgway came to his town-building task with Richards’ baggage. The
name of our important Narberth Avenue appears out of alphabetical order exactly as the main street,
Atco Avenue, does in Richards’ town plan for Atco — it is almost as if the new name Narberth were
being groomed, even then (in 1888), to become our town name. In the Richards’ family tradition of
town building, the founder never gave his own surname to a town or street, though he might use names

otherwise linked with him. One Atco street is named Bartram, for example.

197 Undated Legal Intelligencer article at Ridgway’s death, Library Company of Philadelphia, Clippings, brief handwritten
autobiography and his family history on deposit since 1991; J. J. Ridgway often used the tag “Jr.” to distinguish himself from
his very rich cousin of the same name then living lavishly in Paris.
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This is right on track for Ridgway’s Anglophile approach as there is a very old mansion,
“Ridgway,” located about three miles west of the town of Narberth in Wales. The National Library of
Walestos told me it is unaware of any connection between a family of Ridgways and that mansion. It
was already owned by the Fawley or Foley family in 1692, and connected with them until the 1880s, or
later.

Probably the existence of the well-known “Ridgway” mansion at Narberth in Wales would alone
have been sufficient for John Ridgway to have introduced the Narberth name here even if his family had
no connection with the Fawleys or their mansion. By Richards’ standards, this would have been an
acceptable approach, and Ridgway would have known this.

It cannot have escaped the attention of John J. Ridgway that his banker father had been a long-
time close business associate of Samuel Richards’ uncle, Benjamin W. Richards, a Philadelphia mayor
and acquaintance of Alexis de Tocqueville.1* The latter and Thomas R. Ridgway (John J.’s father) were
both founders of Girard Trust Bank. Also B. W. Richards was its first president and T. R. Ridgway its
second president. If Samuel Richards and John Ridgway saw each other at the funeral of Ridgway’s
father in March 1887, or at any other time that year at the Rittenhouse Club to which both belonged,
Richards could have told him about the large farming tract at EIm, ripe for development as a town.

And for the grandnephew of millionaire merchant Jacob Ridgway to have appeared like a knight
on a white charger at EIm to buy back much of the original Price plantation — this suggests some careful
planning — very likely on the part of Sam Richards and his son W. Bartram Richards, to bring about this
arrangement. Surely Price was kept informed that such a customer was coming forward to buy that
property — the uncertain fate of which must have cost Price plenty of heartache previously. Both the
Richards and Ridgway families had early New Jersey Quaker roots. And Bartram Richards, who was
close to Ridgway’s age, would have known precisely how to enlist the latter’s aid in helping to create
Price’s town. Not only did Ridgway’s new investment firm get involved, but also Ridgway and his wife
Elizabeth Fry personally bought a couple of properties here, building a house on one of them.

Richards may even have had some part in suggesting a new name be chosen for the street he
lived on or for the town itself. After all, Samuel Richards, whose Richards family lived on its Valley

Forge farm during our Revolution’s frigid Valley Forge winter and was also kin of George Washington,

198 For p. 28, Ch. 2.

199 As it’s believed de Tocqueville, while in Philadelphia, had the encouragement of Mayor Richards to travel around as a passenger in the early Baldwin Locomotive trains, this could explain

why both Vauclain and Belfield came to live at Elm as Sam Richards’ neighbor.
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was still the driving force behind the Camden, Ventnor and Atlantic Land Company. In that capacity he
had brushed aside an existing place name (Abseekum Island) when, in 1853, he brought more than a
thousand acres of beachfront. The cost was one dollar per acre and he proposed to name it “Atlantic
City” because, he said, this had a national appeal and there was “much in a name.” It would be hard to
imagine that Richards did not have something to say on the subject of a catchy name, or a town needing
to be built.

With or without such help from Elm’s leading citizen, Ridgway chose lasting road names and
sold fifty-seven lots but built no houses on them. Saleszoo were brisk and houses started cropping up like
mushrooms on the lots sold. First customer was engineer George Bowers of Philadelphia who
constructed a citified mansard-roof brick house on Narberth and Haverford Avenue’s northwest corner
lot. First house completed on Ridgway’s tract was for Otis Brothers elevator company president Alfred
Q. Lowry at 206 Forrest, still standing. Another early arrival was German-born cabinet maker Fred
Bender who undoubtedly hand built his own wooden house, still standing at 217 Forrest, assisted by his
two woodcarver sons.20t The architect Oscar Frotscher likewise lost no time putting up on speculation a
Queen Anne Revival house at 115 lona, which got him more work in 1889 and 1890 nearby. For wood
engraver David J. Hunter, Frotscher did 109 lona, giving its facade crisply incised exterior
ornamentation in the woodwork that would have pleased his client. Both 109 and 115 lona survive.
Gone now is the largest local house Frotscher designed — an imposing abode with a setback at the
northeast corner lona and Haverford Avenues for drug and chemical firm executive Sylvester J. Baker
who was the business partner of (and mentor to) distinguished American pictorial photographer John G.
Bullock, a founding member of the Photo-Secession group headed by Alfred Stieglitz. Baker was a
founder of the Philadelphia College of Pharmacy. Civic-minded Rebecca Elkinton Bacon’s large stone
house at 106 Iona (1888) probably was designed by the Quaker widow’s architect nephew and heir, Paul
P. Elkinton.

Narberth Park

The spirit and self-confidence of the prosperous merchant class of that era is vividly reflected in
the activity of its novice real estate developer chosen by Ridgway, S. Almira Vance, born Sara Almira

Chandler, who was the childless widow of a Philadelphia builders’-hardware manufacturer, importer and

200 Family Empire.... Pages 227-8.
201 Bender’s dwelling has elaborate interior floralwork carvings, particularly daffodil paneling in high relief.
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dealer made rich by the post-Civil War building boom, and whose cargo ships plied the seven seas.
Facing a challenge, Almira gamely launched from her Girard Avenue home a successful venture capital
scheme here in December 1888 at the age of sixty-six.

Just after inheriting a life interest in her husband’s large estate, Mrs. Vance bought Ridgway’s
Real Estate Investment Company tract, and thus became our town’s largest developer. She may have
been seeking a rapid return on her investment that would parlay her “life interest” into independent
ownership of her own earnings, or else just relished the challenge. Some seventeen lot sales were being
negotiated when S. Almira Vance took over the tract for $46,500 subject to mortgages of $40,000. Her
lawyer at the time, and for settling her husband’s estate, was the young J. Alexander Simpson, Jr., later
an associate justice of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania, and regarded as America’s most prominent
Methodist layman.

Young Simpson supported Mrs. Vance’s efforts here for many years, and initially he had her
architect Angus Wade design a law office here for him on Forrest Avenue, which apparently made
Simpson the first lawyer to hang his shingle here in the town. His parents, married brother and two
married sisters soon became prominent residents at EIm, though none ever lived on the Vance tract,
instead residing in other new houses immediately north and south of it.

Certainly J. A. Simpson Jr. and Sr. strengthened their Progressive Era credentials by their close
association with John Ridgway — both in their working life as Philadelphia lawyers (both had served in
the sheriff’s office before Ridgway ran it, which gave them something in common with him), but also
more personally by pitching in to help Ridgway when he needed it with his community-building project
at EIm. Ridgway had the satisfaction of seeing the Simpsons follow through on their contribution to
Elm far beyond his — or anyone else’s — expectation.

During the early days of Vance stewardship, her project as a whole received the name “Narberth
Park” on a plan of lots drawn up by civil engineer Edward H. Roberts, and later amended by Horace H.
Sayre. The Narberth Park name appears on her first deed of sale, made to William Stanton Macomb in
January 1889 (Deed Book 331, page 240). Ridgway who, with his wife Elizabeth Fry, retained small
holdings here until 1892, probably proposed the name Narberth Park to Mrs. Vance. This seems very
likely because that name was an immediate step Mrs. VVance took after buying her land, presumably
before she became familiar with the area. In any event, that designation was crucial and, for Ridgway,
may have represented the second milestone (after his naming Narberth Avenue) in a strategy to have

Narberth chosen as town name.
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“Crystal Lake” is another label that has a Ridgway ring to it. Surely Ridgway would never have
overlooked a body of water on his land. Just as Almira Vance’s preference for pert pansy flowers led to
her wearing a gold and diamond pansy brooch and matching earrings, so Ridgway may have cottoned to
gleaming crystal as an image suggesting Byron (“How the lit lake shines a phosphoric sea...”). Besides,
cheerfulness was a quality which appealed to many Victorians, and the Crystal Lake name certainly put
a cheerful face on a problem (a swamp) that would vex local developers for nearly two decades.

Probably there is not a Narberthian alive who remembers Crystal Lake’s name. Yet the location
of the bed of a lake so-named is described in two deeds.202 As described, its position was within a
rectangle roughly 700 ft. x 230 ft. extending lengthwise from Haverford Avenue north along Indian
Creek. By 1895, Crystal Lake had been piped underground, but a smaller south-side lake still existed.
This lends credence to an oral traditionzos stating that Indians gave the name Swan Lake to a body of
water they frequented extending from today’s Narberth Playground, to ElImwood Avenue on the south
side. Of course, William Penn mentioned seeing numerous white swans in his new colony, and the
Indian name Karakung (Cobbs Creek, of which our Indian Creek is a tributary), means “place of wild
geese.”

Almira Vance’s banker was William M. Singerly, president of Chestnut Street Trust Company,
publisher of the metropolitan daily newspaper Philadelphia Record and lately the founding president of
the American Newspaper Publishers Association. He and other bankers aided her early phase of local
development as mortgage lenders. Also a written agreement stipulated that Singerly would handle
promotion of Mrs. Vance’s tract at certain specified times. By this time, the seventy-two-acre Whitpain
Township farm (Normandy Farms) in Montgomery County that Singerly had purchased from Almira
and her husband in 1873, he had enlarged, turning it into a stock-farm showplace for pure bred cattle.
Also, he would have had plenty of uses for builder’s hardware supplied by James M. Vance, as Singerly
had been developing in 1886 a large tract of well-designed houses in North Philadelphia.ze+ Almira, then
entering a man’s field, must have found his advice useful for she was possibly 125 years ahead of her
time, considering that some of the best advice available today, offering courses and seminars on the

subject, [is that] “Women entrepreneurs should have a great relationship with their banker first — before

202 Deed Book 371, page 331, of 1892; Deed Book 398, page 481, of 1894.

203 Related to me by Anne Berry.

204 \West of Broad Street, designed by a gifted architect, Willis G. Hale, whose housing developments in that new dilapidated
area have been recognized in recent years as being of National Register caliber.
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they become a business owner.”20s He and other bankers aided this early phase of local development as
mortgage-lenders. Also, a written agreement stipulated that Singerly handle promotion of Mrs. Vance’s
tract at certain specified times.206

Of undoubted significance both for the discussion that led to the excellent choice of an architect
for Elm’s Vance tract and its rapid development was the fact that Singerly and John J. Ridgway were
virtually next-door neighbors. Their upscale Philadelphia townhouses faced each other across narrow
Locust Street just a couple of doors below Rittenhouse Square. Singerlyz0” moreover had owned tracts
of land near those of millionaire Jacob Ridgway (John’s uncle) in North Philadelphia, and surely
introduced John Ridgway both to Almira Vance and to the man who became architect of her EIm tract,
Angus W. Wade.20¢ The year that Willis G. Hale was designing Singerly’s North Philadelphia housing
operation, Wade was working in Hale’s office, and the two architects shared a compatible outlook on
design. Their feisty approach has a considerable burr of personality that at its best merits favorable
comparison with the widely acclaimed architecture of Philadelphia’s Frank Furness active at the same
period. Hale designed a public-school building for Narberth in 1904.

Angus S. Wade came aboard the Narberth Park project in 1888 soon after entering independent
practice upon leaving Hale’s employ, and he continued designing houses on this tract for at least four
years. Almira’s agent in land sales for her Narberth Park development was William R. Bethell, husband
of her younger sister Emily Chandler. The couple’s youthful son, lawyer-to-be J. Uhle Bethell, already
owned land at Elm.z209

The thorn in the rose for Almira was that she and J. Uhle Bethell were co-executors of her
husband’s estate, and although Bethell had charge of seeing to it that she got what inheritance was
coming to her, he fell short of fulfilling that task. Almira was left holding worthless promissory notes.
Her apparent answer to this was her permanent departure for New Rochelle, New York out of her

nephew’s orbit. Meanwhile, before that happened, builder Warner Davis of Woodbury, New Jersey

25 S0 says Geri Swift, president of the Women’s Business Development Center and the Women’s Business Enterprise
Council of Pennsylvania, Delaware and Southern New Jersey, in September 2015.

206 One eye-catching piece of coverage in Singerly’s metropolitan daily Philadelphia Record was a bird’s eye-view rendering
of Mrs. Vance’s fast-growing development.

207 An example of Singerly’s interest in architecture of high-quality design on the Vance tract would be 204 Forrest Avenue
by architect Angus Wade, sold in 1891 to Philadelphia coal merchant Samuel P. Rothermel, showing a strong expression of a
style that Wade would later use with modifications adapted to narrow lots at 119 and 125 Windsor.

208 Ridgway may have met Wade at Philadelphia’s popular Art Club, to which both belonged.

209 Eventual site of the Church of St. Margaret and rectory. At the time, this was one of the tract’s more desirable locations
because it was opposite the residence of federal attorney William von A. Williamson and almost next door to Sam and
Elizabeth Richards — a purchase made from Ridgway, and probably steered by J. Alexander Simpson, Jr.
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became associated with the Bethells on the Narberth Park development project. That trio, as Bethell,
Davis and Bethell (with Emily succeeding her soon deceased husband), began erecting eye-catching
Queen Anne Revival houses for Almira’s customers and also speculative houses on lots they themselves
occasionally bought from her, and using Wade’s designs.

These varied houses were stone at the first-floor level and usually fish-scale shingles above with
slate roofs, many times patterned slate and patterned siding. Home buyers by this time included
business executives Charles E. Kreamer at 114 Forrest; William R. Wright, 100 Grayling; William H.
Fussell, 213 Narberth; George W. Yardley, 200 Narberth; Charles S. Reber of Reading, 114 and 116
Essex; patent attorney Thomas J. Bewley, 104 Grayling; and Major Jeremian W. Fritz, celebrated
commander of a Civil War Battalion of the Union army, 201 Essex. Fritz’s, an expansive corner-type
house which was a close variation on the Dubosg and DeMayo houses here, had a thick round turret as
its prominent feature. Its architect (Wade) made the most effective use of turreting in the town. This
abode with its rambling porches was by 1909 enlarged as Miss Posey’s boarding house, which for many
years catered to a summer clientele. Later it became the sixty-four room Windsor-Essex Hotel until
auctioned in 1934. Thereafter it flourished as Windsor-Essex Inn, a cozy informal residential hotel and
semi-public dining room — a place with considerable individuality and small-town flavor. A twenty-
three-unit box-like apartment, Essex Manor, replaced it in 1962.

The project was sailing along at full tilt when, on November 13, 1890, the Philadelphia Public
Ledger reported that “Davis and Bethell have put up and sold twenty-seven dwellingszio on the north
side of the railroad, and at this time are completing an average of one a month.” Home-buyers by then
included two houses (114 Dudley sold to Fannie E. Eberman, and 202 Forrest sold to merchant Samuel
F. Rothermel) showing a strong expression of a style they later used with modifications adapted to
narrow lots (119 and 125 Windsor). The style of 207 Forrest appears to be unique among their designs.
It may have been a sample house before George W. Lame bought it. Another of their speculative
dwellings is 201 Forrest, sold to commission broker Frederick H. Harjes whose son, “Junior,” became a
wool importer and owned a fifty-three-acre Valley Forge farm acquired by the Freedoms Foundation as
its headquarters in 1949. Lithographer August H. Mueller acquired a Davis and Bethell house at the

southeast corner Windsor and Forrest where Edward ap Rees’ 1690 stone house had stood. (Price’s

210 Whether the architect Angus Wade designed every house built here by Davis S. Bethell is unknown. Certainly he
designed 119, 121, 123 and 125 Windsor; 101 Grayling; 115 Dudley; 201 Essex; and 202 and 207 Forrest and probably many
more of that builder’s dozens of Narberth houses.
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small early stone barn was at 201 Forrest and the large whitewashed eighteenth-century Price stone
house at the southeast corner Narberth and Windsor Avenues, with an access road to Haverford
Avenue).

Davis and Bethell sold a handsomely situated, turreted corner house by Angus Wade at 115
Dudley to Francis P. Dubosq of the jewelers’ family (sewing-silk manufacturer Charles A. Bohem later
lived there). Those same developers also sold a nearly identical model to Louis A. DeMayo at 101
Grayling that survives, as does their proud speculative row of four single Wade dwellings with turreted
dormers and turreted balconies at 119, 121, 123 and 125 Windsor. This showpiece quartet of homes,
together with the Dubosq house (while it lasted, directly opposite them on its generous setback) served
as a movie set for a Hollywood film of the late 1940s about suffragettes, and for other filmmakers.

Apart from Major Fritz’s Dubosg-style house at 201 Essex that had expanded to become
Windsor-Essex Inn, the largest “Narberth Park” dwelling was a summer residence constructed for
Margaret T. Fuller, wife of drover Alfred M. Fuller, on the tract’s most scenic woodland site at North
Wynnewood Avenue. The whole community was welcome to ice-skate for decades starting c. 1915 on
the lake James Artman established on the grounds of that house, “Wynlyn,” while he owned it.211 A
Chilton Publishing Company founder, Artman, who had maids and a butler there, lent that same house
to the Shakespearean acting team of Sothern & Marlowe (E. H. Sothern and Julia Marlowe) for summers
and whenever they were appearing on stage in Philadelphia, which was fairly often, up until their 1924
retirement. Julia Marlow from England’s Lake District, found the setting congenial, while E. H. Sothern
always found a ready audience here, in a city where his American actor father still had a devoted
following. During Sothern & Marlow’s American tours, their servant invariably preceded them to the
next stop to prepare for their arrival. And the privacy of the couple was always respected by Narberth
neighbors. Julia’s fame as an actress had reached its height around 1899 and 1901. With her husband
and co-star, Marlowe did much to visualize and interpret Shakespearean characters, and to increase the
popularity of classic drama in her day. Julia in 1901 had a country place at Highmont, New York. By
the 1930s, Artman’s house, renamed Lakeview apartment, rented large airy rooms to clubman and
millionaire Clarence Dolan of Narbrook Park for his special parties when he arranged for showgirls to
be brought in from New York by train and taxi to entertain his guests. That house and its lake were

replaced by Narwyn Lane housing subdivision c. 1960, but not before the borough manager received an

211 Editor’s note: more discussion about this property and James Artman follows in Chapter 3.
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irate phone call from a Windsor Avenue resident one day demanding that he “do something about the
frogs.” Bullfrogs212 can be especially noisy and are heard more than a block away.

Interestingly, two persons with strong patriotic ties were early arrivals in the Ridgway/Vance
tract. Major Fritz the Civil War veteran and Samuel H. Rothermel lived in new houses back-to-back at
main intersections. Sam was a cousin of the celebrated history painter Peter Frederick Rothermel of
Linfield, Montgomery County, who had been America’s most popular artist throughout the third quarter
of the nineteenth century. Samuel and Peter were both prominent members of the Union League of
Philadelphia. At Elm, Samuel collected his cousin’s idealized history paintings filled with details that
elevate the hero, inculcate patriotism and please the eye. And the Rothermel family retained ownership
of its Narberth house for twenty-nine years. Names like Rothermel and Major Fritz were, for many at
that time, still infused with the national romance of America as God’s nation in the wilderness, a new
Eden. How persuasive a little name-dropping therefore would be for prospective home buyers at Mrs.
Vance’s tract.

Indeed, it is quite possible that both Rothermel and Fritz were persuaded to settle here as a result
of specific targeting by promotional efforts to attract the “right” people to establish this suburb. Edward
Price hated leaving such matters to chance: would his followers — especially team players like John J.
Ridgway (himself a Civil War vet) — have acted any differently?

By this time, railroad brakemen and conductors had taken to brightly announcing the rail station
name by calling out “El-Im.” However, local residents waxed more sarcastic, nicknaming the place after
a popular chewing-tobacco. Accustomed to maneuvering around many mud puddles at the station, they
started calling it “Slippery Elm.”

A serious EIm Station train accident2:3 also occurred around this time as dozens of persons were
crossing the tracks to board an excursion train to the seashore, when a fast-moving train rounding the
bend plowed into them. Some residents believe the tragedy hastened the choice of a new name for the
town, which came soon after.

That Ridgway became the moving force in this town-building project, and continued to be able

to inspire others to follow his enthusiastic lead, even after 1892 when he sold the last small piece of his

212 Editor’s note: or toads.

213 Willman Spawn, distinguished bibliophile from the American Philosophical Society and Bryn Mawr College library,
several interviews in the 1990s discussing this, and the experience of the tragic event by his close kin, Mr. and Mrs. Charles
E. Kreamer, when her physician was among those quickly sent from the city to treat devastating injuries of the crowd struck
by the train at EIm Station.
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formerly large land holdings here, can best be understood by comparing Vance’s improvement group
with two other neighborhood improvement associations that existed in the immediate area around the
same time — each serving a housing development that eventually formed part of the town of Narberth.
One of these (Belmar) was a spin-off of the Vance tract; the other was totally independent. When Mrs.
Vance took over her tract in December 1888, Ridgway had already laid out housing lots and was selling
to people who were building on them. So, people from that group of residents and from her residents
launched the Narberth Park Association in October 1889. By then, the inexperienced Mrs. Vance was
transforming herself into a full-fledged, full-service developer by hiring a gifted architect (probably on
the advice of Singerly) and putting together her own construction crew for a sizeable group of mostly
round-towered Queen Anne Revival houses to be built. Not until her first big crop of sales of those
striking new houses in 1890 gave Narberth Park Association a much-needed membership boost did the
organization come into its own as the most dynamic, venturesome and independence-minded of the
three voluntary groups. Typically, its members had come of age after the Civil War. Of course,
construction at her Narberth Park tract entered a quieter phase after Mrs. Vance moved to New York and
transferred administration of her tract in June 1892 to her physician brother there. The panic of 1893
exacted its toll, spelling trouble for a number of banks including Singerly’s Chestnut Street Trust
Company.

Another developer, Goodman & Clothier, then bought the Vance holdings (150 lots) and revived
work on the project in December 1894. That must have boosted hopes of residents anxiously awaiting
the court’s decision on borough status for Narberth. The partnership was led by two Clothier cousins
well connected financially and politically, if inexperienced. Did Ridgway have a finger in their arrival
on the scene as well?

An obvious drawing card in their enterprise was the active participation of young Albert E. C.
Clothier who “knew the ropes” in the sense that he was the son of the business partner of Edwin Fitler, a
millionaire rope manufacturer who had been mayor of Philadelphia a couple of years before and a
“favorite son” nominee for president in ‘88. Of a family predating the department store [Strawbridge &]
Clothiers in Philadelphia and very distant kin of theirs, the Clothiers were a very old Quaker family with
New Jersey roots. Albert and John B. Clothier lived next door to the Widener Mansion (Willis G. Hale,
architect) while it was being built in North Philadelphia at Broad Street and Girard Avenue. That
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experience of witnessing construction of the most lavish private home ever built2:+ in Philadelphia came
during a period of extensive urban growth and could have been a decisive factor in the Clothiers’ whole-
hearted, enthusiastic entry into Narberth real estate development. They joined forces with local builder
George O. Goodman,21s all three living here in the midst of houses they were building, as developer
Charles W. Macfarlane had been doing on the south side.

Predominant among the varied styles of Goodman and Clothier houses were buildings with a
medieval character having lots of roof (often steeply sloping from third story to first) and upper stories
that jut out over the ones below. Large houses of this type stood immediately south of the present post
office at Narberth and Windsor avenues, Albert E. C. Clothier’s home, for example. Some others,
smaller, are still standing on Grayling Avenue above and below Windsor, including John B. Clothier’s
home at 200 Grayling. Other buildings of theirs include a house with country-Georgian details that now
forms part of the fagade of Mapes’s (formerly Davis’s) Store landmark on Haverford Avenue, all the
homes on the one hundred-block of Conway Avenue, several in the one hundred-block of Dudley, a
puzzling (stylistically) mansard-roof house at 111 lona, and a Queen Anne Revival house at 212 Forrest

Avenue for attorney Alfred H. Faber.216

Narberth Grove

South of the Thomas tract was more acreage that would one day be incorporated into the
borough. This land had belonged to the plantation of Dr. Edward Jones (son-in-law of William Penn’s
physician, Dr. Thomas Wynne) who spoke about the Indians leaving venison at his door “for six pence
ye quarter.” That land passed in turn to Dr. Jones’s son Jonathan Jones, Anthony Tunis the innkeeper,
his son Joseph Tunis, John Dickinson (eminent scholar of the 